
 

 

 

 

 

 

April 30, 2024 

 

Corporate Relationship Department, 

BSE Limited 

Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers 

Dalal Street, Mumbai 400 001 

Listing Department, 

National Stock Exchange of India Limited 

Exchange Plaza, C-1 Block G 

Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (E), Mumbai 400 051 

 

Dear Sir / Madam, 

 

Re.:  Scrip Code : 540526; Symbol : IRBINVIT 

 

Sub.: Outcome of the Meeting of the Board of Directors of Investment Manager held on April 

30, 2024 

 

Please note that the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager of IRB InvIT Fund (“the Trust”) 

at its meeting held on Tuesday, April 30, 2024 has: 

 

1. Approved Audited Consolidated & Standalone Financial information of the Trust for the quarter 

& year ended March 31, 2024. The Financial Information along with Audit reports issued by 

Statutory Auditors of the Trust are enclosed herewith. 

 

Please refer website www.irbinvit.co.in for a copy of Corporate Presentation under Investor 

Relation Section of the website of the Trust. 

              

2. Declared 4th Distribution of Rs. 2.00 /- per Unit, for the financial year 2023-24. The distribution 

will be paid as Rs. 1.70 /- per Unit as Interest, subject to applicable taxes, if any and Re. 0.30 /- 

per unit as exempt dividend. 

 

Please note that May 7, 2024 has been fixed as the Record Date for the purpose of Payment of 

this Distribution and it will be paid / dispatched to the eligible Unitholders on or before May 14, 

2024. 

 

3. Pursuant to Regulation 10 of SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulation, 2014  read 

along with SEBI Master Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, 

the Net Asset Value of the units of IRB InvIT Fund as on March 31, 2024 is Rs. 98.32/- per unit 

and same also forms part of audited financial information. 

 

 

 

http://www.irbinvit.co.in/


  

 

 

 

We further wish to inform that there is no erosion in the net worth of IRB Infrastructure Private 

Limited - the Investment Manager to trust, as per the financial statements for the period ended on 

March 31, 2024 as compared to the financial statements for the period ended on March 31, 2023. 

 

The meeting commenced at 11:30 a.m. and concluded at 3.30 pm.  

 

You are requested to take note of the same. 

 

For IRB Infrastructure Private Limited  

(Investment Manager to IRB InvIT Fund) 

 

 

 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

 

Encl.: As above 



Independent Auditors' Report on the Half yearly and Year to Date Consolidated Financial 
Results of the Fund Pursuant to Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended 

To, 
The Board of Directors 
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB lnvlT Fund) 
IRB Complex, Chandivali Farm, 
Chandivali Village, 
Andheri (East), 
Mumbai 400 072, India. 

Report on the audit of the Consolidated Financial Results 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying Statement of consolidated financial results of IRB lnvlT Fund 
(hereinafter referred to as "the Fund") and its subsidiaries (the Fund and its subsidiaries together 
referred to as "the Group"), consisting of the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss including 
Other Comprehensive Income, explanatory notes thereto and the additional disclosures as 
required in Chapter 4 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India ("SEBI") Circular No. 
SEBI/HO/DDI-IS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as amended including any 
guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Circular") for the half year and for the year ended 
March 31, 2024 ('the Statement'), attached herewith, being submitted by the Fund pursuant to the 
requirements of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, 
as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the Statement: 

a. includes the results of the following entities: 

i. 
ii. 
iii. 

Holding Entity: 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

Subsidiary Entities: 
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited 
IDAA Infrastructure Limited 
IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited 



iv. IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited 
v. M.V.R. Infrastructure and Tollways Limited 
vi, IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited 
vii. IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited 
viii. VK1 Expressway Limited (Formerly known as VK1 Expressway Private Limited) 

(w.e.f October 13, 2022) 

b. are presented in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 23 of SEBI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, read with SEBI 
Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDI-IS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as 
amended including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder in this regard; 
and 

c. gives a true and fair view in conformity with the applicable accounting standards, 
and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated net 
profit and total comprehensive income and other financial information of the Group 
for the half year and for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs), issued by Institute of 
chartered Accountants of India. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described 
in the 'Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Results' section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 'Code of Ethics' issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the consolidated financial results under the provisions of the lnvlT Regulations, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance these requirements and the Code 
of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Management's Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Results 

The Statement has been prepared on the basis of the consolidated annual financial statements. 
Management of the Investment Manager ('the Management') is responsible for the preparation 
and presentation of the Statement that gives a true and fair view of the consolidated net profit and 
total comprehensive income and other financial information of the Group in accordance with the 
requirements of the lnvlT regulations; Indian Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of 
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended) and other accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with lnvlT Regulations. The 
respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for 
maintenance of adequate accounting records for safeguarding of the assets of the Group and for 
preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate 
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the 
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate controls, that were operating effectively for 
ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation 
and presentation of the Statement that give a true and fair view and are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation 
of the Statement by the Management, as aforesaid. 
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In preparing the Statement, the management and the respective Board of Directors of the 
companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the respective Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Management and the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group 
are also responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Results 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the Statement. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the management's use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related 
disclosures in the Statement or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 



• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the Statement, including 
the disclosures, and whether the Statement represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. For companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors 
remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried 
out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance of the lnvlT and such other entities 
included in the Statement of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Other Matter 

1. We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information of 8 subsidiaries 
(mentioned in paragraph (3)(a)(ii) to (viii) above), whose financial statements reflect the 
total revenues (before eliminating intra-group transactions) of Rs. 58,063.28 Lakhs and 
Rs. 1,14,851.63 Lakhs, total net Loss after tax of Rs. 1,343.27 Lakhs and Rs. 9,980.80 
Lakhs and total comprehensive loss of Rs. 1,350.06 Lakhs and Rs. 9,985.12 Lakhs for the 
half year ended March 31, 2024 and for the year ended March 31, 2024, respectively. 
These financial statements and other financial information have been audited by the other 
auditors and whose reports have been furnished to us by the management and our opinion 
on the consolidated financial results in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures 
included in respect of these subsidiaries and our reports in terms of I nvlT regulations, in 
so far it as relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based solely on the reports of the other 
auditors. 

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial results is not modified in respect of the 
above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of the other 
auditors. 

2. The Statement includes the consolidated financial results for the half year ended March 
31, 2024 being the balancing figures between the audited figures in respect of the full 
financial year ended March 31, 2024 and the published unaudited year-to-date figures up 
to September 30, 2023, being the date of the end of the first half of the current financial 
year, which were subject to limited review as required under Regulation 23 of the SEBI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time read 
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with SEBI Circular SEBI/HO/DDI-IS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as 
amended including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder. 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg. No.121750W/W100010 ~ 
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,;;';{ Chorlered ";;:;l 
Rame ,\'~}\ Accountants .. :2h 

\\.-;,\ /,-.._ 11 
Partner \~o>;--._ ........ /* ~_:;, 

. ~.:tr1u,,,.mm,,,,,,4,.,, 
Membership No.: 102306 "'-:::~ 
Place: Mumbai 
UDIN 24-102.~\)l:,l?,kCG-JftO 2,{,3\ 
Dated: 30 April 2024 



Registered Office: IRB Complex, Chondivoli 
form, Chondivoli Village, Andheri (E}, 
Mumbai - 400 072, Mohoroshtro, India. 
Tel: 022 6640 4299; Fax: 022 6640 4274; 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

E-mail: info@irbinvit.co.in; Website: www.irbinvit.co.in 
SESI Registration Number: JN/lnv/T/1 SM 16/0001; 

{An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

IDs in lakbs unless otherwise stated) ,. 
Audited Consolidated Financial results for the half year and year ended March 31, 2024 

Six Month 
Six Month 

ended 
Sr. ended March 

September 30, 
No. Particulars • 31, 2024 

2023 
(Audited· (Unaudited) 

Refer note 3(i)) 

I. Incomes and gains 
Revenue from operations 54,369.00 51,839.21 
/Refer note 8) 

Interest 1,024.86 225.08 

Profit on sale of 321.81 500.35 
investments/assets 
Other income * 228.69 81.37 

Total Income and gains 55,944.36 52,646.01 

II. Expenses and losses 
Operation expenses 2,662.06 3,064.39 
(Refer note 8) 
Project management fees ** 4,183.37 3,647.63 
(refer note c) 

Valuation expenses 9.11 9.12 

Annual Listing Fees 41.11 41.11 

Trustee Fees 14.75 14.75 

Audit fees 21.98 21.33 

Insurance & security 70.71 72.48 
cxoenses 
Employee benefits expenses 813.01 834.09 

Investment management 590.00 590.00 
fees ( refer note b) 

Depreciation on property, 0.20 0.21 
plant and equipment 

Amortisation of intangible 11,689.18 11,262.43 
assets 
Finance costs (Interest) 13,033.65 13,018.59 

Finance costs (Others) 591.38 576.40 

Legal and professional fees 667.96 172.85 

Other expenses *** 2,412.13 31.69 

Total Expenses and losses 36,800.60 33,357.07 

111. 
Profit for the period/ year 19,143.76 19,288.94 
before income tax (D - 01) 

IV. 
Tax expenses ( current tax 743.76 379.68 
and deferred tax )/reversal 
Profit for the period / year 

v. after income tax (III) - 18,400.00 18,909.26 
(IV) 

VI. 
Items of Other (5.99) 2.45 
Comorehensive Income 

Vil. 
Total Comprehensive 18,394.01 18,911.71 
Income IV)+ /VI) 

* Other income includes fair value gain and other non-operating income. 
** Project management fees do not include major maintenance of R 
Rs.l,076.75 lakhs and Rs. 1,684.00 lakhs incurred during the s 
six months ended March 2023, year endC9,-_'.Jv1_arch;-iQ24 and 
major maintenance was made in earlier~(~!~\,\ 1_: :-~\; __ :-./\. 

Year ended Year ended 
Six Month ended 
March 31, 2023 

March 31, March 31, 
2024 2023 

(Audited - Refer (Audited) (Audited) 
note 3(ii)) 

52,795.73 I ,06,208.21 1,44, 172.49 

59.19 1,249.94 82.56 

607.72 822.16 897.36 

630.14 310.06 1,030.49 

54,092.78 1,08,590.37 1,46,182.90 

7,470.63 5,726.45 52,499.22 

3,594.12 7,831.00 6,812.12 

9.12 18.23 21.15 

39.54 82.22 79.29 

14.75 29.50 29.50 

16.36 43.31 34.53 

74.14 143.19 96.42 

767.22 1,647.10 1,662.60 

590.00 1,180.00 1,180.00 

0.29 0.41 0.65 

9,526.29 22,951.61 26,131.95 

11,766.25 26,052.24 18,634.73 

324.49 1,167.78 623.31 

386.45 840.81 874.98 

58,11 2,443.82 108.59 

34,637.76 70,157.67 1,08,789.04 

19,455.02 38,432.70 37,393.86 

132.67 1,123.44 435.84 

19,322.35 37,309.26 36,958.02 

(25.1 I) (3.54) (29.39) 

19,297.24 37,305.72 36,928.63 

538.37 lakhs, Rs. 538.38 lakhs. Rs. 280.67 lakhs, 
arch 2024, six months ended September 2023, 

3, respectively for which the_ provision for 



I B 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An Irrevocable trust sol up under /he Indian Tru,;/s Act, 1882, and rogisterod as 
an Infrastructure inveslmenl ttust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

*** Other expenses include printing and stationery, Corporate Social Responsibility expenses, provision for impairment on 
receivables rent, rates and taxes, and other miscellaneous expenses. 

Notes to consolidated financial results: 

I. Investors can view the results of the !RB Inv!T Fund ('Fund' or 'Trust') on the Trust's website 
(www.irbinvit.co.in) or on the websites ofBSE (www.bseindia.com) or NSE (www.nseindia.com). 

2. The Audited Consolidated Financial Results comprises of the Consolidated Statement of profit and loss 
(including other comprehensive income), explanatory notes thereto and the additional disclosures as 
required in Chapter 4 of SEBI Master Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 
2023 as amended including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Circulars") of !RB 
lnv!T Fund ('Fund') for the half year and year ended March 31, 2024 ("Consolidated Financial Results") 
being submitted by the Fund pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circulars. 

3. (i) The half yearly Consolidated Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2024 are the derived 
figures between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2024 and the published year-Io­
date figures up to September 30, 2023, being the date of the end of the first half of the current financial 
year, which were subject to limited review. The consolidated financial results for the half year ended 
March 31, 2024 and year ended March 3 I, 2024 have been prepared on the basis of the consolidated 
financial results for the half year ended September 30, 2023, the audited annual consolidated financial 
statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2024, and the relevant requirements of the SEBI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI 
Circulars. 

(ii) The half yearly consolidated financial results for the half year ended March 31, 2023 are the derived 
figures between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2023 and the published year-Io­
date figures up to September 30, 2022, being the date of the end of the first half of the previous financial 
year, which were subject to limited review. 

4. The Audited Consolidated Financial Results for the half year and year ended March 31, 2024 have been 
reviewed by the Audit Committee and thereafter approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment 
Manager at their meeting held on April 30, 2024. 

5. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have declared 4"' Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit 
which comprises of Rs. 1. 70 per unit as interest and Re. 0.30 per unit as dividend in their meeting held on 
April 30, 2024. 

Total distribution made by the Fund is Rs. 8.00 per unit (including 1st Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit, 2nd 

Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit and 3'' Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit) for the year ended March 31, 
2024. 

6. !RB Inv!T Fund was registered as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 on October 16, 
2015 and as an infrastructure investment trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 on March 14, 2016. Units of !RB Inv!T Fund have 
been listed on both the stock exchanges on May 18, 2017. 

7. Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2022, the Fund had acquired the subsidiary 
company viz. VK 1 Expressway Limited ('Project SPY'). Accordingly, for the previous year ended March 
31, 2023, the revenue and corresponding expenses in Project SPV has been included from October 13, 
2022 to March 31, 2023 in the Consolidated Financial Results. 

8. !RB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) being concessionaire, recognized revenue for the 
year ended March 31, 2023 aggregating to Rs. 42,319.58 lakhs as one-time income against which Rs. 
41,784.26 lakhs were considered as pass-through to the EPC contractor and recognised as operating 
expenses in th • •,;,,,,--.: the extension of 518 days based on favourable judicial award. The 



I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrevocabfo trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and roglslered as 
an infrosfructurc investment /rust with the Securities and Exe/range Board of India) 

extension in concession period of 518 days shall accrue to the benefit of JP A TRL and the Trust In July 
2023, since the Order of the Single Bench was set aside by the Division bench of Hon'ble High Court, 
IPATRL filed a special leave petition (SLP) before the Hon'ble Supreme Court which has been admitted. 
Based on the legal opinion, the. management believes that there is no material change in the financial 
position of the IPA TRL. It is pertinent to mention that the award amount is primarily a pass through to the 
EPC contractor and the net impact in respect to the Trust is only to the extent of extension in the 
Concession period. 

9. ISDTL and IDAATL has successfully completed Concession Period on May 25, 2022 and March 31, 
2022, respectively and handed over the Project Highway including Project Assets to National Highways 
Authority oflndia (NHAI) in terms of the Concession Agreement. 

Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 Of Chapter 4 to the Master Circular No. 
SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 as amended including any Guidelines and 
Circulars issued thereunder ( 11 SEBI Circularsn): 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Notes: 

a. Net Distributable Cash Flows for the half year ended March 31, 2024 

(i) IRB InvlT Fund (Fund) 

Cash flows received from Project 
SPVs in the fonn of Interest (Refer 
note I &2 
Cash flows received from Project 
SPV s in the fonn of Dividend 

Any other income accruing at the Trust 
level and not captured above, including 
but not limited to interest/return on 
surplus cash invested by the Trust 

Cash flows received from the project 
SPVs towards the repayment (Net) of 
the debt issued to the Project SPVs by 
the Trust (Refer note 3 & 4) 

Total cash inflow at the Trust level 
A 

Less: 

Any payment of fees, interest and 
expense incurred at the Trust level, 
including but not limited to the fees of 
the Investment Manager 

Income tax (if applicable) at the 
Standalone Trust Level 

Repayment of external debt 

Total cash outflows / retention at the 
Trust level (B) 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = 
(A+B) 

28,955.17 27,881.73 

3,600.00 

349.95 385.40 

2,789.27 6,225.65 

35,694.39 34,492.78 

(7,482.44) (7,542.39) 

(2,759.50) (2,761.58) 

(10,241.94) (10,303.97) 

25,452.45 24,188.81 

28,091.24 56,836.90 47,983.32 

3,600.00 

466.49 735.35 795.63 

4,482.00 9,014.92 18,893.37 

33,039.73 70,187.17 67,672.32 

(6,995.01) (15,024.83) (12,880.49) 

(2,7t2.50) (5,521.08) (5,425.00) 

(9,707.51) (20,545.91) (18,305.49) 

23,332.22 49,641.26 49,366.83 

1) During the previous year, the embargo on the Escrow bank account for ITCTL was uplifted as per the Interim order of the 

Hon'ble Arbitral Tribu ·.J,;!:~~~-1:!-'~!::~~ ithdrawals pertaining to past periods towards debt servicing of Rs. I I, 193.00 



I 
IRB lnviT Fund 

(An irrrwocabfc /rust set up undor the lnditln Trusts Act, 1882, and ragislerad as 
an infmstruc!Urn lnvas/ment lrusl with /he Securities and Exchange Bo;,rd of India) 

lakhs (net of Rs. 4,402.39 lakhs considered in earlier period) has not been considered in the above Net Distributable Cash 
Flow. The said accruals were utilized towards acquisition ofVKl project. 

2) Excludes interest due but not received of Rs. Nil, Rs. 1,946.75 lalms, Rs. Nil, Rs.1,895.35 lakhs and Rs. 3,539.11 lakhs for 
the six months ended March 31, 2024, six months ended September 30, 2023, six months ended March 31; 2023, year 
ended March 31, 2024 and year ended March 31, 2023, respectively. 

3) Netted - off with disbursement of long-term unsecured loan to project SPVs (Refer RPT disclosures of standalone financial 
results). 

4) The Trust has considered distribution of Rs. 30.00 lakhs received from SPY before finalization and adoption of accounts of 
the Inv!T. 

(ii) IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAA TL) 

Profit after tax as per Statement of 
profit and loss/income and 674.95 675.91 (2,618.06) 1,350.86 (2,575.66) 
ex enditure A 

Add: Depreciation and amortisation 
2 as per Statement of profit and 

loss/income and expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of non-
cash expense / non cash income 

3 (net of actual cash flows for these 
items), if deemed necessary by the 
Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 

5 
Add: Provision for Resurfacing 
Expenses (Net) 

6 Add: Non-cash (income) I expenses (675.55) (679.26) 2,623.86 (1,354.81) 2,623.86 

7 Less: NHAI Premium 

8 Less: Principal repayment 

9 Total Adjustments (B) (675.55) (679.26) 2,623.86 (1,354.81) 2,623.86 

IO 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) (0.60) (3.35) 5.80 (3.95) 48.20 
-(A+B) 

! 



(iii) !RB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) 

Profit after tax as per Statement 
of profit and loss/income and 1,836.24 (4,498.71) 
ex enditure A 
Add: Depreciation and 

2 
amortisation as per Statement 
of profit and loss/income and 
ex enditure 
Add/less: Any other item of 
non-cash expense / non cash 

3 
income (net of actual cash· 
flows for these· items), if 
deemed necessary by the 
Investment Mana er 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 

5 
Add: Provision for Resurfacing 
Expenses (Net) 

6 
Add: Non-cash (income)/ 
ex enses 

(1,816.46) 4,509.77 

7 Less: NHAI Premium 

8 Less: Principal repayment 

9 Total Adjustments (B) (1,816.46) 4,509.77 

10 
Net Distributable Cash Flows 

19.78 11.06 
(C)-(A+B) 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrovocab/e trust sot !JP under !he Indian T,usts Act, 1882, and rcg/ster!XI as 
an infrastructure lnvestm<!nf !rust with the Securities and EJ(.change Board of India) 

(988.73) (2,662.47) 290.31 

6,269.78 

1,192.21 2,693.31 395.05 

1,192.21 2,693.31 6,664.83 

203.48 30.84 6,955.14 



(iv) IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (IT ATL) 

Profit after tax as per Statement of 
profit and loss/income and (870.16) (1,276.96) 
ex enditure A 

Add: Depreciation and amortisation 
2 as per Statement of profit and 832.42 820.34 

loss/income and expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of non-
cash expense/ non-cash income (net 

3 of actual cash flows for these items), 
if deemed necessary by the 
Investment Mana er 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 3,339.27 3,340.93 

5 
Add: Provision for Resurfacing 448.44 448.44 
Expenses (Net) 

6 Add: Non-cash (income)/ expenses O.QJ 

7 Less: NHAI Premium 

8 Less: Principal repayment 

9 Total Adjustments (B) 4,620.14 4,609.71 

10 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) 3,749.98 3,332.75 
- A+B 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An imwocable trust set up under the lndi.in Trosls Act, 188t, and registered as 
an Infrastructure lnvestmenr trust wltl> the Securities and Exchange Board of Ind/a) 

(693.14) (2,147.12) (1,344.96) 

724.71 1,652.76 1,466.77 

3,081.88 6,680.20 6,069.64 

(95.78) 896.88 (1,272.84) 

1.11 o.oi 0.05 

3,711.92 9,229.85 6,263.62 

3,018.78 7,082.73 4,918.66 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

I 
!RB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrovocabla trust Sf!!/ up under Iha Indian Tru$i$ Act, 1882, and rogistered as 
an infraslructur1> inveslmcmt Uusl wllh /hi, Securities and Exchange Board of India} 

(v) M.V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Limited (MITL) 

Profit after tax as per Statement 
of profit and loss/income and 3,532.34 1,793.37 1,357.14 5,325.71 1,827.18 
expenditure {A) 

Add: Depreciation and 
amortisation as per Statement of 1,901.16 l,90J.16 1,713.85 3,802.32 3,439.52 
profit and loss/income and 
ex enditure 
Add/less: Any other item of non-
cash expense / non cash income 
(net of actual cash flows for 
these items), if deemed necessary 
b the Investment Mana er 

Add: Interest paid to the Fund 560.47 1,794.98 2,111.00 2,355.45 4,860.09 

Add: Provision for Resurfacing (466.33) (466.32) 611.25 (932.65) 830.52 
Expenses (Net) 

Add: Non-cash (income)/ 2.20 (37.50) 
ex enses 

Less: NHAI Premium 

Less: Principal repayment 

Total Adjustments (B) 1,995.30 3,229.82 4,438.30 5,225.12 9,092.63 

Net Distributable Cash Flows 5,527.64 5,023.19 5,795.44 10,550.83 10,919.81 
(C) -(A+B) 



(vi) !RB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) 

Profit after tax as per Statement of profit (2,297.04) 
and Joss/income and expenditure (A) 

Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per 
2 Statement of profit and loss/income and 1,319.51 

expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash 

3 
expense / non cash income (net of actual 
cash flows for these items), if deemed 
necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 7,775.86 

5 
Add: Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 1,757.10 
Net 

6 Add: Non-cash (income) I expenses 

7 Less: NHAI Premium 

8 Less: Principal repayment 

9 Total Adjustments (B) 10,852.47 

IO 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = 8,555.43 
A+B 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An lrrsvocabla lrusl sot up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and regislered as 
an infraslrucfure Investment trust witll lho Sccur/titls and E.:change Board of India) 

(3,172.26) (2,359.42) (5,469.30) (4,613.10) 

1,319.60 1,190.42 2,639.11 2,370.65 

6,985.00 6,247.26 14,760.86 12,540.45 

1,757.l l 1,501.80 3,514.2] 3,003.60 

987.80 464.28 987.80 622.64 

11,049.51 9,403.76 21,901.98 18,537.34 

7,877.25 7,044.34 16,432.68 13,924.24 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

I 
!RB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrevocab/o trust set up under the Indian Twsts Act, 1882, and rogisterod as 
a-n infrastructure Investment trust with /he Securities and Exc/1ange Board of India) 

(vii) !RB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATL) 

Profit after tax as per Statement 
of profit and loss/income and (7,816.72) (6,158.97) (4,617.52) ( I 3,975.69) (8,285.46) 
ex enditure A 
Add: Depreciation and 
amortisation as per Statement of 1,797.65 1,543.65 910.50 3,341.30 2,729.07 
profit and loss/income and 
ex enditure 
Add/less: Any other item of non-
cash expense / non cash income 
(net of actual cash flows for 
these items), if deemed necessary 
b the Investment Mana er 

Add: Interest paid to the Fund 9,519.17 7,935.01 6,989.09 17,454.18 13,942.30 

Add: Provision for Resurfacing 
831. 13 831.13 710.37 1,662.26 1,420.74 

Expenses (Net) 

Add: Non-cash (income)/ 1,653.95 1,952.03 
ex enses 

924.99 3,605.98 1,560.93 

Less: NHAI Premium 

Less: Principal repayment 

Total Adjustments (B) 13,801.90 12,261.82 9,534.95 26,063.72 19,653.04 

Net Distributable Cash Flows 
5,985.18 6,102.85 4,917.43 12,088.03 11,367.58 

C = A+B 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An iru,vo1:able trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 18B2, and rngist,m,d as 
an infrasrruclurn Investment trust with Iha Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

(viii) !RB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 

Profit after tax as per Statement 
of profit and loss/income and 
expenditure (A) 

Add: Depreciation and 
amortisation as per Statement of 
profit and loss/income and 
ex enditure 
Add/less: Any other item of 
non-cash expense / non cash 
income (net of actual cash flows 
for these items), if deemed 
necessary by the Investment 
Manager 

Add: Interest paid to the Fund 

Add: Provision for Resurfacing 
Expenses (Net) 

Add: Non-cash (income)/ 
ex enses 

Less: NHAI Premium 

Less: Principal repayment 

Total Adjustments (B) 

Net Distributable Cash Flows 
(C)-(A+B) 

1,804.81 2,092.40 

5,066.29 4,939.54 

7,816.77 7,486.75 

580.00 580.00 

2,565.38 2,416.17 

(9,183.00) (9,183.00) 

6,845.44 6,239.46 

8,650.25 8,331.86 

2,384.86 3,897.21 5,267.64 

4,351.37 10,005.83 8.725.45 

6,637.01 15,303.52 13,240.59 

1,000.03 1,160.00 1,313.23 

2.46 4,981.55 (187.42) 

(11,192.00) (18,366.00) (22,384.00) 

798.87 13,084.90 707.85 

3,183.73 16,982.11 5,975.49 

As per interim order of the Division Bench of Hon 'ble High Court, withdrawals from Escrow account of ITCTL 
were not permitted till final order in the matter. During the previous year, the embargo on the Escrow bank 
account was uplifted as per the Interim order of the Hon 'ble Arbitral Tribunal. 

! 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

(ix) VKI Expressway Limited (VKI) 

Profit after tax as per Statement 
of profit and loss/income and 
ex enditure A 
Add: Depreciation and 
amortisation as per Statement of 
profit and loss/income and 
ex enditure 
Add/less: Any other item of non­
cash expense / non cash income 
(net of actual cash flows for these 
items), if deemed necessary by 
the Investment Mana er * 
Add: Interest paid to the Fund 

Add: Provision for Resurfacing 
Expenses (Net) 
Add: Non-cash (income)/ 
ex enses 
Less: NHAI Premium 

Less: Principal repayment 

Total Adjustments (B) 

Net Distributable Cash Flows 
(C) = (A+B) 

1,792.31 

2,444.12 

1,105.48 

(3,688.43) 

(2,750.40) 

(2,889.23) 

(1,096.92) 

1,907.70 

3,206.07 

1,106.94 

(300.95) 

(2,597.75) 

1,414.31 

3,322,01 

I 
IRB hwlT Fund 

(An irrevocable (rosf sel up Uf!der tho Ind/all Tmsrs Act, 1882, and reglslorod a,;: 
an infras!ructum i,wc~lmcnl tro.11 will, tho Si1cul'it/ci; and Eu:h~nge Board of India) 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

2,833.48 3,700.01 2,833.48 

2,824.73 5,650.19 2,824.73 

902.28 2,212.42 902.28 

(964.04) (3,989.38) (964.03) 

(5,348.15) 

2,762.97 (1,474.92) 2,762.98 

5,596,45 2,225.09 5,596.46 

' Acquired from IRBIDL vide Share Purchase agreement dated October 13, 2022. 
* Includes Aonuity received from the Authority 
** VKl was ohligated to create DSRA as per terms of agreement with the lenders and accordingly, funds are 
retained for the said purpose. 

SEBI has issued a circular dated December 6, 2023 bearing no. SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS­
PoD/P/CIR/2023/184 (''.NDCF Circular") providing a revised indicative framework for computation of the 
net distributable cash flows ("NDCF") of an Inv IT. This revised framework shall be applicable with effect 
from April 1, 2024 (i.e. Financial Year 2024-25 onwards). 

b. Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is entitled to an 
Investment Management fees to be calculated @ 1 % per annum, exclusive of GST, of the 
consolidated toll revenue (net of premium paid/ revenue shared with NHAI) of the Fund at 
the end of the reporting period subject to a floor of Rs. 1,000 lakhs and a cap of Rs. 2,500 
lakhs. 

c. In accordance with the Project Implementation Agreements, the fees and remuneration 
payable by the Project SPVs to the Project Manager has been worked out and agreed upon 
for the duration of current financial year, between the Project Manager, Investment Manager 
and the respective Project SPY, on an arm's length basis, after taking into account the extent 
of work to be done in respect of maintenance and other services to be provided by the Project 
Manager to such Project SPV. 



I B 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

d. Statement of Earnings per unit 

(An Irrevocable trust .-:111 up under tho Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an lnfrnstru.:wre investment lnJSI with tho Ser:uritles an,;/ Exe/tango Board of Ind/a) 

( Rs. In lakhs exce t for unit data 

Six Month Six Month 
Six Month Year ended Year ended 

ended ended 
Particulars March 31, September 

ended March March 31, March 31, 

2024 30,2023 
31, 2023 2024 2023 

Profit for the period /year 18,400.00 18,909.26 19,322.35 37,309.26 36,958.02 

Number of units outstanding 
for computation of basic and 58,05,00,000 58,05,00,000 58,05,00,000 58,05,00,000 58,05,00,000 
diluted earninf!s oer unit 
Earnings per unit (basic and 

3.17 3.26 
diluted) 

e. Statement of contingent liabilities and commitments 

Contingent liabilities not provided for 

As at 
Particulars March 31, 

2024 

Contingent liability 

Commitments 

As at 
Particulars March 31, 

2024 

Estimated value of contracts in capital account 
remaining to be executed 

Commitment for acquisition of toll equipment & 
machineries 

Other commitments 

Total 

-

-

-
-
-

3.33 6.43 6.37 

Rs in lakhs 

As at As at 
September 30, March 31, 

2023 2023 

- -

/Rs. in lakhs 

As at As at 
September 30, March 31, 

2023 2023 

- -

- -
- -
- -



I B 
!RB lnvlT Fund 

f. Statement of Related party transactions 

I. List of Related Parties 

(i) Parties to the InvIT 

(An lmwor;able trust set up urider fhe Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an /nfraslructure investment lnJSI wilh the Securities and Exchange Board of Ind/;,) 

(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period/ year and /or there was balance 
outstanding at the period / year end) 

!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) (Sponsor & Project Manager) 

Modern Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) (Sponsor group) 

Ideal Road Builders Private Limited (IRBPL) (Sponsor group) 

!RB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) (Investment Manager) 

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 

(ii) Promoters of Sponsor & Project Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar HUF 

(iii) Directors of Sponsor & Project Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kap tan 

Mr. Sunil H. Talati 

Mr. Sandeep J. Shah 

Ms. Priti Savla 

Mr. Jose Angel Tamariz Martel Ganeer 

Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal (w.e.f. August 5, 2022) 

Mr. Carlos Ricardo Ugarte Cruz Coke (till August 5, 2022) 

(iv) Directors of Subsidiaries of Sponsor (Sponsor Group) 

(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period I year and /or there was balance 
outstanding at the period/ year end) 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar 

Ms. Shilpa Todankar 

Mr. Abbay Phatak 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh 

(v) Promotor of Investment Manager 

!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) 



(vi) Directors of Investment Manager 

Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon 

Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh 

Mr. Sunil Tandon 

Mr. Nikesh Jain 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi (w.e.f. March 31, 2023) 

Mrs. Anusha Date (w.e.f. March 31, 2023) 

(vii) Relative of directors of Investment Manager 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An lr,Gvoc,,ble rrust sel up under the Ind/an Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an infr.,structure investment rrusl with tho Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period / year and /or there was balance 
outstanding at the period/ year end) 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi 

(viii) Directors of Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 

Mr. Omprakash Singh 

Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar 

Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 

(ix) Relative of directors of Subsidiaries company 
(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period / year and /or there was balance 
outstanding at the period/ year end) 

Ms. Surabhi Banerjee 

(x) Promoters of Trustee 

IDBI Bank Limited 

Life Insurance Corporation oflndia (LIC) 

General Insurance Corporation of India 

(xi) Directors of Trustee 
Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra(w.e.f. December 14, 2022) 

Ms. Baljinder Kaur Manda! (w.e.f. January 17, 2023) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain 

Ms. Jayashree Vijay Ranade 

Mr. Jayakumar Subrainonia Pillai (w.e.f. July 18, 2023) 

Mr. J. Samuel Joseph (till April 18, 2023) 

Mrs. Padma Betai (till December 31, 2022) 

Mrs. Madhuri J. Kulkarni (till December 6, 2022) 



I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An im,voc11ble trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and roglslered as 
an infrastructure lnvestmenl trust with the Sc,;uri/i&s and Exchange Board of India) 

(xii) Post-employment benefit plans for the benefit of Employees 

! 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Employees Group Gratuity Scheme (w.eJFebruary 1, 2023) 
!RB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Employees Group Gratuity Scheme (w.e.fFebruary I, 
2023) 
IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited Employees Group Gratuity Scheme (w.e.fFebruary I, 
2023) 

!RB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Employees Group Gratuity Scheme (w.e.f February I, 2023) 

MVR Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Employees Group Gratuity Scheme (w.e.fFebruary I, 2023) 



II. Transactions with related parties during the period 

- Six Months 
Sr.No. Particulars Relation ended March 

31, 2024 

I Project Manager Fees 4,099.52 

IRBIDL Project Manager 4,099.52 

2 . Contract expenses 91.70 
IRBIDL Project Manager -
MRMPL 

Entities controlled by 
16.60 

Sponsor 

3 Rent paid 0.84 

IRBPL 
Entities controlled by 0.84 
Sponsor 

Investment Management 
4 fees paid (including 590.00 

indirect taxes) 

IRBFL Investment Manager 590.00 

5 Director sitting fees 9.28 

Mr. Vinodkurnar Menon Directors of 1.47 
Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 
Directors of 0.75 
Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee Directors of 0.80 Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Omprakash Singh 
Directors of 2.10 
Subsidiaries company 

.. 

( 

Six Months 
ended 

Six Months 
ended March 

September 30, 31, 2023 
2023 

4,099.52 3,796.55 

4,099.52 3,796.55 

0.57 4,262.30 

- -
0.57 4,262.30 

0.85 0.76 

0.85 0.76 

590.00 590.00 

590.00 590.00 

16.20 9.03 

2.63 1.50 

1.08 0.81 

1.50 0.80 

3.70 1.93 

~ ~ 

Year ended 
March 31, 

2024 

8,199.04 

8,199.04 

17.17 

-
17.17 

1.69 

1.69 

1,180.00 

1,180.00 

25.48 

4.10 

1.83 

2.30 

5.80 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Year ended 
March 31, 

2023 

8,575.55 

8,575.55 

46,341.79 

41,784.26 

4,557.53 

1.50 

1.50 

1,180.00 

1,180.00 

18.14 

3.25 

1.52 

2.00 

2.73 

! 
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II. Transactions with related parties during the period 
.,..,._ 

Six Months Six Months 

Sr.No. Particulars Relation ended March 
ended 

September 30, 31,2024 
2023 

Mrs. Ksharna V engsarkar Directors of 
0.46 0.69 Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar Directors of 
2.10 3.70 Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta Directors of 
1.60 2.90 Subsidiaries company 

6 Trusteeship Fees 14.75 14.75 
ITSL Trustee 14.75 14.75 

7 
Distribution in the form of 

3,664.69 3,650.24 interest 

rRBIDL Sponsor & Project 
3,151.97 3,151.97 

Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor & 
416.16 416.16 Project Manager 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor & 
64.60 55.25 

Project Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati Director of Sponsor & 
0.34 0.34 Project Manager 

Director of Investment 
Mr. Vinodkurnar Menon Manager & Subsidiaries 1.02 1.02 

company 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta Director of Subsidiatjes 
0.34 0.34 company 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee Director of Subsidiaries 
1.87 1.87 company .. _,,.,,,,. :t.\<\Jt. ,. ........ ""ll, 

•. ' ~ .,~~:i:1 _.,..I •. C> 

oi <7' ~•,;. "'' I\_ __ t -'Er; -t Cl. '.: ''i•, -•., f7l .:.i . -. '·•~ c.,, 

~,r:·. "-"A 
/ .·• ... ~- "'•~--- ../. A 

Six Months Year ended 
ended March March 31, 

31,2023 2024 

0.49 1.15 

2.00 5.80 

1.50 4.50 

14.75 29.50 

14.75 29.50 

3,216.30 7,314.93 

2,781.15 6,303.94 

367.20 832.32 

48.75 I 19.85 

0.30 0.68 

0.90 2.04 

0.30 0.68 

1.65 3.74 

_IB_§_i'!l_al<h_s)_ 

Year ended 
March 31, 

2023 

0.94 

4.70 

3.00 

29.50 

29.50 

5,787.54 

5,006.07 

660.96 

85.95 

0.54 

1.62 

0.54 

2.97 
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II. Transactions with related parties during the period 

'• 

Six Months 
Sr. No. Particulars Relation ended March 

31,2024 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee Relative of directors of 
L02 Subsidiaries company 

Relative of directors of 
Mrs, Nayana Gandhi Investment Manager & L02 

Subsidiaries company 

Directors of 
Mr. Dhananjay K Joshi Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0-51 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr, Sudhir Rao Hoshing Subsidiaries of Sponsor 5.44 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.34 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Amitabh Murarka Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.34 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar Subsidiaries of Sponsor 

8.50 
(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Ms. Shilpa Todankar Subsidiaries of Sponsor 

0.34 
(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Abhay Phatak Subsidiaries of Sponsor 

0.68 
. (Sponsor Group) 

c-,,Y' '. • 
/<i 

/; ····-~ ~.:~\:\/\ & ,{,;, ,. 

( ~ 

Six Months 
Six Months Year ended ended 

ended March March 31, 
September 30, 

31,2023 2024 2023 

L02 0,90 2,04 

L02 0,90 2,04 

0-51 0.45 L02 

5.44 4.80 10.88 

0.34 0.30 0.68 

0.34 0.30 0.68 

8.50 7-50 17.00 

0.34 0.30 0.68 

0.68 0.60 1.36 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Year ended 
March 31, 

2023 

L62 

L62 

0,81 

8.64 

0.54 

0.54 

13.50 

0.54 

1.08 
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II. Transactions with related parties during the period 

·-
Six Months 

Sr.No. Particulars Relation ended March 
31,2024 

Directors of 
Mr. N agendraa Parakh Subsidiaries of Sponsor 10.20 

(Sponsor Groun i 

8 Distribution in the form of 
323.37 return of capital 

IRBIDL 
Sponsor & Project 

278.12 
Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor & 
36.72 

Project Manager 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor & 

5.70 
Project Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Director of Sponsor & 

0.03 
Project Manager 

Director of Investment 
Mr. Vinodkumar Menon Manager & Subsidiaries 0.09 

company 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta Director of Subsidiaries 
0.03 

company 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 
Director of Subsidiaries 

0.17 
company 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 
Relative of directors of 

0.09 
Subsidiaries company 

Relative of directors of 
Mrs. Nayana Gandhi Investment Manager & 0.09 

Subsidiaries company 
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Six Months 
ended 

Six Months 

September 30, 
ended March 

2023 31,2023 

5.10 -

644.16 1,125.75 

556.23 973.40 

73.44 128.52 

9.75 17.06 

0.06 0.11 

0.18 0.32 

0.06 0.11 

0.33 0.58 

0.18 0.32 

0.18 0.32 

Year ended 
March 31, 

2024 

15.30 

967.53 

834.35 

110.16 

15.45 

0.09 

0.27 

0.09 

0.50 

0.27 

0.27 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Year ended 
March 31, 

2023 

-

3,482.72 

3,012.91 

397.80 

51.16 

0.33 

0.98 

0.33 

1.79 

0.98 

0.98 
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II. Transactions with related parties during the period 

·-
Six Months 

Sr.No. Particulars Relation ended March 
31,2024 

Directors of 
Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.05 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.48 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Rajpaul S. Shanna Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.03 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Amitabh Murarka Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.03 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.75 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Ms. Shilpa Todankar Subsidiaries of Sponsor O.Q3 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Abhay Phatak Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.06 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Nagendraa Parakh Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.90 

(Sponsor Group) 

.• 
er . C;: 

'

#,.</1>1'.'- '. 4,.c,~ __,y-·o 
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Acc.:( 1&"ils }: 
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~~ 

Six Months 
ended 

Six Months 

September 30, 
ended March 

2023 31,2023 

0.09 0.16 

0.96 1.68 

0.06 0.11 

0.06 0.11 

1.50 2.63 

0.06 0.11 

0.12 0.21 

0.90 -

Year ended 
March 31, 

2024 

0.14 

1.44 

0.09 

0.09 

2.25 

0.09 

0.18 

1.80 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Year ended 
March 31, 

2023 

0.49 

5.20 

0.33 

0.33 

8.13 

0.33 

0.65 
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II. Transactions with related parties during the period 

- Six Months 
Sr. No. Particulars Relation ended March 

31,2024 

9 
Distribution in the form of 
dividend 

323.37 

IRBIDL 
Sponsor & Project 278.12 
Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor & 36.72 
Project Manager 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor & 5.70 
Project Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Director of Sponsor & 0.03 
Project Manager 

Director of Investment 
Mr. Vinodkumar Menon Manager & Subsidiaries 0.09 

company 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 
Director of Subsidiaries 0.03 
company 

Mr. Sumi! Banerjee 
Director of Subsidiaries 0.17 
company 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 
Relative of directors of 0.09 
Subsidiaries company 

Relative of directors of 
Mrs. Nayana Gandhi Investment Manager & 0.09 

Subsidiaries company 

Directors of 
Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.05 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.48 

(Sponsor Group) . .. . . . 

• ..... . 

Six Months 
ended 

Six Months 

September 30, 
ended March 

2023 
31, 2023 

- -

- -
- -

- -

- -

- -

- -
- -

- -

- -

- -

- -
. . 

fJ,~ <l'o~ .. ~ 

~ ~ed )."!:, 
~ Accountants ~ 
~ . ~,._ 
~ * b ~UMS~ 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Year ended Year ended 
March 31, March 31, 

2024 2023 

323.37 

278.12 

36.72 

5 70 

0.03 

0.09 

0.03 

0.17 

0.09 

0.09 

0.05 

0.48 

-

-

-

-
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II. Transactions with related parties during the period 

·- Six Months Six Months 
ended Sr.No. Particulars Relation ended March 

September 30, 
31,2024 

2023 
Directors of 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Shanna Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.03 
(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Amitabh Murarka Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.03 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.75 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Ms. Shilpa Todankar Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.03 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Abhay Phatak Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.06 

(Sponsor Group) 

Directors of 
Mr. Nagendraa Parakh Subsidiaries of Sponsor 0.90 

(Sponsor Group) 

10 
Services (Funded Gratuity -Plan) availed from 

LIC Promoter of Trustee -

Six Months Year ended 
ended March March 31, 

31,2023 2024 

- - 0.03 

- - 0.03 

- - 0.75 

- - 0.03 

- - 0.06 

- - 0.90 

- 139.36 -

- 139.36 -

(Rs in lakhs) 

Year ended 
March 31, 

2023 

-

-

-

-

-

-

139.36 

139.36 
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'11. Transactions with related parties during the period 

Six Months 
Six Months 

Sr.No. Particulars Relation ended March 
ended 

31,2024 
September 30, 

2023 

11 
Post-employment benefit 3.44 
plan (Gratuitv) 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway 
Limited Employees Group Post-employment 3.05 
Gratuity Scheme (w.e.f benefit plan 
Februarv I. 2023) 
MVR Infrastructure & 
Tollways Limited Employees Post-employment 0.39 
Group Gratuity Scheme benefit plan 
(w.e.fFebruarv I, 2023) 

Six Months Year ended 
ended March March 31, 

31,2023 2024 

- - 3.44 

- - 3.05 

- - 0.39 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Year ended 
March 31, 

2023 

-

-

-
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IR 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrevocable trust sot up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and reglsfered as 
an infrastructure Investment trust with //J(I SocurWes and Excllango Board of India) 

Ill. Related party outstanding balances 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Sr. As on March 
Ason 

As on March Particulars Relation September 30, No. 31, 2024 
2023 31, 2023 

1 Trade Payables 3,263.73 44,452.47 12,259.14 

IRBFL Investment Manager 370.00 139.00 177.00 

IRBIDL Project Manager 897.22 42,320.65 10,061.07 

MRMPL 
Entities controlled by 

1,996.51 1,992.77 2,021.05 Sponsor 

IRBPL 
Entities controlled by - 0.05 0.02 Sponsor 

2 Retention money payable 834.67 710.05 474.66 

IRBIDL Project Manager 707.81 593.92 342.24 

MRMPL 
Entities controlled by 

126.86 116. 13 132.42 Snonsor 

3 Other payables 42,003.54 202.78 202.64 

IRBIDL Project Manager 41,800.76 - -
MRMPL Entities controlled by 

202.78 202.78 202.64 Sponsor 

Details in respect of related party transactions involving acquisition of Inv IT assets as required by Para 4.6.6 
of chapter 4 of SEBI Master Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023 as 
amended including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Circulars") are as follows: 

• The Fund has not acquired any asset from related party during the year ended March 31, 2024. 

• During the previous year ended March 31, 2023, pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 
13, 2022, the Fund has acquired VKl Expressway Limited from IRBIDL. 

Summary of valuation report dated August 5, 2022 issued by the independent valuer under the SEBI 
(lnv!T) Regulations is as follows :-

Fair Enterprise value and equity value of VKl as on July 31, 2022 is as under :-
(Rs In lakhsl 

Fair enterprise 
Equity value 

Name of the SPV (including value shareholder loan) 

VKl Exoresswav Limited 132,540.00 37,670.00 

After considering the aforesaid Valuation Report submitted by the relevant independent valuer and 
pursuant to the negotiations between the Investment Manager and the Sponsor, VKl was acquired from the 
Sponsor. The aggregate purchase consideration agreed upon of Rs. 34,200 lakhs were utilised for 
acquisition of 100% of the equity share capital ofVKl and for payment of the shareholder loan provided to 
VKl by the Sponsor. This aggregate consideration is at~ 9% discount to the Equity Value (i.e., the value 
of the equity and the shareholder loan of the project). 

The project was acquired through external borrowings of Rs. 18,800 lakhs and balance out of internal 
accruals. 



I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrovoceble trust set r.,p under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and roglsterod as 
an lnfrastnu;/llre lnv11stment rrust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

• The following approach and assumptions have been considered for the valuation exercise:-

a, The Free Cash Flows to Finn under the Discounted Cash Flow Method has been used for the purpose 
of valuation of the above SPV, 

b. The Weighted Average Cost of Capital for the above SPV has been considered as the discount rate for 
the above SPV for the purpose of valuation. 

For IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB Inv IT Fund) -
'f~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Director and CFO 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: April 30, 2024 
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Independent Auditors' Report on the Half Yearly and Year to date audited Standalone 
Financial Results of the Fund Pursuant to Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended 

To, 
The Board of Directors 
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB lnvlT Fund) 
IRB Complex, Chandivali Farm, 
Chandivali Village, 
Andheri (East), 
Mumbai 400 072, India. 

Report on the audit of the Standalone Financial Results 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying Statement of standalone financial results of IRB lnvlT Fund 
("Fund"), consisting of the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, 
explanatory notes thereto and the additional disclosures as required in Chapter 4 of the Securities 
and Exchange Board of India ("SEBI") Master Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDI-IS-PoD-
2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as amended including any guidelines and circulars issued 
thereunder ("SEBI Circular") for the half year and year ended March 31, 2024 ('the Statement'), 
attached herewith, being submitted by the Fund pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 23 of 
the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read 
with SEBI Circular. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
Statements: 

i. are presented in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 23 of SEBI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, read with SEBI 
Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDI-IS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as amended 
including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder in this regard; and 



ii. give a true and fair view in conformity with the applicable accounting standards and other 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the net profit and total comprehensive 
income and other financial information for the half year and year ended March 31, 2024. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) issued by Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our responsibilities under those Standards are further 
described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Results" 
section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued 
by the !CAI and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the ICAl's 
Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Management's Responsibilities for the Standalone Financial Results 

The Statement has been prepared on the basis of the standalone annual financial statements. 
Management of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited ('Investment Manager') is responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the standalone financial results that gives a true and fair view of 
the net profit and total comprehensive income and other financial information of the Fund in 
accordance with the requirements of SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, 
as amended from time to time ("the lnvlT Regulations"); Indian Accounting Standards as defined 
in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended), and 
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with lnvlT 
regulations. This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial controls for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Statement that give a true and fair view and are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Statement, the Management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the management either intends to liquidate the Fund 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Investment Manager is also responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Results 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the Statement. 



As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial 
results or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial results, 
including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial results represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 



Other Matter 

The Statement includes the standalone financial results for the half year ended March 31,2024 
being the balancing figures between the audited figures in respect of the full financial year ended 
March 31, 2024 and the published unaudited year-to-date figures up to September 30, 2023, being 
the date of the end of the first half of the current financial year, which were subject to limited review 
as required under Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 
as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDI-IS-PoD-
2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as amended including any guidelines and circulars issued 
thereunder in this regard. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg. No. 121750W/W100010 ,-½"::.:ii~~~ 

1/c~~).--~·-,~,~-~, 
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Partner "<:.:·!{~:1,§.~:0'...:,.-
Membership No.:102306 
UDIN: .2.4\O2.'2,0~ B KC,&tA.B5;'.f 9 Y 
Place: Mumbai 
Dated: 30 April 2024 



Registered Office: IRS Complex, Chandivoli 
Farm, Chondivali Village, Andheri {E), 
Mumbai - 400 072, Maharashtra, Indio. 
Tele 022 6640 4299; Fax: 022 6640 4274; 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

E~mail: info@irbinvit.co.in; Website: www.irbinvit.co.in 
SEBI Registration Number: IN/lnvff /15~ 16/0001; 

(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Sr. 
No. 

I 

II 

Ill 

IV 

V 

VI 

VII 

Audited Standalone Financial Results for the half year and year ended March 31, 2024 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

Six months Six months Six months Year ended Year ended 
ended ended ended 

March 31, September March 31, March 31, March 31, 
Particulars 2024 30, 2023 2023 2024 2023 

(Audited- (Unaudited) (Audited- (Audited) 
Refer note Refer note (Audited) 

7 (i)) 7 (ii) ) 

Incomes and gains 

Interest on loan 30,099.76 28,632.49 25,951.83 58,732.25 51,522.43 

Dividend income 3,600.00 - - 3,600.00 -
Profit on sale of investments 112.79 244.80 386.09 357.59 510.37 

Interest on income tax refund 0.04 - 0.15 0.04 0.15 

Interest on bank deposits 15.73 14.34 12.33 30.07 12.33 

Day one gain on fair valuation of loan from 8,380.43 
, 

subsidiaries - 5,384.57 8.380.43 5,384.57 

Other income (changes in fair value gain/ (loss)) 221.40 126.25 67.92 347.65 272.78 

Total income and gains 34,049.72 37,398.31 31,802.89 71,448.03 57,702.63 

Expenditure 

Valuation expenses 9.1! 9.12 9.12 18.23 21.15 

Annual listing fee 41.1 l 41. l l 39.54 82.22 79.29 

Audit fees 12.98 10.15 6.94 23.13 15.22 

Investment management fees (refer note b below) 590.00 590.00 590.00 1,180.00 1,180.00 

Trustee fees 14.75 14.75 14.75 29.50 29.50 

Finance cost (interest) 9,273.09 8,457.24 6,431.24 17,730.33 11,624.44 

Legal and professional expenses 32.76 29.43 87.86 62.19 113.23 

lmpainnent of inveshnent in subsidiaries (net of 5,400.29 17,900.81 3,606.79 23,301.!0 4,522.50 
Reversal) (Refer note 4) 

Other expenses* 0.64 0.69 0.86 1.33 2.96 

Total Expenses 15,374.73 27,053.30 10,787.10 42,428.03 17,588.29 

Profit for the period / year before income tax (I). 
18,674.99 10,345.01 21,015.79 29,020.00 40,114.34 

(II) 

Tax expense (current tax and deferred tax)/ reversal - - - - -
Profit for the period/ year after income tax (IID 18,674.99 10,345.01 21,015.79 29,020.00 40,114.34 
• (IV) 

Items of Other Comprehensive Income - - - - -
Total Comprehensive Income (after tax) (V) + 18,674.99 10,345.01 21,015.79 29,020.00 40,114.34 
(VI) 

* Other expenses include bank charges, rates & taxes, communication cost, printing & stationary and other miscellaneous 
expenses. 



Notes: 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An imwt;,;;;,b/e trust set up under the Indian Trusts A,:;t, 1882, and rogi'ster~d ;,s 
an infrastruclure Investment rrusl with lho Sccunlies ;md Exr:h;ingo Bolfrd of India) 

I. Investors can view the Financial Results of the !RB Inv!T Fund ('Fund' or 'Trust') on the Trust's website 
(www.irbinvit.co.in) or on the websites of BSE (www.bseindia.com) or NSE (www.nseindia.com). 

2. The Audited Standalone Financial Results comprises of the Standalone Statement of profit and loss (including 
other comprehensive income), explanatory notes thereto and the additional disclosures as required in Chapter 4 
of SEBI Master Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 as amended 
including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Circulars") of !RB Inv IT Fund ('Fund') for the 
half year and year ended March 31, 2024 ("Standalone Financial Results") being submitted by the Fund 
pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, 
as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circulars. 

3. The Standalone Financial Results for the half year and year ended March 31, 2024 have been reviewed by the 
Audit Committee and thereafter approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager at their 
respective meetings held on April 30, 2024. 

4. The provision for impairment of investments in subsidiaries is made based on the difference between the 
carrying amounts and the recoverable amounts. For ongoing projects, the recoverable amount of the investments 
in subsidiaries has been computed by the external independent valuer assuming revenue as per most likely 
scenario on value in use calculation for the underlying projects (based on discounted cash flow model). On a 
periodic basis, according to the recoverable amounts of individual portfolio assets computed, the Trust tests 
impairment on the amounts invested in the respective subsidiary companies. The valuation exercise so carried 
out considers various factors including cash flow projections, discount rates, risk premiums for market. 
conditions etc. For the surrendered projects, the said recoverable amounts has been computed by the 
Management based on a review of the financial position of the said subsidiaries. 

5. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have declared 4th Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit which 
comprises of Rs. 1.70 per unit as interest and Re. 0.30 per unit as dividend in their meeting held on April 30, 
2024. 

Total distribution made by the Fund is Rs. 8.00 per unit (including I'' Distribution·of Rs. 2.00 per unit, 2nd 

Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit, 3'' Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit) for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

6. !RB Inv!T Fund was registered as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 on October 16, 2015 
and as an infrastructure investment trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 on March 14, 2016. Units of!RB Inv!T Fund have been listed on both the 
stock exchanges on May 18, 2017. 

7. (i) The half yearly Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2024 are the derived figures 
between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2024 and the published year-to-date figures 
up to September 30, 2023, being the date of the end of the first half of the current financial year, which were 
subject to limited review. The Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2024 and year 
ended March 31, 2024 have been prepared on the basis of the Standalone Financial Results for the half year 
ended September 30, 2023, the audited aunual standalone financial statements as at and for the year ended 
March 31, 2024, and the relevant requirements of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 
2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBJ Circulars. 



I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An lrrevocablo trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1881. and registered as 
an Infrastructure investmenl trust wllh the Securities and E1<changn Board of India) 

(ii) The half yearly Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2023 are the derived figures 
between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2023 and published year-to-date figures up to 
September 30, 2022, being the date of the end of the first half of the previous financial year, which were subject 
to limited review. 

8. Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2022, the Fund has acquired the subsidiary 
company viz. VKI Expressway Limited ('Project SPV') for an aggregate purchase consideration of Rs. 
34,200.00 lakhs towards 100% oftbe equity share capital of Project SPV and repayment of the shareholder loan 
to Project SPV. 



I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An imwoeable trust s,..l up under the Indian Tmsts Aet, 1881, and regjsfemd as­
an lnfrostruclura investment trust with the Securities and EJ<change Board of India) 

Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 Of Chapter 4 to the Master Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS­
PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 as amended including any Guidelines and Circulars issued thereunder 
("SEBI Circulars"): 

a) Net Distributable Cash Flows as at the Standalone Trust level 

Sr. 
No. 

I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

Six months Six months Six months Year Year 

Particulars 
ended ended ended ended ended 

March 31, September March 31, March 31, March 31, 
2024 30,2023 2023 2024 2023 

Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form 28,955.17 27,881.73 28,091.24 56,836.90 47,983.32 
of Interest (Refer note I & 2) 

Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form 3,600.00 - - 3,600.00 -of Dividend 

Any other income accruing at the Trust level and 
not captured above, including but not limited to 349.95 385.40 466.49 735.35 795.63 
interest/return on surplus cash invested by the Trust 

Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards 
the repayment of the debt issued to the Project SPV s 2,789.27 6,225.65 4,482.00 9,014.92 18,893.37 
by the Trust (Refer note 3 & 4) 

Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 35,694.39 34,492.78 33,039.73 70,187.17 67,672.32 

Less: 

Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred 
at the Trust level, including but not limited to the (7,482.44) (7,542.39) (6,995.01) (15,024.83) (12,880.49) 
fees of the Investment Manager 

Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust - - - - -Level 

Repayment of external debt (2,759.50) (2,761.58) (2,712.50) (5,521.08) (5,425.00) 

Total cash outflows I retention at the Trust level (10,241.94) (10,303.97) (9,707.51) (20,545.91) (18,305.49) 
(B) 

Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 25,452.45 24,188.81 23,332.22 49,641.26 49,366.83 

Notes: 

t) During the previous year, the embargo on the Escrow bank account for ITCTL was uplifted as per the Interim order of 
the Hon 'ble Arbitral Tribunal. However, the withdrawals pertaining to past periods towards debt servicing of Rs. 
11, l 93.00 lakhs (net of Rs. 4,402.39 lakhs considered in earlier period) has not been considered in the above Net 
Distributable Cash Flow. The said accruals were utilised towards acquisition of VK l project. 



I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusrs Act, 18112, and rogislerod as 
a1, Infrastructure investment trusr will> /he Secur/1/es and Exchange Board of Ind/a) 

2) Excludes interest due but not received of Rs. Nil, Rs. 1,946.75 lakhs, Rs. Nil , Rs.1,895.35 lakhs and Rs. 3,539.11 lakhs 
for the six months ended March 31, 2024, six months ended September 30, 2023, six months ended March 31, 2023, 
year ended March 31, 2024 and year ended March 31, 2023 , respectively. 

3) Netted - off with disbursement of long-tem1 unsecured loan to project SPV (Refer RPT note). 

4) The Trust has considered distribution of Rs. 30.00 lakhs received from SPV before finalization and adoption of accounts 
of the Inv IT. 

SEBI has issued a circular dated December 6, 2023 bearing no. SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS-PoD/P/CIR/2023/184 ("NDCF Circular") 
providing a revised indicative framework for computation of the net distributable cash flows ("NDCF") of an Inv IT. This revised 

framework shall be applicable with effect from April 1, 2024 (i.e. Financial Year 2024-25 onwards). 

b) Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is entitled to an Investment Management fees 
to be calculated @ 1 % per annum, exclusive of GST, of the consolidated toll revenue (net of premium paid/ revenue shared 
with NHAI) of the Fund at the end of each quarter subject to a floor of Rs. 1,000 lakhs and a cap of Rs. 2,500 lakhs. 

c) Statement of earnings per unit 

fRs in lakhs exceot for unit data) 

Six months Six months Six months Year ended Year ended 
Particulars ended ended ended March 31, March 31, 

March 31, September 30, March 31, 
2024 2023 2023 

2024 2023 

Profit for the period I year 18,674.99 10,345.01 21,015.79 29,020.00 40,114.34 

Number of units outstanding for 
computation of basic and diluted earnings 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 

ner unit 

Earnings per unit in Rs. (basic and diluted) 3.22 1.78 3.62 5.00 6.91 

d) Statement of contingent liabilities and commitments 
(Rs. In Jakhs) 

Particulars 
Asat As at As at 

March 31, 2024 September 30, 2024 March 31, 2023 

Contingent liabilities Nil Nil Nil 

Commitments Nil Nil Nil 



e) Statement of Related party transactions 

I. List of Related Parties 

(i) Subsidiaries/ SPVs 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAIL) 

!RB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) 

!RB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) 

!RB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) 

!RB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) 

!RB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) 

VKI Expressway Limited (VKI) (w.e.f. October 13, 2022) 

(ii) Parties to the InvIT 

I 
!RB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrevocable trust Slit up under !ho Indian Trusts Act, 18/J:Z, and registered as 
an infrastructure Investment tros/ with /he Securities and Exchange Board oflndiij) 

(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period/ year and /or there was balance 
outstanding at the period / year end) 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) (Sponsor & Project Manager) 

!RB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) (Investment Manager) 

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (!TSL) (Trustee) 

(iii) Promoters of Sponsor & Project Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar HUF 

(iv) Directors of Sponsor & Project Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan 

Mr. Sunil H. Talati 

Mr. Sandeep J. Shah 

Ms. Priti Savla 

Mr. Jose Angel Tarnariz Martel Goncer 

Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal (w.e.f. August 05, 2022) 

Mr. Carlos Ricardo Ugarte Cruz Coke (till August 05, 2022) 



(v) Directors of Subsidiaries of Sponsor (Sponsor Group) 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irreYocab/e rrust sel up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and regislerod as 
an infrasl/ucture investment trust with the Securities and Exeh:,nge Board of India) 

(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period/ year and /or there was balance 
outstanding at the period / year end) 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar 

Ms. Shilpa Todankar 

Mr. Abbay Phatak 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh ( w.e.f. May 31,2023) 

(vi) Promoters of Investment manager 
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

(vii) Directors of Investment Manager 

Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon 

Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh 

Mr. Sunil Tandon 

Mr. Nikesh Jain 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi (w.e.f. March 31, 2023) 

Mrs. Anusha Date (w.e.f. March 31, 2023) 

(viii) Relative of directors of Investment Manager & Subsidiaries company 
(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period I year and /or there was balance 
outstanding at the period I year end) 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi 

(ix) Directors of Subsidiaries company /SPV's 
Mr. Vined Kumar Menon 
Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 

Mr. Omprakash Singh 

Mrs. Ksharna Vengsarkar 

Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 

(x) Relative of directors of Subsidiaries company/ SPV's 
(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period / year and /or there was balance 
outstanding at the period / year end) 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 



(xi) Promotors of Trustee 

IDBI Bank Limited 

Life Insurance Corporation of India 

General Insurance Corporation oflndia 

(xii) Directors of Trustee 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra ( w.e.f. December 14, 2022) 

Ms. Baljinder Kaur Manda] ( w.e.f. January 17, 2023) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain 

Ms. Jayashree Vijay Ranade 

Mrs. Jayakumar Subramonia Pillai (w.e.f. July 18, 2023) 

Mr. J. Samuel Joseph (till April 18, 2023) 

Mrs. Padtna Betai (till December 31, 2022) 

Mrs. Madhuri J. Kulkarni (till December 06, 2022) 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrovocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an Infrastructure l11v11stmcnl trust with the Sm;uri(ies and E:.n:hango Board of India} 



IL Transactions with related parties 

Six months 

Sr. ended 
Particulars Relation 

No. March 31, 
2024 

l 
Repayment of secured loan 9,298.07 
/Lon2 term) 

IJDTL Subsidiary 3,320.51 

IPATRL Subsidiary 5,063.95 

ITATL Subsidiary 913.61 

MITL Subsidiary -

2 
Unsecured loans given 10,540.89 
(Lon2 term) 

IJDTL Subsidiary 1,103.00 

IPATRL Subsidiary 5,414.00 

ITATL Subsidiary 500.00 

ITCTL Subsidiary 3,523.89 

VKI Subsidiary -

3 
Repayment of unsecured 4,002.09 
loan fl 002 term) 

MITL Subsidiary 4,002.09 

4 
Unsecured Joans given 27,040.19 
(Short term) 

IJDTL Subsidiary 9,293.99 

IPATRL Subsidiary 9,018.00 

ITATL Subsidiary 4,096.00 

ITCTL Subsidiary 3,402.20 

MITL Subsidiary 1,230.00 

VKI Subsidiary -

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrovoc1Jbl" trust set up under l/1e Ind/an Trusls Act, 1882, and roglsterod as 
an lnfrastrucluro Investment trust with tho Securi/lr:,s and Exchange Board of India) 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

Six months Six months 
Year ended Year ended 

ended ended 

September March 31, March 31, March 31, 
30,2023 2023 2024 2023 

3,839.09 400.01 13,137.16 10,021.38 

840.00 200.00 4,160.51 3,762.07 

- 200.00 5,063.95 2,948.51 

175.00 - 1,088.61 -
2,824.09 0.01 2,824.09 3,310.80 

40,064.75 45,947.80 50,605.64 45,947.80 

13,350.00 5,938.00 14,453.00 5,938.00 

26,714.75 6,113.00 32,128.75 6,113.00 

- 4,089.00 500:00 4,089.00 

- 12,895.00 3,523.89 12,895,00 

- 16,912.80 - 16,912.80 

2,250.00 4,425.00 6,252.09 9,215.00 

2,250.00 4,425.00 6,252.09 9,215.00 

5,114.75 7,448.91 32,154.94 10,915.91 

500.00 57.00 9,793.99 57.00 

1,899.46 1,959.20 10,917.46 1,959.20 

242.52 1,267.21 4,338.52 4;023.21 

- 3,655.00 3,402.20 3,655.00 

1,012.00 510.50 2,242.00 1,221.50 

1,460.77 - 1,460.77 -



Six months 

Sr. e&dtd 

No. 
Particulars Relation 

March 31, 
2024 

5 
Repayment of unsecured 25,184.59 
loan 2iven (Short term) 

IIDTL Subsidiary 707.00 

lPATRL Subsidiary 2,614.20 

ITATL Subsidiary 3,879.69 

ITCTL Subsidiary 920.20 

MITL Subsidiary 16,181.50 

VKI Subsidiary 882.00 

6 
Unsecured loan taken (Long -term) 

ISDTL Subsidiary -
IDAAIL Subsidiary -

7 Interest income 30,117.01 

IJDTL Subsidiary 7,775.86 

IPATRL Subsidiary 9,519.17 

ITATL Subsidiary 3,339.27 

JTCTL Subsidiary 7,816.77 

MITL Subsidiary 560.46 

VKl Subsidiary 1,105.48 

8 Dividend income 3,600.00 

MITL Subsidiary 3,600.00 

Other income - Day one 
9 gain on fair valuation of -

loan from subsidiaries 

ISDTL Subsidiary -

IDAAIL Subsidiary -

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An lrrevoc,1b/o trust set up under the Indian Trusts Acf, 1882. and regi.~ternd as 
an lnfrastruc/u,e lnvas/men/ trust wilh th,; Securities and E"change Board of India) 

Six months Six months Year ended Year ended 
ended ended 

September March 31, March 31, March 31, 
30, 2023 2023 2024 2023 

1,966.75 4,304.00 27,151.34 6,231.70 

- - 707.00 -

1,244.46 - 3,858.66 -
143.52 - 4,023.21 -

- 3,000.00 920.20 3,000.00 

- 1,304.00 16,181.50 3,231.70 

578.77 - 1,460.77 -

40,201.31 28,692.00 40,201.31 28,692.00 

40,201.3 I 11,204.00 40,201.31 11,204.00 

- 17,488.00 - 17,488.00 

28,649.61 25,968.53 58,766.62 51,555.36 

6,985.00 6,247.26 14,760.86 12,540.45 

7,935.01 6,989.09 17,454.18 13,942.30 

3,340.93 3,081.89 6,680.20 6,069.65 

7,486.75 6,637.01 15,303.52 13,240.59 

1,794.98 2,111.00 2,355.44 4,860.09 

1,106.94 902.28 2,212.42 902.28 

- - 3,600.00 -
- - 3,600.00 -

8,380.43 5,384.58 8380.43 5,384.58 

8,380.43 2,588.49 8380.43 2,588.49 

- 2,796.09 - 2,796.09 



Six months 
Sr. ended 
No. 

Particulars Relation 
March 31, 

2024 

10 
Finance cost ~ Interest 

2492.01 unwinding on loan 

ISDTL Subsidiary 1816.47 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 675,54 

Investment Management 
11 fees (including indirect 590.00 

taxes) 

IRBFL 
Investment 

590.00 Manal!er 

Distribution in the form of 
3,664.69 

12 interest 
Sponsor & 

IRBIDL Project 3,151.97 
Manager 

Director of 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Sponsor & 
416.16 Project 

Manae:er 
Director of 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Sponsor & 

64.60 Project 
Manager 

Director of 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Sponsor & 0.34 Project 
Manae:er 

Director of 
Investment 

Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon Manager& 1.02 
Subsidiaries 

comoanv 
Director of 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta Subsidiaries 0.34 
comnanv 

Director of 
Mr. Sumit Banerjee Subsidiaries 1.87 

comoanv 
Relative of 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 
directors of 

1.02 Subsidiaries 
company 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrovocabla trust sel up under the Indian Trusts Acl, 1882, and rogistered as 
.1n lntrnstruclurli! investmMt trust with the 5«:ur/ties and EKchangt! Board of India) 

Six months Six months 
Year ended Year ended ended ended 

September March 31, March 31, March 31, 
30,2023 2023 2024 2023 

1,610.10 185.30 4102.11 185.30 

930,83 12.93 2747.30 12.93 

679.27 172.37 1354.81 172.37 

590.00 590.00 1,180.00 1,180.00 

590.00 590.00 1,180.00 1,180.00 

3,650.24 3,216.30 7,314.93 5,787.54 

3,151.97 2,781.15 6,303.94 5,006.07 

416.16 367.20 832.32 660.96 

55.25 48.75 119.85 85.95 

0.34 0.30 0.68 0.54 

1.02 0.90 2.04 1.62 

0.34 0.30 0.68 0.54 

1.87 1.65 3.74 2.97 

1.02 0.90 2.04 1.62 



~ix monlhs 

Sr. ended 

No. 
Particulars Relation 

March 31, 
2024 

Relative of 
directors of 

Mrs. N ayana Gandhi 
Investment 1.02 
Manager & 
Subsidiaries 

conmanv 
Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi of Sponsor 0.51 
(Sponsor 
Group) 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing of Sponsor 5.44 
(Sponsor 
Groun' 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Shanna of Sponsor 0.34 
(Sponsor 
Grounl 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka of Sponsor 0.34 
(Sponsor 
Group) 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar of Sponsor 
8.50 (Sponsor 

Groun 
Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Ms. Shilpa Todankar of Sponsor 
0.34 (Sponsor 

Grouo 
Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Abhay Phatak of Sponsor 0.68 
(Sponsor 

Grou11 
Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh of Sponsor 10.20 
(Sponsor 

Grouo 

! 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An lrrovocablft 1rost sel up under t/Je Indian Trusrs Act, 1882, and roglsterod as 
an Infrastructure Investment trust with 1/10 Se~uritios :,nd Exchange Board of India) 

Six months Sh months Year ended Year ended 
ended ended 

September March 31, March 31, March 31, 
30,2023 2023 2024 2023 

1.02 0.90 2.04 1.62 

0.51 0.45 1.02 0.81 

5.44 4.80 10.88 8.64 

0.34 0.30 0.68 0.54 

0.34 0.30 0.68 0:54 

8.50 7.50 
17.00 13.50 

0.34 0.30 
0.68 0.54 

0.68 0.60 1.36 1.08 

5.10 - 15.30 -



Six months 

Sr. ended 

No. 
Particulars Relation 

March 31, 
2024 

13 
Distribution in the form of 323.37 
return of capital 

Sponsor & 
IRBIDL Project 278.12 

Manager 
Director of 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Sponsor & 

36.72 Project 
Manager 

Director of 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Sponsor & 

5.70 Project 
ManaQer 

Director of 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Sponsor & 

0.03 Project 
Manae:er 

Director of 
Investment 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon Manager & 0.09 
Subsidiaries 

conmanv 
Director of 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta Subsidiaries 0.03 
comnanv 

Director of 
Mr. Sumit Banerjee Subsidiaries 0.17 

comoanv 
Relative of 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 
directors of 0.09 Subsidiaries 
company 

Relative of 
directors of 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi 
Investment 

0.09 Manager & 
Subsidiaries 

conmanv 
Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi of Sponsor 0.05 
(Sponsor 
Groun) 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing of Sponsor 0.48 
(Sponsor 
Groun) 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrovocable trust ser up under the Indian Tn11.ts Act, 1882, and regfatored as 
an infrastructure investment trosl with the Securmes and Exchange Board of India) 

Six months Six months Year ended Year ended 
ended ended 

September March 31, March 31, March 31, 
30,2023 2023 2024 2023 

644.16 1,125.75 967.53 3,482.72 

556.23 973.40 834.35 3,012.91 

73.44 128.52 110.16 397.80 

9.75 17.06 15.45 51.16 

0.06 0.11 0.09 0.33 

0.18 0.32 0.27 0.98 

0.06 0.11 0.09 0:33 

0.33 0.58 0.50 1.79 

0.18 0.32 0.27 0.98 

0.18 0.32 0.27 0.98 

0.09 0.16 0.14 0.49 

0.96 1.68 1.44 5.20 



Six months 

Sr. ended 

No. 
Particulars Relation 

March 31, 
2024 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Shanna of Sponsor 0.03 
(Sponsor .. 
Groun) 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka of Sponsor 0.03 
(Sponsor 
Groun) 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar of Sponsor 0.75 
(Sponsor 

Grouo 
Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Ms. Shilpa Todankar of Sponsor 0.03 
(Sponsor 
Grouo 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Abbay Phatak of Sponsor 0.06 
(Sponsor 

Groun 
Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh of Sponsor 0.90 
(Sponsor 

Grouo 

14 
Distribution in the form of 323.27 
dividend 

Sponsor & 
IRBIDL Project 278.12 

Mana2:er 
Director of 

., 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Sponsor & 

36.72 
Project 

Manall"er 

Director of 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Sponsor & 5.70 

Project 
Manai>:er 

Director of 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Sponsor & 0.03 

Project 
Manae:er 

IR 
IRB lnv!T Fund 

(An lrrovocabl<l trust set up under Iha Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and roglslerod as 
an infrasrruclure investmellt trust wllh the Securities and E>(changn Board of Ind fa} 

Six months Six months Year ended Year ended 
ended ended 

September March 31, March 31, March 31, 
30,2023 2023 2024 2023 

0.06 0.11 0.09 0.33 

0.06 0.11 0.09 0.33 

1.50 2.63 2.25 
8.13 

0.06 0.11 0.09 
0.33 

0.12 0.21 0.18 
0.65 

0.90 . 
1.80 . 

. . 323.27 . 

. - 278.12 . 

. - 36.72 . 

. - 5.70 . 

. . 0.03 . 



Sr. Particulars Relation 
No. 

Director of 
Investment 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon Manager& 
Subsidiaries 

cornnanv 
Director of 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta Subsidiaries 
comnanv 

Director of 
Mr. Sumit Banerjee Subsidiaries 

comnanv 
Relative of 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 
directors of 
Subsidiaries 

comnanv 
Relative of 
directors of 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi Investment 
Manager & 
Subsidiaries 

comnanv 
Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi of Sponsor 
(Sponsor 
Grou~\ 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing of Sponsor 
(Sponsor 
Grou"' 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma of Sponsor 
(Sponsor 
Groun'I 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka of Sponsor 
(Sponsor 
Groun) 

Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar of Sponsor 
(Sponsor 

Groun 

Six months 
ended 

March 31, 
2024 

0.09 

0.03 

0.17 

0.09 

0.09 

0.05 

0.48 

0.03 

0.03 

0.75 

I 
IRB invlT Fund 

(An lrrnvcu;:ablc trust sol up under t/Je Indian Trusts Act, 188:Z, and regl.stered as 
an Infrastructure lnvm;;lment trusl with /he Secur/lfos and Exchange Board of India) 

Six months Six months 
Year ended Year ended ended ended 

September March 31, March 31, March 31, 
30,2023 2023 2024 2023 

- - 0.09 

- - 0.03 

- - 0.17 

- - 0.09 

- - 0.09 

- - 0.05 

- - 0.48 

- - 0.03 

- - 0.03 

- - 0.75 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-



Registered Office: [RB Complex, Chondivoli 
Form, Chandivoli Vi/loge, Andheri (E), 
Mumbai - 400 072, Maharashtra, Indio. 
Tel: 022 6640 4299; Fax: 022 6640 4274; 
E~mail: info@irbinvit.co.in; Website: www.irbinvit.co.in 
SEBI Registration Number: IN/lnvlT /15- 16/0001; 
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Subsidiaries 

Mr. Abhay Phatak of Sponsor 
(Sponsor 

Groun 
Directors of 
Subsidiaries 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh of Sponsor 
(Sponsor 

Grouo 

15 Trustee fee 

ITSL Trustee 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an infrastructure investment trust with the Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Six months Six months Six months 
Year ended Year ended 

ended ended ended 

March 31, September March 31, March 31, March 31, 
2024 30,2023 2023 2024 2023 

0.03 - - 0.03 -

0.06 - - 0.06 -

0.90 - - 0.90 -

14.75 14.75 14.75 29.50 29.50 

14.75 14.75 14.75 29.50 29.50 



III. Related party outstanding balances 

Sr.No. Particulars Relation 

I Equity Investment 

ISDTL Subsidiary 

IJDTL Subsidiary 

!DAAIL Subsidiary 

IPATRL Subsidiary 

ITATL Subsidiary 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

MITL Subsidiary 

VKI Subsidiary 

2 Subordinated debt 

IJDTL Subsidiary 

IPATRL . Subsidiruy 

ITATL Subsidiazy 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

3 Secured loan receivable (Long term) 

IJDTL Subsidiruy 

IPATRL Subsidiary 

ITATL Subsidiary 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

MITL Subsidiazy 

4 Unsecured loan receivable (Long term) 

IJDTL Subsidiary 

IPATRL Subsidiary 

ITATL Subsidiary 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

MITL Subsidiary 

VKI Subsidiary 

I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

1 di 1'. sisAcl 1882 andregislorodas 
(An irrevocable trust sot up undo~~/;~ 11

5,:'c:,i;~s and Excha~ge Board of India} 
an Infrastructure /nvcslmenl trust w, e 

(Rs. In Jakhs) 

Ason As on As on 
March 31, 2024 September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023 

1,44,850.08 1,44,850.08 1,44,850.08 

53,232.48 53,232.48 53,232.48 

13,175.00 13,175.00 13,175.00 

19,812.00 19,812.00 19,812.00 

9,909.00 9,909.00 9,909.00 

4,925.00 4,925.00 4,925.00 

15,550.00 15,550.00 15,550.00 

10,902.00 10,902.00 10,902.00 

17,344.60 17,344.60 17,344.60 

99,431.00 99,431.00 99,431.00 

39,525.00 39,525.00 39,525.00 

29,581.00 29,581.00 29,581.00 

14,775.00 14,775.00 14,775.00 

15,550.00 15,550.00 15,550.00 

3,03,278.35 3,12,576.41 3,16,415.51 

83,553.12 86,873.63 87,713.63 

84,589.43 89,653.37 89,653.37 

36,065.23 36,978.84 37,153.84 

93,712.76 93,712.76 93,712.76 

5,357.81 5,357.81 8,181.91 

1,32,294. 73 1,25,755.93 87,941.18 

27,298.71 26,195.71 12,845.71 

53,731.79 48,317.79 21,603.04 

10,594.47 10,094.47 10,094.47 

23,756.96 20,233.07 20,233.07 

. 4,002.09 6,252.09 

16,912.80 16,912.80 16,912.80 



I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An lmwoeab/e trust Sal up under tho Indian Trusts Ac/, 1882, and registered as 
an infrastructure investment !rust with the Sm;urities and Ei::chango Board of India) 

As on Ason 
Sr.No. Particulars Relation 

Ason 
March 31 2024 Seotcmber 30. 2023 March 31. 2023 

5 Unsecured loan receivable (Short term) 25,902.71 24,047.11 20,899.11 

IJDTL Subsidiary 9,143.99 5·51.00 57.00 

IPATRL Subsidiary 9,018.00 2,614.20 1,959.20 

ITATL Subsidiary 4,338.52 4,122.21 4,023.21 

ITCTL Subsidiary 3,402.20 920.20 920.20 

MITL Subsidiary - 14,951.50 13,939.50 

VKI Subsidiary - 882.00 -

6 Interest receivable 20,583.64 19,439.03 18,688.28 

IPATRL Subsidiary 3,557.84 1,244.46 -

ITATL Subsidiary . 143.52 -

ITCTL Subsidiary 17,025.80 17,492.28 18,688.28 

VKI Subsidiary - 558.77 -

7 Unsecured loan payable (Long term) 59,415.71 56,923.70 23,492.72 

ISDTL Subsidjary 43,196.61 41,380.16 8,628.44 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 16,219.10 15,543.54 14,864.28 

8 Trade payables 370.00 139.00 177.00 

!RBFL Investment Manager 370.00 139.00 177.00 

Details in respect of related party transactions involving acquisition of InvIT assets as required by Para 4.6.6 of chapter 
4 of SEBI Master Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/PICIR/20231115 dated 06 July 2023 as amended including any 
guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Circulars") are as follows: 

• The Fund has not acquired any asset from related party during year ended March 31, 2024. 

• During the previous year ended March 31, 2023, pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2022, 
the Fund has acquired VKI from IRBIDL. 

! 



I 
IRB lnvlT Fund 

(An irn,vo,:ab/o trust ,;,:,t up under the Ind/an Trusts Acl, 1882, and registered as 
an lnfrastrocturo investment trosl with tl!c Securities and Exchange Board of India) 

Summary of valuation report dated August 5, 2022 issued by the independent valuer under the SEBI (lnvlT) 
Regulations is as follows :~ 

Fair Enterprise value and equity value of VKJ as on July 31, 2022 is as under :-

( Rs. in lakhs) 

Name of the SPV Fair enterprise value Equity value (including 
shareholder loan) 

VKI 132,540.00 37,670.00 

After considering the aforesaid Valuation Report submitted by the relevant independent valuer and pursu.ant to the negotiations 
between the Investment Manager and the Sponsor, VKl was acquired from the Sponsor. The aggregate purchase consideration 
agreed upon of Rs. 34,200 lakhs were utilised for acquisition of I 00% of the equity share capital of VKI and for payment of the 
shareholder loan provided to VKI by the Sponsor. This aggregate consideration is at~ 9% discount to the Equity Value (i.e., the 
value of the equity and the shareholder loan of the project). 

The project was acquired through external borrowings of Rs. 18,800 lakhs and balance out of internal accruals. 

• The following approach and assumptions have been considered for the valuation exercise: -

a. The Free Cash Flows to Firm under the Discounted Cash Flow Method has been used for the purpose of valuation 
of the above SPV. 

b. The Weighted Average Cost of Capital for the above SPV has been considered as the discount rate for the above 
SPV for the purpose of valuation. 

For IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to !RB InvIT Fund) 

..,.. 

q_~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Director & CFO 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: April 30, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To The Unit holders of IRB lnvlT Fund 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of IRB lnvlT Fund 
(hereinafter referred to as "the Fund") and its subsidiaries (the Fund and its subsidiaries 
together referred to as "the Group"), which comprise the consolidated Balance Sheet as at 
March 31, 2024, the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive 
income), the consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' Equity and the consolidated 
Statement of cash flows for the year then ended, the consolidated Statement of Net Assets at 
fair value as at March 31, 2024, the consolidated Statement of Total Returns at fair value and 
the Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows ('NDCFs') of the Fund and each of its 
subsidiaries for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements 
including a summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory information 
(hereinafter referred to as "the consolidated financial statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and 
based on the consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements and on the 
other financial information of the subsidiaries, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give 
the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India {Infrastructure Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time including any guidelines and circulars 
issued thereunder, in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with Indian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in the Rule 2(1 )(a) of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2024, its 
consolidated profit and total comprehensive income, its consolidated movement of the unit holders' 
funds and its consolidated cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2024, its consolidated net 
assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024, its consolidated total returns at fair value and the net 
distributable cash flows of the Fund and each of its subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

Basis of Opinion 

We conducted our audit of consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing (SAs) issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our 
responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the !CAi's Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion on the consolidated financial statementsl~ 
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For 
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that 
context. 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be 
communicated in our report. We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's 
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, 
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements. The results of audit procedures performed by us and by other 
auditors of components not audited by us, as reported by them in their audit reports furnished to 
us by the management, including those procedures performed to address the matters below, 
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Sr.No. Key Audit Matter 

1 Assessing impairment of Intangible 
assets (note 3.18 and 4) 

The Group operates toll assets which is 
constructed on Build Operate and 
Transfer (BOT) basis. The carrying value 
of the toll collection rights as at March 31, 
2024 is Rs. 10,46,008.30 Lakhs. In 
accordance with its accounting policy and 
requirements under Ind AS 36 
"Impairment of Assets", the Management 
has performed an impairment assessment 
by comparing the carrying value of the toll 
collection rights to their recoverable 
amount. For impairment testing, value in 
use has been determined by forecasting 
and discounting future cash flows. 
Further, the value in use is highly 
sensitive to changes in critical variables 
used for forecasting the future cash flows 
including traffic projections and 
discounting rates. The determination of 
the recoverable amount of the toll 
collection right involves significant 
judgment and accordingly, the evaluation 
of impairment of toll collection rights has 
been determined as a key audit matter. 

Also, refer Note 4 to the consolidated 
financial statements 

How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 
Our audit procedures included the following: 

- Assessed the appropriateness of the 
Fund's valuation methodology applied 
in determining the recoverable 
amount. In making this assessment, 
we also evaluated the objectivity, 
independence and competency of 
specialists involved in the process. 

- Assessed, based on the report of 
external expert, the assumptions 
around the key drivers of the cash flow 
forecasts, discount rates, revenue 
projection based on the independent 
expert's traffic study reports after 
considering the impact on account of 
COVID-19 scenario, etc. 

- Assessed the appropriateness of the 
weighted average cost of capital used 
in the determining recoverable amount 
by engaging valuation expert. 

- Discussed/Evaluated potential 
changes in key drivers as compared to 
previous year / actual performance 
with management in order to evaluate 
whether the inputs and assumptions 
used in the cash flow forecasts were 
suitable, including considerations due 
to current economic and market 
conditions includino effects of COVID-
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3 

Toll revenue in respect of toll 
collection under the Service 
Concession Agreement 

The Group's right to collect toll under the 
concession agreement with National 
Highway (NHAI) Authority of India falls 
within the scope of Appendix C of Ind AS 
115, "Service Concession Arrangements". 
The Group operates and earns revenue 
by collecting toll on the road constructed. 
This involves cash collection and 
automated toll collection using customized 
equipment installed at the toll plazas for 
correctly identifying vehicle type, 
calculating fare and for appropriate billing 
and collection. The Group uses 
information technology systems for the 
related automated and IT dependent 
controls. 

Refer Note 3.7 and Note 21 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Provisioning for resurfacing expense 

As per the Concession Agreement, the 
Grouo is obliaated to carrv out resurfacina 

19 pandemic. 

Assessed the recoverable value 
headroom by performing sensitivity 
analysis of key assumptions used. 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy of 
the model. 

Our audit procedures included the following: 

Obtained an understanding of the 
processes and control placed for toll 
collection and evaluating the key 
controls around such process and 
testing those controls for the operating 
effectiveness. 

Checked a selection of Information 
Technology General Controls (ITGCs) 
supporting the integrity of the tolling 
system operation, including access, 
operations and change management 
controls. 

Verified the reconciliation of toll 
collection as per transaction report 
(generated from toll system) with cash 
deposited in bank and revenue 
recorded in the books. 

- Reviewed the management 
rationalization, by multiplying that toll 
rate charged for each category 
of vehicle as per NHAl's notification 
with the number of vehicles (as per 
Schedule M submitted with NHAI) and 
its reconciliation with the revenue 
recorded in accounts. 

- On test check basis, traced the daily 
collection from bank statement to daily 
cash toll collected and the revenue 
recorded in the books. 

- Performed analytics procedures on 
transactions to detect unusual 
transactions for further examination. 

- Performed revenue cut off orocedures. 
Our audit procedures included the following: 

- Understood the Group's process 
associated with the estimation of 
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of the roads. The Group estimates the 
provision required towards resurfacing in 
accordance with Ind AS 37 "Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets. The estimate made by the Group 
over the concession period involves 
detailed calculation and judgment. In view 
of the nature of provision and amount 
involved, the provision for resurfacing 
expense is considered to be a key audit 
matter. 

Refer Note 3.14, Note 16 and Note 38 to 
the consolidated financial statements. 

resurfacing obligation. 

Verified the requirement under 
Concession Agreement and Group's 
policies. 

Tested the 
determining 
provisions. 

assumption used in 
the resurfacing 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy and 
also verified the disclosure in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Our audit procedures include the following-Computation and disclosures as 
prescribed in the lnvlT regulations 
relating to Statement of Net Assets 
and Total Returns at Fair Value 

(As described in note 38 and in 
Statement of Net assets at fair value and 
Statement of total returns at fair value of 
the consolidated financial statements) 

- Read the requirements of SEBI lnvlT 
regulations for disclosures relating to 
Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value and 
Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value. 

As per the provisions of lnvlT 
Regulations, the Fund is required to 
disclose a Statement of Net Assets at Fair 
Value and Statement of Total Returns at 
Fair Value which requires fair valuation of 
assets. For this purpose, fair value is 
determined by forecasting and 
discounting future cash flows. The inputs r 
to the valuation models are taken from 
observable markets where possible, but 
where this is not feasible, a degree of 
judgement is required in establishing fair 
values. Judgements include 
considerations of inputs such as WACC, 
Tax rates, Inflation rates etc. 

Considering the importance of the 
disclosure required under the SEBI 
Regulations to the users of the 
consolidated financial statements, 
significant management judgement 
involved in determining the fair value of 
the assets of the Group, the aforesaid 
computation and disclosure has been 
considered as a key audit matter for the 
current year audit. 

Assessed the appropriateness of 
independent valuer's and management's 
valuation methodology applied in 
determining the fair values. 

Tested controls implemented by 
management to determine inputs for fair 
valuation as well as assumptions used in 
the fair valuation. 

We involved valuation specialists to: 

a) Assess the valuation reports issued by 
the independent valuer engaged by the 
management and compare key property 
related data used as input with actual 
data. 

b) Assess the key assumptions included in 
the cash flow forecasts by management 
and independent valuer, including 
considerations due to current economic 
and market conditions including effects 
of COVID-19 pandemic. 

c) Discuss changes in key drivers as 
compared to actual performance with 
management in order to evaluate 
whether the inputs and assumptions 
used in the valuation models by 
management and independent valuer 
were reasonable, including 
considerations due to current economic 



5 Classification of unit holders' funds as 
equity 
(as described in Note 38 of the 
consolidated financial statements) 

The lnvlT is required to distribute to 
Unitholders not less than ninety percent 
of its net distributable cash flows for each 
financial year. Accordingly, a portion of 
the unitholders' funds contains a 
contractual obligation of the Trust to pay 
to its Unitholders cash distributions. The 
Unitholders' funds could therefore have 
been classified as a compound financial 
instrument which contains both equity 
and liability components in accordance 
with Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: 
Presentation. However, in accordance 
with SEBI Master Circulars No. 
SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 
dated July 06, 2023 ("SEBI Circulars") 
issued under the lnvlT Regulations, the 
unitholders' funds have been classified as 
equity in order to comply with the 
mandatory requirements of Section H of 
Chapter 3 to the SEBI Circular dated July 
06, 2023 dealing with the minimum 
disclosures for key financial statements. 
Considering the judgment required for 
classification of unit holders' funds as 
equity and liability, this is considered as a 
key audit matter. 

and market conditions including effects 
of COVID-19 pandemic. 

>- Tested the arithmetical accuracy of 
computation in the Statement of Net Assets 
and Total Returns at Fair Value 

>- Read/Assessed the disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements for 
compliance with the relevant requirements 
of lnvlT Regulations. 

Our audit procedures included, among others: 

- We obtained and read the requirements for 
classification of financial liability and equity 
under Ind AS 32 and evaluated the 
provisions of SEBI Circulars for 
classification/presentation of unit holders' 
funds in the financial statements of an 
Infrastructure Investment Trust. 

- We read and assessed the disclosures 
included in the consolidated financial 
statements for compliance with the relevant 
requirements of lnvlT regulations 

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The management of !RB Infrastructure Private Limited ("Investment Manager") is responsible for 
the preparation of the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Management Discussion and Analysis, Investment Manager's Report including Annexures 
to Investment Manager's Report and Investment Manager's Information but does not include the 



consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Annual report is expected 
to be made available to us after the date of auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether such other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements, or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 
When we read the Annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we 
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Investment Manager is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position as at March 31, 2024, 
consolidated financial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated 
movement of the unit holders' funds and the consolidated cash flows for the year ended March 
31, 2024, its consolidated net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024, its consolidated total 
returns at fair value of the Fund and the net distributable cash flows of the Fund and each of its 
subsidiaries in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the 
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of 
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended read with the Securities 
and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended 
from time to time including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder (together referred to as 
the "lnvlT Regulations"). 

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for 
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for 
safeguarding of the assets of the up and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 
irregularities; the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments 
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance 
of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements by the management of the Fund, as aforesaid. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the 
Companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The respective Board of Directors of the Companies included in the Group are also responsible 
for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group. 



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the 
Group to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group of which we are the independent auditors, 
to express a opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the financial statements of such 
entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the 
independent auditors. For companies included in the consolidated financial statements, 
which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 



Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the consolidated financial statements that, 
individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably 
knowledgeable user of the financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative 
materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the 
results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Fund included in the consolidated 
financial statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Other matters 

We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information of 8 subsidiaries, whose 
financial statements reflect total assets of Rs. 12, 72,995.83 Lakhs and net assets of Rs. 
74,639.25 Lakhs as at March 31, 2024, total revenues of Rs. 1,14,851.63 Lakhs and net cash 
inflows amounting to Rs. 475.97 Lakhs for the year ended on that date, as considered in the 
consolidated financial statements before giving effect to elimination of intra-group transactions. 
These financial statements and other financial information have been audited by other auditors 
whose reports have been furnished to us by the management and our opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included 
in respect of these subsidiaries and our report in terms of lnvlT regulations, in so far as it relates 
to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based solely on the reports of the other auditors. 

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our reports on the Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to 
our reliance on the work done and reports of the other auditors. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Based on our audit and as required by lnvlT Regulations, we report that; 

a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit, 

b) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, and the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
including other comprehensive income dealt with by this report are in agreement with the 
books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements; and 



c) In our opmIon, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) 
of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, to the extent 
not inconsistent with lnvlT Regulations. 

d) There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Protection 
and Education Fund by the Fund. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's eg; No. 121750W/W100010 

Ram 
Partner 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Consolidated Balance sheet ns at March 31, 2024 

ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets 

Financial assets 
i) Investments 
ii) Other financial assets 

Total non-current assets 

Current assets 
Financial assets 

i) Investments 
ii) Cash and cash equivalents 
iii) Bank balances other than (ii) above 
iv) Loans 
v) Other financial assets 

Current tax assets (net) 
Other current assets 
Total current assets 

Total assets 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 
Unit capital 
Other equity 
Total equity 

Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 
ii) Other financial liabilities 

Provisions 
Other non-current liabilities 
Total non-current liabilities 

Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 
ii) Trade payables 

a) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and 
small enterprises 
b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than 
micro enterprises and small enterprises 

iii) Other financial liabilities 
Other current liabilities 
Provisions 
Current tax Liabilities (net) 
Total current liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Total equity and liabilities 

Summary of material accounting policies 

Notes 

4 

4 

5 
6 

5 
7 
8 
9 
6 
10 
II 

12 
13 

14 
15 
16 
17 

18 
19 

15 
17 
16 
20 

3 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

102.21 
I 0,46,008.31 

0.40 
1,13,286.67 

11,59,397.59 

13,781.33 
4,062.79 
7,727.46 

0.70 
65,542.97 

356.11 
6,523.62 

97,994.98 

12,57,392.57 

4,86, 168.85 
(94,669.44) 

3,91,499.41 

2,93,700.23 
4,54,751.16 

7,464.83 
12,434.85 

7,68,351.07 

11,164.12 

19.51 

1,730.65 

77,011.67 
871.58 

6,729.50 
15.06 

97,542.09 

8,65,893.16 
12,57,392.57 

Rs. in Lakhs 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

102.63 
10,69,052.69 

0.40 
1,16,684.68 

11,85,840.40 

18,499.74 
2,325.38 
1,275.76 

5.93 
33,424.85 

613.54 
9,916.52 

66,061.72 

12,51,902.12 

4,91,393.35 
(90,759.66) 

4,00,633.69 

2,92,935.86 
4,87,397.96 

6,306.80 
13,236.06 

7,99,876.68 

10,867.00 

14.38 

10,744.35 

27,331.58 
872.59 

1,561.85 

51,391.75 

8,51,268.43 
12,51,902.12 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Finn'~s@gno.121750W/WIOOOIO-,,--.,;: 

Ram 
Partner 
Membership no : I 02306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: Aoril 30. 2024 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB lnvlT Fund) 

... ~ 
'v--~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Director & CFO 
DIN: 08089312 

Place: Mumbai 
n~tP. • Anril io JO?.J. 

Swapna Vengurleka1 
Company Secretary 
Mem. No; A32376 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Income 

Revenue from operations 

Other income 

Total income 

Expenses 

Operating expenses 

Project management fees 

Employee benefits expense 

Insurance and security expenses 

Trustee fees 

Annual listing fees 

Investment management fees 

Depreciation and amoitisation expenses 

Finance costs 

Other expenses 

Total expenses 

Profit before tax 

Tax expenses 

Current tax (including tax adjustments related to earlier years) 

Deferred tax (MAT credit) 

Total tax expenses 

Profit after tax (A) 

Other comprehensive income 

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent years 

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or Joss in 
subsequent years 

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans (net of tax) 

Other comprehensive ineome/(loss) for the year, net of tax (8) 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax: (A+B) 

Profit for the year 

Attributable to: 

Unit holders 

Non-controlling interests 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
Attributable to: 

Unit holders 
Non-conlro!ling interests 

Earnings per unit 

- Basic 

- Diluted 

As per our report of even date attached 

Summary of material accounting policies 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Finn'sRegno.121750W/WI000I0 

Ram,~~~~ 
Pactn~• 

Membership no : I 02306 

Place : Mumbai 

Notes 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

47 

28 

3 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

1,06,208.21 

2,382.16 

1,08,590.37 

5.726.45 

7,831.00 

1,647.10 

143.19 

29.50 

82.22 

1,180.00 

22,952.02 

27,220.02 

3,346. I 7 

70,157.67 

38,432.70 

1,123.44 

1,123.44 

37,309.26 

(3.54) 

(3.54) 

37 305.72 

37,309.26 

37,309.26 

37,305.72 

37,305.72 

6.43 

6.43 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2023 

1,44,172.49 

2,010.41 

1,46,182.90 

52,499.22 

6,812.12 

1,662.60 

96.42 

29.50 

79.29 

1,180.00 

26,132.60 

19,258.04 

1,039.25 

1,08,789.04 

37,393.86 

473.35 
(37.51) 

435.84 

36,958.02 

(29.39) 

(29.39) 

36,928.63 

36,958.02 

36,958.02 

36,928.63 

36,928.63 

6.37 

6.37 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB lnvl'f Fund) 

f_~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Director & C'FO 

DIN, 08089312 

Place : Mumbai 

Swapna Vcngurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Mem. No: A32376 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Consolidated Statement of cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Particulars 

(A) Cash flow from operating activities 

Profit before tax 

Adjustment to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows: 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

Provision for resurfacing expenses 

Change in Fair value on mutual funds 

Extinguishmcnt of premium liability 

Gain on sale of Investments (net) 

Gain on sale of assets (net) 

Finance costs 

Interest income on fixed deposits 

Operating profit before working capital changes 

Movement in working capital: 

lncrease/(decrcase) in trade payables 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 
lncrease/(decrease) in other financial liabilities 
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 
Decreasel(increasc) in loans 
Dccrease/(increase) in other financial assets 
Dccrcase/(increase) in other current assets 
Cash generated from operations 
Taxes paid (net) 

Net cash flow from operating activities 

(B) Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of intangible assets 
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 
Consideration paid to Sponsor towards acquisition of project (refer note 40) 

Sale/( purchase) of current investments (net) 
Increase in balance with Escrow bank 
Acquisition/ Redemption of bank deposits (having original maturity of more than 
three months) (net) 

Interest received 

Net cash flow (used in) investing activities 

(C) Cash flows from financing activities 
Repayment of unit capital to the unit holders 
Proceeds from non-current borrowings 

Distribution to unitholders 

Repayment of non-current borrowings 

Finance costs paid 

Net cash flows used in financing activities 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (refer note 7) 

Components of cash and cash equivalents 
Balances with scheduled banks: 
- Escrow accounts 
- Current accounts 

Cash on hand 
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents (refer note 7) 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

38,432.70 

22,952.02 

7,822.74 

(307.33) 

(800.51) 

(21.64) 

26,052.24 

(503.64) 

93,626.58 

(9,008.57) 
(1,500.63) 
42,580.81 

(802.22) 
5.23 

(28,720.13) 
3,392.90 

99,573.97 

(850.91) 
98,723.06 

(18,600.74) 
114.43 

5,826.25 

(6,450.40) 

503.64 
(18,606.82) 

(5,224.50) 

(41,215.50) 
(10,869.23) 
(21,069.60) 
(78,378.83) 

1,737.41 
2,325.38 

4 062.79 

3,191.98 
828.64 
42.17 

4 062.79 

Rs. in Lakhs 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2023 

37,393.86 

26,132.60 

7,039.39 

(303.11) 

( 187.42) 

(897.36) 

18,634.73 

(33.69) 

87,779.00 

8,764.38 
(1,998.07) 
(8,720.41) 

(614.43) 
(2.02) 

(5,705.86) 
1,503.00 

81,005.59 

(94.26) 
80,911.33 

(64,839.65) 

(34,200.00) 

4,287.34 
64,701.32 

1,618.91 

37.31 
(28,394.77) 

( I 8,866.25) 
18,985.72 

(31,347.00) 
(5,425.00) 

(14,971.08) 
(51,623.61) 

892.95 
1,432.43 

2 325.38 

2,246.04 
43.68 
35.66 

2 325.38 



Reconciliation bch,·een opening and closing balances for liabilities arising from financing activities: 

(Rs. in Lakhs 

Particulars Borrowings 

31-Mar-22 L89 590.14 
Cash flow 

- Interest (14,971.08) 
~ On acouisition of asset 95,452.58 
~ Proceeds/ (Reoavmcnt) 13,560.72 

Transfer to borrowinvs 1,629.00 
Accrual for the vear 18,541.50 
31-Mar-23 3-03 802.86 
Cash flow 

- Interest (21,069.60) 
- On acnuisition of asset -
- Proceeds I {RPnavnient) (I 0,869.23) 

Transfer to borrowinu:s 6,848.00 
Accrual for the vear 26,152.32 
31-Mar-24 3,04.864.35 

Notes: 
1. All figures in bracket are outflow. 

2. The Consolidated cash flow statement has been prepared under Indirect Method as per Ind AS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows". 
3. Taxes paid are treated as arising from operating activities and are not bifurcated between investing and financing activities. 

Summary of material accounting policies (refer note 3) 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Finn's Reg no. 121750W/WI000!0 

Rames~U~~: 
Partn~a 

Membership no : I 02306 

Place : Mumbai 
Date: April 30, 2024 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB InvIT Fund) 

~/ 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Director & CFO 

DIN: 08089312 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: April 30, 2024 

Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 
Membership No: A323 76 



IRB lnvlT Fund 
Consolidated Statement of changes in unit holders equity for the year ended March 31, 2024 

a. Unit capital: 
At the beginning of the year 
Issued during the year 
Less: Capita! reduction during the year (refer note 46) 
At the end of the year 

b. Initial settlement amount 
At the beginning of the year 
Received during the year 
At the end of the year 

c. Other equity 

Retained earnings 

At the beginning of the year 
Profit/(loss) for the year 
Other comprehensive income 
Interest distribution"' (refer note 46) 
Dividend distribution"' (refer note 46) 
At the end of the year 

No of units 
Asat 

March 31, 2024 

58,05,00,000 4,91 ,393.35 

(5,224.50) 
58,05,00,000 4,86,168.85 

No of units 

58,05,00,000 

58,05,00,000 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

0.10 

0.10 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

(90,759.66) 
37,309.26 

(3.54) 
(39,474.00) 

(1,741.50) 
(94,669.44) 

Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

5,10,259.50 

(18,866.15) 
4,91,393.35 

(Rs. in Lakhs1 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

0.10 

0.10 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

(96,341.29) 
36,958.02 

(29.39) 
(31,347.00) 

(90,759.66) 

• Pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along with the distribution related to th~ last quarter ofFY 2022-23 and docs not include the 
distribution relating to the last quarter of FY 2023-24 which will be paid after March 31, 2024. 

Summaiy of material accounting policies (refer note 3) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

As per our repor! of even date 
For Surcsh Surann & Associates LLP 
Chanercd Accounlants 

:~::,ii~;:IV /IVJOOOlO 

Partn~ 
Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date : April 30, 2024 

For and on behalfoflRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB lnvIT Fund) 

1..,-....--

'2~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Director & CFO 
DlN: 08089312 

Place: Mumbai 
Date : April 30, 2024 

Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 
Membership No: A32376 



IRB JnvlT Fund 
Disclosure pursuant to SEBI master circular no.SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 6, 2023 
A. Consolidated statement of net assets at fair value: 

(Rs in Lakhs) 
As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023 

Particulars Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 
A. Assets 12,57,392.57 14,36,635.09 12,51,902.12 14,34,054.92 
B. Liabilities 8,65,893.16 8,65,893.16 8,51,268.43 8,51,268.43 
C. Net Assets (A - 8) 3,91,499.41 5,70,741.93 4,00,633.69 5,82,786.49 
D. Number of units (in lakhs) 5,805.00 5,805.00 5,805.00 5,805.00 
E. NAY (CID) 67.44 98.32 69.02 100.39 

Project wise break up of fair value of total assets: 

<Rs in Lakhs\ 

Name of the project As at As at 
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAA) 16,310.34 14,959.95 
IRB Taleoaon Amravati Tollwav Limited (IRBTA) 79,565.92 93,457.01 
IRB Jaiour Deoli Tollwav Limited llRBJD) 1,95,312.93 1,88,342.59 
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollwav Limited (IRBSD) 44,143.14 46,835.05 
IRB Tumkur Chitradurn:a Tollwav Limited (IRBTC) 7,54,394.56 7,67,851.24 
M.V.R Infrastructure and Tollwavs Limited (MVRl 31,353.34 55,041.18 
IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IRBPA) 2,04,398.39 1,78,215.26 
VKI Exoresswav Limited fYKl) 1,45,744.04 1,51,250.32 
Subtotal 14 71,222.68 14 95,952.61 
Assets in IRB InvIT Fund (34,587.59) (61,897.69' 
Total assets 14,36,635.09 14 34,054.92 

B. Consolidated statement of total returns at fair value : 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

Particulars As at As at 
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

Total comprehensive income (As oer the statement of profit and loss) 37,305.72 36,928.63 
Add/Less; other changes in fair value (e.g., in investment property, property, plant & 

1,79,242.52 1,82, 152.80 equipment (if cost model is followed)) not recognized in total comprehensive income 

Total Return 2,16,548.24 2,19,081.43 

Note: 

The fair value of investments in Project SPY's are computed on the basis of the fair value of the underlying Toll Collection Rights/ 
Financial asset as at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 along with the book values of other assets and liabilities accounted in 
respective Project SPY's financial statements as at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023. 

Fair value of assets as at March 31, 2024 and as at March 31, 2023 and other changes in fair value for the year then ended as disclosed 
in the above tables are derived based on the fair valuation reports issued by the independcni valuer appointed under the lnvIT 
Regulations. 

The fair value of assets has been derived basis a) the net assets as computed by the Independent valuer and b) the book value of 
liabilities has been considered as fair value of liabilities. 

Summary of Material accounting policies (refer note 3) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Finn's Reg no. 12l 750W/W!000I0 

J¼ 
Membership no : I 02306 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : April 30, 2024 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB Inv IT Fund) 

~ 
(/.~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Director & CFO 
DIN: 08089312 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : April 30, 2024 

Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 
Membership No: A32376 



IRB lnvIT Fund 

Disclosure pursuant to SEBI master circular no.SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 6, 2023 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of IRB Inv IT Fund 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Note: 

Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the fonn of Dividend 

Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above, including but 
not limited to interest/return on surplus cash invested by the Trust 

Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards the repayment (Net) of the 
debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust (Refer note 3 & 4) 

Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 

Less: 

Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level, including but 
not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager 

Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level 

Repayment of external debt 

Total cash outflows/ retention at the Trust level (B) 

Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

735.35 795.63 

9,014.92 I 8,893.37 

70,187.17 67,672.32 

(15,024.83) (12,880.49) 

(5,521.08) (5,425.00) 

(20,545.91) (18,305.49) 

49,641.26 49,366.83 

I) During the previous year, the embargo on the Escrow bank account for ITCTL \Vas uplifted as per the Interim order of the Hon'ble 
Arbitral Tribunal. However, the withdrawals pertaining to past periods towards debt servicing of Rs. 11, 193.00 lakhs (net of Rs. 4,402.39 
lakhs considered in earlier period) has not been considered in the above Net Distributable Cash Flow. The said accruals are utilised 
towards acquisition of VK 1 project. 

2) Excludes interest due but not received of Rs.1,895.35 lakhs ( Previous year Rs.3,539.11 lakhs) for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

3) Netted - off with long-tenn unsecured loan given to Project SPV's. (Refer RPT disclosures of standalone financial statements) 

4) The Trust has considered distribution of Rs. 30 lakhs received from SPY before finalization and adoption of accounts of the lnvIT. 



!RB Inv IT Fund 
Disclosure pursuant to SEBI master circular no. SEBJ/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/20231115 dated July 6, 2023 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAA) 

Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure {A) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and Joss/income and 
expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Mana er 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 

6 Add: Non-cash (income) I expenses 

7 Less:- NHAI Premium 

8 Less:- Principal repayment 
9 Total Adjustments (B) 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 

1,350.86 

(1,354.81) 

(1,354.81) 

(3.95) 

(2,575.66) 

2,623.86 

2,623.86 

48.20 



IRB Inv IT Fund 

Disclosure pursuant to SEBI master circular no. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 6, 2023 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (IRBSD) 

Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) (2,662.47) 290.31 

2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 
6,269.78 expenditure 

3 Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual 
cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add:- Interest paid to the Fund 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 

6 Add: Non-cash (income)/ expenses 2,693.31 395.05 
7 Less :- NHAI Premium 

8 Less:- Principal repayment 

9 Total Adjustments (B) 2,693.31 6,664.83 
10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 30.84 6,955.14 



IRB lnvIT Fund 
Disclosure pursuant to SEBI Master Circular no. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 6, 2023 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (IRBT A) 

Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 
expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 

6 Add: Non-cash (income)/ expenses 

7 Less :- NHAl Premium 

8 Less :- Principal repayment 
9 Total Adjustments (B) 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 

(Rs. In Lakhs) 

(2,147.12) (1,344.96) 

1,652.76 1,466.77 

6,680.20 6,069.64 

896.88 (1,272.84) 

0.01 0.05 

9,229.85 6,263.62 

7,082.73 4,918.66 



IRB lnvlT Fund 
Disclosure pursuant to SEBI Master Circular no. SEBI/IIO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 6, 2023 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

M.V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Limited (MVR) 

Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) 5,325.71 1,827.18 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 

3,802.32 3,439.52 expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash flows 
for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add:- lnterest paid to the Fund 2,355.45 4,860.09 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses (932.65) 830.52 
6 Add: Non-cash (income)/ expenses (37.50) 
7 Less :- NHAI Premium 

8 Less :- Principal repayment 

9 Total Adjustments (B) 5,225.12 9,092.63 
10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 10,550.83 10,919.81 



IRB lnvlT Fund 
Disclosure pursuant to SEBI Master Circular no. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 6, 2023 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IRBJD) 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) 

Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash flows for 
these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

Add: Interest paid to the Fund 

Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 

Add: Non-cash (income)/ expenses 

Less :- NHAI Premium 

Less :- Principal repayment 

Total Adjustments (B) 

Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 

(5,469.30) 

2,639.11 

14,760.86 

3,514.21 

987.80 

21,901.98 

16,432.68 

(4,613.10) 

2,370.65 

12,540.45 

3,003.60 

622.64 

18,537.34 

13,924.24 



!RB Inv IT Fund 
Disclosure pursuant to SEBI Master Circular no. SEBI/HOIDDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 6, 2023 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

!RB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IRBPA) 

Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) (13,975.69) (8,285.46) 

2 
Add: Depn .. >ciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 

3,341.30 2,729.07 
ex enditurc 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income (net of actual cash flows 
for these items), if deemed necessa b the Investment Mana er 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 17,454.18 13,942.30 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 1,662.26 1,420.74 

6 Add: Non-cash (income)/ expenses 3,605.98 1,560.93 

7 Less :- NHAI Premium 

8 Less :- Principal repayment 

9 Total Adjustments (B) 26,063.72 19,653.04 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 12,088.03 11,367.58 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Disclosure pursuant to SEBI Master Circular no. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 6, 2023 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (IRBTC) 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) 
Add: Depn .. -ciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 
expenditure 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash flows for 
these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 
Add: Interest paid to the Fund* 

Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 

Add: Non-cash (income)/ expenses 

Less > NHAJ Premium 

Less:- Principal repayment 

Total Adjustments (B) 

Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 

3,897.21 

10,005.83 

15,303.52 

1,160.00 

4,981.55 

(18,366.00) 

13,084.90 

16,982.11 

5,267.64 

8,725.45 

13,240.59 

1,313.23 

(187.42) 

(22,384.00) 

707.85 

5,975.49 

As per interim order of the Division Bench ofHon'ble High Court, withdrawals from Escrow account ofITCTL were not permitted till 
final order in the matter. During the year, the embargo on the Escrow bank account was uplifted as per the Interim order of the Hon 'ble 
Arbitral Tribunal. Kindly refer note 39 (c) for further details. 



IRB lnvIT Fund 

Disclosure pursuant to SEBI Master Circular no. SEBIIHOIDDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/20231115 dated July 6, 2023 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

VKI Expressway Limited (VKl) 

(Rs. In Lakhs) 

Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) 3.700.01 2,833.48 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 
ex enditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense/ non cash income (net of actual cash flows 

5,650.19 2,824.73 
for these items), if deemed necessa b the lnvestment Mana er * 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 2,212.42 902.28 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 

6 Add: Non-cash (income)/ expenses (3,989.38) (964.0)) 

7 Less:- NHAI Premium 

8 Less :- Principal repayment (5,348.15) 

9 Total Adjustments (B) (1,474.92) 2,762.98 

IO Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 2,225.09 5,596.46 

Acquired from IRBIDL vide Share Purchase agreement dated October 13, 2022. 

During the previous year ended March 31, 2023, VK l was obligated to create DSRA as per terms of agreement with the lenders and 
accordingly, funds are retained for the said purpose. 

* Includes Annuity received from the Authority 

SEBI has issued a circular dated December 6, 2023 bearing no. SEBVHOIDDHS/DDHS-PoDIPICIR/20231184 ("NDCF 
Circular") providing a revised indicative framework for computation of the net distributable cash flows ("NDCF") of an 
Inv!T. This revised framework shall be applicable with effect from April !, 2024 (i.e. Financial Year 2024-25 onwards). 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory information for the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

Sr. 

1. Nature of Operations 

The !RB lnv!T Fund (the "Fund" / "Trust") is a trust constituted by "The Indenture of Trust" 
dated October 16, 2015 registered under the Registration Act, 1908 and under the Securities 
Exchange Board oflndia (Infrastructure Investment Trust) Regulations, 2014. The Fund is settled 
by the Sponsor, !RB Infrastructure Developers Limited ("!RB" or the "Sponsor"), an 
infrastructure development company in India. The Trustee to the Fund is IDBI Trusteeship 
Services Limited (the "Trustee") and Investment manager for the Fund is lRB Infrastructure 
Private Limited (the "Investment Manager"). 

The Fund has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in 
India. All of the Fund's Road projects are implemented and held through special purpose vehicles 
("Project SPVs/ Subsidiaries"). 

The consolidated financial statements comprise of financial statement of !RB Inv IT Fund and its 
eight subsidiaries (collectively, "the Group") for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

The road projects included in the Fund's portfolio comprises as listed below:-

Extent of Extent of 
Principal 

Country of Control Control 

No. Subsidiary Name Nature of 
Incorporation as at as at 

activity March March 
31, 2024 31,2023 

I IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAA) Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
2 !RB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Infrastructure India 100% 100% 

(IRBTA) 
3 !RB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Infrastructure India 100% 100% 

!IRBJDl 
4 !RB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited Infrastructure India 100% 100% 

(IRBSD) 
5 IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Infrastructure India 100% 100% 

/JRBTC) 
6 M.V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Infrastructure India 100% 100% 

Limited (MVR\ 
7 !RB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Infrastructure India 100% 100% 

Limited (IRBPA) 
8 VKI Expressway Limited (Formerly Infrastructure India 100% 100% 

known as VKI Expressway Private 
Limited) /VKI l '" 

• Acquired vide Share Purchase agreement dated October 13, 2022 
'VKI was converted from Private Limited Company to Public Limited Company w.e.f April 27, 2023 

The registered office of the investment manager is IRB Complex, Chandivali Farm, Chandivali 
Village, Andheri- East, Mumbai - 400 072. 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with resolution 
passed by the board of directors of the investment manager on April 30, 2024. 



2. Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Indian 
Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, as amended, prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("Ind AS") 
read with SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended and the 
circulars issued thereunder ("Inv!T Regulations") and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the 
historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilities (refer accounting policy 
regarding financial instruments) which have been measured at fair value. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('INR') which is also the 
Group's functional currency and all values are rounded to the nearest lakhs, except when 
otherwise indicated. Wherever the amount represented '0' (zero) construes value less than Rupees 
five hundred. 

3. Summary of material accounting policies 

3.1. Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Fund and its 
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a Subsidiary acquired or disposed off 
during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group 
gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the Subsidiaries. 

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like 
transactions and other events in similar circumstances. 
The financial statements of each of the subsidiaries used for the purpose of consolidation are 
drawn up to same reporting date as that of the Group, i.e., year ended on 31 March. 

Consolidation procedure: 

1. Combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent 
with those of its subsidiary. For this purpose, income and expenses of the Subsidiaries are 
based on the amounts of the assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements at the acquisition date. 

ii. Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent's investment in each subsidiary and the 
parent's portion of equity of each subsidiary. Business combinations policy explains how to 
account for any related goodwill. 

iii. Eliminate in full intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 
relating to transactions between entities of the group (profits or losses resulting from 
intragroup transactions that are recognised in assets, such as inventory and fixed assets, are 
eliminated in full. lntragronp losses may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in 
the consolidated financial statements. Ind AS 12 - Income Taxes applies to temporary 
differences that arise from the elimination of m;ofits and losses resulting from intragroup 
transactions. tit~-;:~~ 
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iv. Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries consists of: 
a) The amount of equity attributed to non-controlling interests at the date on which 

investment in a Subsidiary came into existence; 
b) The non-controlling interest share of movement in equity since the date parent 

relationship came into existence; 
c) Non-controlling interest share of net profit/(loss) of consolidated Project SPV for the year 

is identified and adjusted against the profit after tax of the Group. 

Change in accounting policies and disclosures: 

The accounting policies adopted, and methods of computation followed are consistent with those 
of the previous financial year, except for items disclosed below: 

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Companies (Indian Accounting Standard) 
Amendment Rules 2023 dated 31 March 2023 to amend the following Ind AS which are effective 
from 1 April 2023. 

Ind AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 

An entity shall disclose material accounting policy information. Accounting policy information is 
material if, when considered together with other information included in an entity's financial 
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general 
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. 

Ind AS 8, Accounting policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
Definition of 'Change in Accounting Estimates' in account has heen replaced by revised 
definition of 'Accounting Estimate'. As per revised definition, accounting estimates are 
monetary amounts in the financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. An 
entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. 
Developing accounting estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the 
latest available, reliable information. 
An entity may need to change an accounting estimate if changes occur in the circumstances on 
which the accounting estimate was based or as a result of new information, new developments or 
more experience. By its nature, a change in an accounting estimate does not relate to prior periods 
and is not the correction of an error. 

There were certain amendments to standards and interpretations which are applicable for the first 
time for the year ended 31 March 2024, but either the same are not relevant or do not have an 
impact on the Consolidated financial statements of the Trust. The Trust has not early adopted any 
standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 

3.2. Business Combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at fair value on 
acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each 
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised 
at their acquisition date fair values. For this purpose, the liabilities assumed include contingent 
liabilities representing present obligation and they are measured at their acquisition fair values 
irrespective of the fact that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is not probable. 



Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest 
held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net 
assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses 
whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and 
reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If 
the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity 
as capital reserve. However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain purchase, the entity 
recognises the gain directly in equity as capital reserve, without routing the same through OCI. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units. 

A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impainnent annually, or 
more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the 
other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. 

Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised 
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash­
generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 
with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining 
the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 
relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

3.3. Asset acquisition 

The acquisition of an asset or a group of assets that does not constitute a business. In such cases 
the acquirer shall identify and recognise the individual identifiable assets acquired including those 
assets that meet the definition of, and recognition criteria for, intangible assets in Ind AS 38, 
Intangible Assets and liabilities assumed. The cost of the group is allocated to the individual 
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. 
Such a transaction or event does not give rise to goodwilli. 

3.4. Use of estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the results of operations during the reporting period end. 
Although these estimates are based upon management's best knowledge of current events and 
actions, actual results could differ from these estimates. 

3.5. Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current 
classification. 
An asset is treated as current when it is: 
- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or conSl!,.IIl.£~n normal operating cycle 
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading . · .. "':~,::"iJis~,;~ 
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- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 
- It is expected to be settled in nonnal operating cycle 
- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period. 
All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 
The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their 
realisation in cash and cash equivalents. TI1e Group has identified twelve months as its operating 
cycle. 

3.6. Fair value measurement 

The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet 
date. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 

liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circwnstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group detennines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 
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The Group's Management detennines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value 
measurement, such as derivative instruments and unquoted financial assets measured at fair value, 
and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for distribution in discontinued 
operations. 
At each reporting date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and 
liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Group's accounting 
policies. For this analysis, the Management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation 
by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant 
documents. 
The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with 
relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. 
On an annual basis, the Management of Investment Manager presents the valuation results to the 
Audit Committee and the Group's independent auditors. This includes a discussion of the major 
assumptions used in the valuations. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above. 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are 
given in the relevant notes. 

• Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions (note 33 and 38) 
• Financial instruments (including those canied at amortised cost) (note 33) 
• Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy (note 34) 

3. 7. Revenue recognition 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Group has concluded that it is 
the principal in its revenue arrangements because it typically controls the services before 
transferring them to the customer. 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the transaction price of the consideration received or receivable, 
excluding the estimates of variable consideration that is allocated to that performance obligation, 
taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties 
collected on behalf of the goverruuent. 

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised. 

Toll revenue 

The income from Toll Contracts on BOT basis are recognised on actual collection of toll revenue 
(net of revenue share payable to NHAI) as per Concession Agreement. Revenue from electronic 
toll collection is recognised on accrual basis. 

Toll collection charges 

Revenue is recognised on actual collection of toll revenue (net of amount paid to NHAI) as per 
the Supplementary agreement with NHAI. ..-="""' 
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Contract revenue (construction contracts) 

Contract revenue associated with the utility shifting incidental to construction of road are 
recognized as revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the projects at the balance sheet 
date. The stage of completion of project is determined by the proportion that contract cost 
incurred for work performed up to the balance sheet date bears to the estimated total contract 
costs. 

The Group's operations involve levying of goods and service tax (GST) on the construction work. 
GST is not received by the Group on its own account. Rather, it is tax collected on value added to 
the commodity by the seller on behalf of the government. Accordingly, it is excluded from 
revenue. 

Contract revenue from Hybrid Annuity Contracts 

Financial receivable is recorded at a fair value of guaranteed residual value to be received at the 
end of the concession period. This receivable is subsequently measured at amortised cost. In the 
financial assets model, the amount due from the grantor meet the identification of the receivable 
which is measured at fair value. 

Operation and maintenance contracts 

Revenue from maintenance contracts are recognised over the period of the contract as and when 
services are rendered. 

Claim Revenue 

Claims are recognised as revenue as per relevant terms of the concession agreement with the 
authority when it is probable that such claims will be accepted by the customer that can be 
measured reliably. 

Interest income 

For all debt instruments measured either at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). EIR is 
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected 
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. When calculating the 
effective interest rate, the Group estimates the expected cash flows by considering all the 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, extension, call and similar 
options) but does not consider the expected credit losses. Interest income is included in finance 
income in the statement of profit and loss. 

Dividends 

Revenue is recognised when the Group's right to receive the payment is established, which is 
generally when shareholders approve the dividend. 

3.8. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses if any. Cost comprises the purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the asset to 
its working condition for its intended use. Any trade discount or rebates are deducted in arriving 
at the purchase price. When significant arts of the plant and equipment are required to be 
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replaced at intervals, the Group depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. 
All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in statement of profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated on written down value method (WDV) using the useful lives as 
prescribed under the Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013 or re-assessed by the Group. 
The Group has estimated the following useful lives for its tangible fixed assets: 

Asset class Useful life 

Plant & Machinery 9 years - 15 years 
Office equipment 5 years 

Computers 3 years 
Servers 6 years 

Vehicles 8 years 
Furniture & fixtures 10 years 

Toll Eouinment 7 vears 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset ( calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the 
statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecognised. 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

3.9. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Toll Collection Rights 

Toll collection rights are stated at cost net of accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Cost includes: 
Toll Collection Rights awarded by the grantor against construction service rendered by the Project 
SPY on DBFOT basis - Direct and indirect expenses on construction of roads, bridges, culverts, 
infrastructure and other assets at the toll plazas. 

Premium Obligation 

As per the service concession agreement, the Group is obligated to pay the annual fixed amount 
of premium to National Highway Authorities oflndia (NHAI). l11is premium obligation has been 
capitalized as Intangible Asset given it is paid towards getting the right to earn revenue by 
constructing and operating the roads during the concession period. Hence, total premium payable 
as per the service concession agreement has been upfront capitalized at fair value of the obligation 
at the date of transition. 

Intangible assets are amortised over the period of concession, using revenue based amortisation as 
per Exemption provided in Ind AS 101. Under this method, the carrying value of the rights is 
amortised in the proportion of actual toll revenue for the year to projected revenue for the balance 
toll period, to reflect the pattern in which the assets economic benefits will be consumed. At each 
balance sheet date, the projected revenue for the balance toll period is reviewed by the 
management. If there is any change in the projected revenue from previous estimates, the 
amortisation of toll collection rights i~-9J1~nged prospectively to reflect any changes in the 
estimates. /;;:~~¼'-~~~-
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Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

Intangible assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. 

3.10. Taxes 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss is 
recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss (either in other comprehensive income or in 
equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI 
or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and 
establishes provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the 
reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except: 

When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss 

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent 
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 



The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at 
each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is recognised outside 
statement of profit and loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in 
equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority. 

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) 

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) paid as per Indian Income Tax Act, 1961 is in the nature of 
unused tax credit which can be carried forward and utilised when the Group will pay normal 
income tax during the specified period. Deferred tax assets on such tax credit is recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that the unused tax credit can be utilised in the specified future period. 
The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Goods and service tax paid on acquisition of assets or on incurring expenses 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service tax paid, except: 
When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax 
authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense item, as applicable. 

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net amount of tax 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables or payables in 
the balance sheet. 

3.11. Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 
which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to the 
extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs. 

3.12. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, 
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised , ~;~te asset, but only when 

r,,~i' -~;:\'o'~~ l~;}i ~ Oo -
'1::r: / 
! UJ Char!ered ~ 

\~t, Accounlanr}~ 



the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre­
tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

3.13. Premium Deferment 

Premium Deferral (i.e. premium payable less paid after adjusting premium deferment) is 
aggregated under premium deferred obligation in the balance sheet. The interest payable on the 
above is aggregated under premium deferral obligation. Interest on premium deferral is 
capitalised during the construction period and thereafter charged to the statement of profit and 
loss. 

3.14. Resurfacing expenses 

As per the Concession Agreement, the Group is obligated to carry out resurfacing of the roads 
under concession. Provision required for resurfacing expenses are measured at the present value 
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The 
discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to 
the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance cost. 

3.15. Contingent liabilities and Contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the 
control of the Group or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises 
in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be 
measured reliably. The Group does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence 
in the financial statements. 

A contingent asset is not recognised unless it becomes virtually certain that an inflow of economic 
benefits will arise. When an inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets are 
disclosed in the financial statements. 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. 

3.16. Retirement and other employee benefits 

Defined contribution plan 

Retirement benefits in the form of provident fund, Pension Fund and Employees state Insurance 
Fund are a defined contribution scheme and the contributions are charged to the Statement of 
profit and loss of the period when the employee renders related services. There are no other 
obligations other than the contribution payable to the respective authorities. 

Defined benefit plan 

The Group has maintained a Group Gratuity Scheme with M/s. Life Insurance Corporation of 
India (LIC) managed by a separate Trust, towards which it annually contributes a sum based on 
the actuarial valuation made by Mis. LIC. Gratuity liability for eligible employees are defined 
benefit obligation and are provided for on the basis of an actuarial valuation on projected unit 

& credit method made at the end of each financial year. Obligation is measured at the present value 
,<e-"'t\1' 4880 of estimated future cash flows using discounted rate that is determined by reference to market 
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yields at the balance sheet date on Govenunent Securities where the currency and terms of the 
Goverrunent Securities are consistent with the currency and estimated terms of the defined benefit 
obligation. 

Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses excluding amounts included in net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability are recognised immediately in the balance sheet with a 
corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur. 
Re-measurements are not reclassified to statement of profit and loss in subsequent periods. 

Past service costs are recognised in statement of profit and loss on the earlier of: 

- The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and 
- The date that the Group recognises related restructuring costs 

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 

The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation as an expense in 
the statement of profit and loss: 

- Service costs comprising cnrrent service costs, past-service costs, gams and losses on 
curtailments and non-routine settlements; and 
- Net interest expense or income 

Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undisclosed basis and are expensed 
as the related services are provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid 
i.e. under short-term cash bonus, if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employees, and the amount of 
obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Leave encashment 

The employee's compensated absences, which is expected to be utilised or encashed within the 
next twelve months, is treated as short term employee benefit. Accrual towards compensated 
absences at the end of the financial year is based on last salary drawn and outstanding leave 
absence at the end of the financial year. 

3.17. Financial instrument 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 
recorded at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss, directly attributable transaction cost 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular 
way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or 
sell the asset. 



Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in following categories; 
at amortised cost 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

Debt instruments at amortised cost 

A 'debt instrument' is measured at the amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting 
contractual cash flows, and 
b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premiwn on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The 
EIR amortisation is included in other income in the statement of profit or loss. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Debt instrument at FVTOCI 

A 'debt instrument' is classified at FVTOCI if both of the following criteria are met: 

a) The objective of the business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling the financial assets, and 
b) The asset's contractual cash flows represent SPPI. 

Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI category are measured initially as well as at each 
reporting date at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in the other comprehensive 
income (OCI). However, the Group recognizes interest income, impairment losses & reversals 
and foreign exchange gain or loss in the Statement of profit and loss. On de-recognition of the 
asset, cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from the equity to 
Statement of profit and loss. Interest earned whilst holding FVTOCI debt instrument is reported 
as interest income using the EIR method. 

Debt instrument at FVTPL 

FVTPL is a residual category for debt instruments. Any debt instrument, which does not meet the 
criteria for categorization as at amortized cost or as FVTOCI, is classified as at FVTPL. 

In addition, the Group may elect to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise meets amortized 
cost or FVTOCI criteria, as at FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only if doing so reduces 
or eliminates a measurement or recognition inconsistency (referred to as 'accounting mismatch'). 
The Group has designated certain debt instrument as at FVTPL. 

Debt instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes 
recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

Equity investments 

ll equity investments in scope of Ind AS I 09 are measured at fair value. Equity instruments 
hich are held for trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Group 



may make an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes 
in the fair value. The Group makes such election on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable. 

If the Group decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes on 
the instrument, excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCL There is no recycling of the 
amounts from OCI to statement of profit and loss, even on sale of investment However, the 
Group may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. 

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

De-recognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Group of similar 
financial assets) is primarily de-recognised (i.e. removed from the Group's balance sheet) when: 

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
- The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 
'pass-through' airnngement; and either (a) the Group has.transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards 
of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement In that case, the Group also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured 
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

3.18. Impairment of assets 

Impairment of financial assets 

Expected credit losses are recognized for all financial assets subsequent to initial recognition 
other than financial assets in FVTPL category. 

For financial assets other than trade receivables, as per Ind AS 109, the Group recognizes 12 
month expected credit losses for all originated or acquired financial assets if at the reporting date 
the credit risk of the financial asset has not increased significantly since its initial recognition. The 
expected credit losses are measured as lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on financial 
assets increases significantly since its initial recognition. 

The impainnent losses and reversals are recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss. 



Trade Receivables 

The Group has evaluated the impairment provision requirement under Ind AS 109 and has listed 
down below major facts for trade and other receivables impairment provisioning: 

Trade receivable from NHAI are considered to be good and there are neither been any past 
instances of default and also management doesn't expect any default in case of Group receivables. 

Other Financial Assets mainly consists of Loans to employees and Security deposits and other 
deposits, interest accrued on Fixed deposits, loans to related party, Retention money receivable 
from NHAI, Grant receivable from NHAI and other receivables and advances measured at 
amortised cost. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 
Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or Group's assets. When the 
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, m the case of loans and 
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Groups financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including 
bank overdrafts, financial guarantee contracts and derivative fmancial instruments. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered 
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined 
by Ind AS 109. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 



Loans and borrowings 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in Statement of profit and 
loss when the liabilities are de-recognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premiwn on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs 
in the statement of profit and loss. 

Financial guarantee contracts 

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be 
made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a 
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee 
contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the 
higher of the amount of loss allowance determined as per impairment requirements oflnd AS I 09 
and the amount recognised less cumulative amortisation. 

Retention money payable 

Retention money payable is measured at fair value initially. Subsequently, they are measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in Statement of Profit and 
Loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Reclassification of financial assets 

The Group determines classification of financial assets and liabilities on initial recognition. After 
initial recognition, no reclassification is made for financial assets which are equity instruments 
and financial liabilities. For financial assets which are debt instruments, a reclassification is made 
only if there is a change in the business model for managing those assets. Changes to the business 
model are expected to be infrequent. The Group's senior management determines change in the 
business model as a result of external or internal changes which are significant to the Group's 
operations. Such changes are evident to external parties. A change in the business model occurs 
when the Group either begins or ceases to perform an activity that is significant to its operations. 
If the Group reclassifies financial assets, it applies the reclassification prospectively from the 
reclassification date which is the first day of the immediately next reporting period following the 
change in business model. The Group does not restate any previonsly recognised gains, losses 
(including impairment gains or losses) or interest. 



The following table shows various reclassification and how they are accounted for: 

Original Revised classification Accounting treatment 
classification 
Amortised cost FVTPL Fair value is measured at reclassification date. 

Difference between previous 
amortized cost and fair value is recognised in 
Statement of nrofit and loss. 

FVTPL Amortised cost Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new gross carrying amount. EIR is calculated 
based on the new crross carrvino: amount 

Amortised cost FVTOCI Fair value is measured at reclassification date. 
Difference between previous amortised cost 
and fair value is recognised in OCI. No change 
in EIR due to reclassification. 

FVTOCI Amortised cost Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new amortised cost carrying amount. However, 
cumulative gain or loss in OCI is adjusted 
against fair value. Consequently, the asset is 
measured as if it had always been measured at 
amortised cost. 

FVTPL FVTOCI Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new carrying amount. No other adjustment is 
required. 

FVTOCI FVTPL Assets continue to be measured fair value. 
Cumulative gain or loss previously recognized 
in OCI is reclassified to Statement of profit and 
loss at the reclassification date. 

De-recognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the tenns of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously. 

3.19. Contributed Equity 

Units are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the issue of units are directly 
recorded in equity, net of tax. 

3.20. Distribution to unit holders 



authorised when it is approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager. A 
corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity. 

3.21. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered 
an integral part of the Group's cash management. 

3.22. Earnings Per Unit (EPU) 

Basic earnings per unit are calcnlated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unit 
holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the weighted average numbers of units 
outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units. 

3.23. New pronouncements issued but not effective 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") notifies new standards or amendments to the existing 
standards under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For 
the year ended March 31, 2024, MCA has not notified any new standards or amendments to the 
existing standards applicable to the Group. 
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: 4 : Property, plant 11nd equipment 

P11rticu!ars 

Gross Block 
Opening Balance 
Additions 
Deletion 1 a9i.ustmcnt 
Closin:i Bala11cc 

Deprcciafion 
Opening Balance 
Additions 

Del~tion! ad.iustment 
Closlng Babnu 
N~I Block 

lntanµible imct~ 
Partirnlars 

Gross Block 
Opening Balance 
Additions 
De!etion1 A4j_us1ment 
Closln_g_ Balance 

Deprcclalilln 
Opening Balance 
Additions 
Deletion/ Adj_ustment 

Clo~ln.s. Babrn:e 

Net Block 

Note.,: 
Toll Collection Rights includes toll equipments 

Intangible assets under development 

Particulars 

Opening balance 
:\dditicms dining the year 
Capitalised 4urini: the year 
Tolal 

umd 

A! st 
Matth31,2024 

98.6! 

98.61 

98.61 

Asat 
MarchJl,2023 

98,6! 

98.61 

98.61 

Tl!U CoUedlon Rl,Khts 

Asal 
March31.2024 

5.12.513.88 

114.43 
5,12,399.46 

52,801.18 
!3,256.48 

21.65 
66,036.01 

4_,:l§,_363.45 

Asal 
March 31, 20?3 

7.37.405.92 
144.22 

2,25,036.26 
5,12,.,<;JJ.88 

2.61,930.0! 
! S.907.44 

2,25.036.26 
52,801.18 

4,59,712.70 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

Asat A~al 
March3l,20U l\larchJl,2023 

142.98 

!42.98 

Intangible ,usels {Work In Progren). Cnsl have not exc~ded and compktlon Is no! overdue. 

Casi irn:11rrcd dc111ils 

Less chan ! year 
1-2 Years 
2-3 Years 
More than 3 years 

Particulars 

{lb. in Lllkhs) 
Asal As Pt 

!\larch 31. 2024 March 31. 2023 

Plant and machine.!r Officee~meuts ComEuler Vehidc5 Fnml1urt and fixture 

Asat Ailll &~ Mal M~ ~at M11I ~~ Mat Asar 
March 31. 2024 March 31, 2023 J\brch 31, !024 MatthJl,2023 MarchJl,2024 Mun:h31,2023 March3l,2024 J\bn:h3l,2023 MarchJl.2024 J\fareh3l,2023 

4.67 4.67 2.28 7.92 1.47 2.42 !.35 !.35 ,J.06 6.07 

0.!5 5.64 0.95 2.00 
4.67 4.67 2.13 2.28 1.47 1,47 I.JS 1..3!'> 4,06 4.06 

3.43 3.10 !.46 4,67 L20 !.79 0.67 0,67 3.06 4.25 
0.26 0.33 0.04 0.14 0.01 0.11 0.17 

0.!4 3.35 0.60 U6 
3.69 3.43 1.36 1.46 uo 1.20 0.67 0.67 3.17 3.06 
0.98 l.24 0.78 0.83 0.27 0.27 0.68 0,68 o.90 1,01 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
Premium lo NIIAf Total 

A~ Bl As itt An< Asat 
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 J\latth 31, 2024 March 31. 2023 

6,67,304.55 6,67.304.55 l!.79,818.43 14.04,7\0,47 
144.22 

! 14.43 2,25.036.26 
6.67,304.55 6,67,304.55 11,79.704.01 tl,79Jll8.43 

57,964.55 47,740.04 l,!0,765,74 3,09,670.05 
9,695.13 !0.214.Sl 22.951.6! 16,131.95 

21.65 2,25.036.26 
67,659.68 57,964.55 1,33,695.70 1,10,765.74 

5.J)~,644.~ 6,09,339.99 10,46,008-11 10,69,052.69 

·< 
r:;~: g,1 

~ 

·~~)~l 

_!!ts. in L~~hs) 
Totul 

As111 
March31,2024 

112.44 

0.!5 
II2.29 

9.Sl 
0.41 
0,14 

10.08 
l0Z.21 

A:ial 
Matth31,2023 

121.03 

8.59 
112.44 

14.48 
0,65 
5.31 
9.81 

102.63 



IRB lnvlT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Note 5: Investments 

A) Non - current investments 

Investments in Government or trust securities 
(unquoted) (at amortised cost) 
National saving certificates 

Total (A) 

B) Current investments 

Investments at fair value through Profit & Loss 
Investments in mutual fund (quoted) 
Aditya Birla Sun Life Liquid Fund 
18,761.02 units@ Rs.389.68 (March 31, 2023 : 31,189.92 units@ Rs.363.08) 
Aditya Birla Sun Life Saving Fund * 
26,624. I 8 units@ Rs.506.20 (March 3 I, 2023 : 24,339.56 units@Rs.470.36) 
SBI Overnight Direct Growth Fund 
116,107.61 units@ Rs.3,895.78 (March JI, 2023: 268,294.37 units@Rs.3,649.25) 
SBI Liquid Growth Fund 
98,391.68 units@Rs.3,779.28 (March JI, 2023: 87,207.01 units@Rs.3,523.30) 
SBI Magnum Low Duration Fund Direct Plan * 
1,61,691.84 units@ Rs.3,297.42 (March 3 I, 2023 : 1,76,462.90 units@ Rs.3,065.09) 

* ((Mutual fund held for DSRA Rs. 5,466.43 lakhs (March 31, 2023: Rs. 5,523.20 lakhs)] 

Total (B) 

Total (A+B) 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 
Market value of quoted investments 
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

0.40 
0.40 

73.11 

134.77 

4,523.29 

3,718.50 

5,331.66 

13,781.33 

13 781.73 

13,781.33 
13,781.33 

0.40 

Rs. in Lakhs 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

0.40 
0.40 

I 13.25 

I 14.46 

9,790.72 

3,072.57 

5,408.74 

18,499.74 

18 500,14 

18,499.74 
18,499.74 

0.40 



JRB lnvlT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 

As at March 31, 2024 

Note 6 : Other financial assets 
Receivable from government authorities (NHAl) 
Interest accrued on fixed deposits 
Retention money receivables 
Other receivables 
Security and other deposits 
Total 

Note 7 : Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash on hand 
Balances with banks: 

- on current accounts 
- on escrow accounts 

Total 
* Escrow account as hypothccated against secured loan 

Note 8 : Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalent 
- Unpaid distribution accounts 
- Original maturity of less than 3 Months * 
- Original maturity of more than 3 months but less than 12 months** 
- Original maturity of more than 12 months** 

Total 
* Lien marked by bank 

Current 

59,127.86 
94.83 

5,474.30 
767.10 

78.88 
65,542.97 

** Includes DSR.A fixed deposit amounting to Rs. 6,932 lakhs (March 31, 2023: Rs. 483 lakhs) 

Note 9 : Loans 
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Loans to employees 
Total 

Note 10 : Current tax assets (net) 
Advance income-tax (net of provision for tax of Rs. Nil, March 31, 2023 : 
Rs. 488.80 lakhs) 

Total 

Note 11 : Other current assets 
Prepaid expenses 
Duties and taxes receivables 
Total 

Non~current 

1, 13,286.67 

1,13,286.67 

fRs. in Lakhs} 
As at March 31, 2023 

Current 

32,297.34 
6.78 

410.69 
630.89 
79.15 

33,424,85 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

42.17 

828.64 
3,191.98 
4 062.79 

35.16 

723.00 
6,486.30 

483.00 
7 727.46 

0.70 

0.70 

356.11 

356.11 

18.03 
6,505.59 
6 523.62 

Non-current 

1,16,684.68 

1,16,684.68 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

35.66 

43.68 
2,246.04 
2 325.38 

33.86 
723.00 

518.90 

1 275,76 

5.93 

5.93 

613.54 

613.54 

19.41 
9,897.11 
9 916.52 
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Note 12: Equity 

I. Unit capital 
a. Issued, subscl"ibed and fully paid up unit capital 
580,500,000 (March 31, 2023: 580,500,000) units 
b. Initial settlement amount 
At the end of the year 

Rights of Unit holders 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

4,86,168.75 

0.10 
4,86,168.85 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

4,91,393.25 

0.10 
4,91,393,35 

Subjt..-ct to the provisions of the Inv IT Regulations, the Indenture of Fund, and applicable rules, regulations and guidelines, the rights of the unit holders include: 

a) right to receive income or distributions with respect to the units held; 

b) right to attend the annual general meeting and other meetings of the unit holders of the Fund; 

c) right to vote upon any matters/resolutions proposed in relation to the Fund; 

d) right to receive periodic infonnation having a bearing on the operations or performance of the Fund in accordance with the Inv IT Regulations; and 

c) right to apply to the Fund to take up certain issues at meetings for unit holders approval. 

In accordance with the Inv IT Regulations, no unit holders shall enjoy supCJior voting or any other rights over any other unit hold1..•rs, and there shall not be multiple classes 
of units. TI1ere shall be only one denomination of units. Notwithstanding the above, subordinate units may be issued only to the Sponsor and its Associates, where such 
subordinate units shall cany only inferior voting or any other rights compared to the other units. 

Limitation to the Liability of the unit holders 

The liability of each unit holders towards the payment of any amount (that may arise in relation to the Fund including any taxes, duties, fines, levies, liabilities, costs or 
expenses) shall be limited only to the extent of the capital contribution of such unit holders and after such capital contribution shall have been paid in full by the unit 
holders, the unit holders shall not be obligated to make any further payments. The unit holders(s) shall not have any personal liability or obligation with respect to the Fund. 

II. Reconciliation of the number of units outstanding and the amount of unit capital: 

At the beginning of the year 
Issued during the year 
Less: Capital reduction during the ye.ar (refer note 46) 
At the end of the year 

Details of unit holders holding more than 5% units: 

!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 
GovLmment Of Singapore 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Trustee Private Limited A/C Aditya Birla 
Sun Life Equity Hybrid '95 Fund 

Details of Sponsor units 

JRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

Note : 13 : Other equity 

Retained earnings 
At the beginning of the year 
Profit/(loss) for the year 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 

Re•measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans 
Interest distribution (refer note 46) 
Dividend distribution (refer note 46) 
At the end of the year 

As at March 31, 2024 

No. of units 
Amount Rs. in 

lakhs 
58,05,00,000 4,91,393.25 

5,224.50 
58,05,00,000 4,86,168.75 

As at March 31, 2024 

No, of units 

9,27,05,000 
4,30,27,500 
3,11,17,089 

% Holding 

15.97% 
7.41% 
5.36% 

As at March 31, 2024 
No. of units 

9,27,05,000 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

(90,759.66) 
37,309.26 

(3.54) 
(39,474.00) 
(1,741.50) 

(94,669.44) 

% Holding 
15.97% 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

(96,341.29) 
36,958.02 

(29.39) 
(31,347.00) 

(90,759.66) 

As at March 31, 2023 

No. of units 
Amount Rs. in 

lakhs 
58,05,00,000 5,10,259.50 

18,866.25 
58,05,00,000 4,91,393,25 

As at March 31, 2023 

No, of units 

9,27,05,000 
4,39,77,500 
3,71,00,000 

% Holding 

15.97% 
7.58% 
6.40% 

As at March 31, 2023 
No. of units % Holding 

9,27,05,000 15.97% 
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Note: 14 : Borrowings 
Non-current borrowings 

Term loans (Secured) 
Indian rupee loan from banks 
Less : current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date 

Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 
Less : current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date 

Less: Unamortised transaction cost 

From other parties (secured) 
Deferred premium obligation 

Interest payable on premium defem1ent 

Total 

1. Indian rupee Joan from banks/ financial institutions 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

2,21,505.22 
(11,069.05) 

2,10,436.17 

18,706.00 
(94.00) 

18,612.00 

(939.55) 

40,542.45 

25,049.16 

2,93, 700.23 

(Rs. in Lakbs) 
As at 

March 31, 2023 

2,32,280.45 
(10,773.00) 

2,21,507.45 

18,800.00 
(94.00) 

18,706.00 

(1,039.65) 

33,694.45 

20,067.61 

2,92,935.86 

i) Secured by pari pasu charge on escrow account and on receivable of fund arising out of principal and interest payment of the loans by 
Fund to subsidiaries. 

ii) Pledge of shares held of 51 % of share holding in the total paid-up equity share capital of !RB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited, !RB 
Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited and VKI Expressway Limited. 

iii) Exclusive charge on the DSRA accounts created for the respective facility. 
iv) Interest rates on Indian rupee loan carries weighted average interest rate of8.6% p.a. (Previous year: 7.8% p.a.). The Indian rupee loans 
from banks/ financial instititutions is repayable in unstructured quarterly/ half yearly instalment as per the repayment schedule specified in 
loan agreement with the Lenders. 

2. Deferred premium obligation 

National Highways Authority of India has approved defennent of premium obligation which carries interest rate @ 2% above the RBI 
bank rate. Bank guarantee has been provided to NHAI. The repayment is in accordance with the cash surplus accruing to the Company 
over the concession period. 

There have been no breaches in the financial covenants with respect to borrowings. 
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Rs. in Lakhs 
As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023 

Current Non-current Current Non-current 
Note 15 : Other financial liabilities 

Premium obligation/ negative grant to NHAI 25,798.80 4,53,054.67 18,700.83 4,85,701.48 
Unclaimed distribution 35.16 33.86 
Deposits 1.33 1.60 
Retention money payable 1,035.39 702.97 
Revenue share payable 2,652.50 2,196.01 

Employee benefits payable 144.54 123.36 
Other payable 47,343.95 5,572.95 
Capital creditors 1,696.49 1,696.48 

Total 77,011.67 4,54,751.16 27,331.58 4,87,397 .96 

Note 16: Provisions 
Provision for employee benefits 
- Leave encashment 16.56 7.90 
- Gratuity (refer note 44) 50.13 33.85 
Others 

Resurfacing expenses * 6,712.94 7,414.70 1,553.95 6,272.95 

Total 6,729.50 7,464.83 1,561.85 6,306.80 

* The above provisions are based on current best estimation of expenses that may be required to fulfil the resurfacing obligation as 
per the service concession agreement with regulatory authorities. It is expected that significant portion of the costs will be incurred 
over the years. The actual expense incurred may vary from the above. No reimbursements are expected from any sources against the 
above obligation. 

The movement in resurfacing expenses is as follows : 

Particulars 

Opening balance 

Add: Provision made during the year 

Less: Utilised during the year 

Total 

Note 17 : Other Current liabilities 
Deterred revenue 
Duties and taxes payable 

Total 

Particulars 

Note: 18: Borrowings 
Current maturities oflong-tenn borrowings 

- Indian rupee loan from banks 

- Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 

Interest accrued on borrowings 

Note : 19 : Trade payables 
(a) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 
enterprises (refer note 32) 

(b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro 
and small enterprises * 

Total 
* For related party balances, kindly refer note 43 

As at March 31, 2024 
Current Non-current 

749.03 12,434.85 
122.55 
871.58 12 434.85 

Trade payables are non~intercst bearing and are normally settled on 90 day tenns. 

Note 20 : Current tax Liabilities (net) 
Provision for current tax (net of advance tax ) 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

7,826.90 

7,822.74 

(1,522.00) 

14 127.64 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

2,531.65 

7,039.39 
(1,744.14) 

7 826.90 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
As at March 31, 2023 

Current 

712.02 
160.57 
872.59 

As at 
March 31 2024 

11,069.05 

94.00 

1.07 

11,164.12 

19.51 

1,730.65 

I 750.16 

15.06 

Non-current 

13,236.06 

13 236.06 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
As at 

March 31 2023 

10,773.00 

94.00 

10,867.00 

14.38 

10,744.35 

10 758.73 
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Note 21 : Revenue from operations 

Income arising out of tol1 collection (net of revenue share paid to NHAI) 
Toll collection charges (net of additional revenue share paid to NHAJ) 
Contract revenue (utility shifting) 
Interest income on annuity 
Operation and maintenance revenue 
Other operating income 
Total 

Disaggregated revenue information 
The table below presents disaggregated revenue from contracts with customers 

Income from services (Revenue from contracts with Customers) 
Services transferred over time 
Income from toll collection 
Contract revenue (Utility shifting) 
Interest income on annuity 
Operation and maintenance revenue 
Toll collection charges 
Revenue from contracts with customers 
Other operating revenue 
Other operating income 
Total revenue from operation 

Performance obligation 
Income from toll collection 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

91,387.47 
139.63 
34.56 

13,146.03 
961.00 
539.52 

1,06,208.21 

91,387.47 
34.56 

13,146.03 
961.00 
139.63 

1,05,668,69 

539.52 
1,06,208.21 

(Rs. in Lakhs 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2023 

90,190.51 
128.96 

4,536.78 
6,151.65 

576.66 
42,587.93 

1,44,172,49 

90,190.51 
4,536.78 
6,151.65 

576.66 
128.96 

1,01,584.56 

42,587.93 
1,44,172.49 

The perfonnance obligation in service of toll collection is recorded as per rates notified by NHAI and approved by 
management and payment is generally due at the time of providing services. 

Contract revenue 
The perfonnance obligation under contractual agreements is due on completion of work as per terms of contracts. 

Contract balances 

Contract assets • 

Amount include toll receivable 

Contract Liabilities 
Contract liabilities 

1,78,655.93 

1,78,655.93 

2,652.50 
2,652.50 

There are no reconciling items in the revenue recognised in the statement of profit and loss with contracted price. 

Note 22 : Other income 

Interest income on 
~ Bank deposits 
- Others 
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (net) 
Profit on sale of investments (net) 
Change in fair value on mutual funds 
Other non operating income 
Total 

Note 23 : Operating expenses 

Operation and maintenance expenses 
Site and other direct expenses 
Total 

503.64 
746.30 

21.65 
800.51 
307.33 

2.73 
2,382.16 

5,344.16 
382.29 

5,726.45 

1,50,689.45 

1,50,689.45 

2,196.01 
2,196.01 

33.69 
48.87 

897.36 
303.11 
727.38 

2 010,41 

51,832.54 
666.68 

52 499.22 
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Note 24: Employee benefits expense 

Salaries, wages and bonus 
Contribution to provident and other funds 
Gratuity expenses 
Staff welfare expenses 
Total 

Note 25 : Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 
Amortisation on intangible assets 
Total 

Note 26 : Finance costs 

Interest expense 
- Banks and financial institutions 
- Premium deferment 
- Unwinding of discount on provision'of MMR 
Other finance costs (Including unamortised transaction cost) 
Total 

Note 27 : Other expenses 
Rent 
Rates and taxes 
Travelling and conveyance 
Communication cost 
Printing and stationel)' 
Advertisement expenses 
Directors sitting fees (including OST) 
Corporate Social Responsibilities (refer note 41) 
Legal and professional expenses 
Payment to Auditor (including GST) 
Bank charges 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 
Miscellaneous expenses 
Total 

Payment to auditor (including GST) 
As auditors: 
- Statutory audit fees 
- Limited review fees 
- Tax audit fees 
In other capacity; 
- Other services ( certification fees) 
Reimbursement of expenses 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

I ,395.26 
91.70 
26.53 

133.61 
1,647.10 

0.41 
22,951.61 
22,952,02 

21.070.68 
4,981.56 
I ,048.27 

119.51 
27,220.02 

3.98 
15.28 
2.85 
1.03 

0.15 
30.07 

113.70 
859.04 

43.31 
3.92 
O.Ql 

2,272.83 
3 346.17 

20.03 
16.34 
2.12 

2.72 
2.10 

43.31 

(Rs. in Lakhs 

For the year 
ended 

March 3 I, 2023 

I ,391.85 
100.77 
24.59 

145.39 
1 662.60 

0.65 
26,131.95 
26,132.60 

14,832.78 
3,801.95 

561.11 
62.20 

19 258.04 

3.82 
5.74 
2.27 
0.99 
0.31 
7.91 

21.83 
56.00 

896. 13 
34.53 

5.13 

4.59 
1,039.25 

15.04 
13.86 

1.42 

2.75 
1.46 

34.53 
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Note 28 : Earnings per unit (EPlJ) 

The following: reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPU computations: 

Profit/ (loss) attributable to Unit holders for basic and diluted earnings 
Weighted average number of Units in calculating basic and diluted EPU 
Basic earning per Unit (Rupees/unit) 
Diluted earning per Unit (Rupees/unit) 

Note 29: Components of other comprchensh·e income 

The disaru,>regation of changes to OCI by each type of reserve in equity is shown below: 

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans (Refer note 44) 
Total 

Note 30 : Commitment and Contlni;?;cnt liability 

a. Commitments 

a} Commitment for acquisition oftoll equipment & machineries 
b) Other commitments 

b. Contingent liability 
Contingent liabilities not provided for 

There arc no contingent liabilities as as March 31, 2024 (March 31, 2023· Nil). 

l'or the year 
ended 

March 31, 2024 
37,309.26 

58,05,00,000 
6.43 
6.43 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2024 
(3.54) 
(3.54) 

As at 
Man:h 31, 2024 

{Rs. in Lakhs) 
For the year 

ended 
March 31, 2023 

36,958.02 
58,05,00,000 

6.37 
6.37 

(Rs. in Lakhs} 
For the year 

ended 
March 31, 2023 

(29.39) 
(29.39) 

(Rs. In Lakhs} 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

i) The Group's pending litigations comprise of claims against the Group primarily by the commuters and regulators. The Group has reviewed all its pending litigations and 
proceedings and has adequately provided for where provisions arc required. The Group has not provided for or disclosed contingent liabilities for matters considered as remote 
for pending litigations/public litigations(PIL)/claims wherein the management is confident, based on the internal legal assessment and advice of its lawyers that these litigations 
would not result into any liabilities. The Group does not e:,;pect the outcome of these proceedings lo have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

ii) There arc numerous interpretative issues relating to the Supreme Court (SC) judgement on Provident fund dated 28th February, 2019. Management believt.>d and evaluated that 
the impact is not material. The Group will update its provision, on receiving further clarity on the subject. 

Note 31 : Segment reporting 

The Group's activities comprise of Toll Collection in va1ious parts oflndia. Based on the guiding principles given in Ind AS - 108 "Opernting Segments", this activity falls within 
a single operating segment and accordingly, the disclosures of the standard have not separately been given, 

Note 32 : Trade payable 
a) Details or dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

The following details regarding Micro and small Enterprises has been detennined to the extent such parties has been identified on the basis ofinfonnation available with the 
Group. 

Particulars 

Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the year end 
Interest due thereon 

Amount of interest paid by the Company in terms of section 16 of the MSMED, along with the amount of the payment made to the 
supplier beyond the appointed day during the accounting period. 

Amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day 
during the period) but without adding the interest specified under the MSMED, 2006 

Amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting period 

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues as above 
are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowancc as a deductible expenditure under the MSMED Act, 2006 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

19.51 

Rs. in Lakhs 

As at 
Marcil 3J, 2023 

14.38 
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MSME ageing schedule as at 

Particulars 

MSME Undisputed Dues 
Unbilled amount 
Less than I year 
1-2 Years 
2-3 Years 
More than 3 years 
Total dues to micro and small enterprL~es as per MSMED Act, 2006 
There are no disputed dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006. 

b) Ageing of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at 

Particulars 

Undisputed Dues 
Unbilled amount 
Less than I year 
1-2 Years 
2-3 Years 
More than 3 years 
Total dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at 
There are no disputed dues to creditors other than micro enterprises .ind small enterprises. 

Note 33: Fair values 

The carrying values of linandals instruments of the group arc reasonable and approximations of fair values 

As at 
March 31, 2024 

19.51 

As at 
Marcil 31, 2024 

138,73 
1,301.33 

103.65 
29.80 

157.14 
1,730.65 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
As at 

March 31, 2023 

14.38 

Rs, in Lakhs) 
As at 

March 31, 2023 

151.83 
10,406.71 

28.59 
154.60 

2,61 
10,744.35 

R~. in Lakhs 
Carrying amount Fair Value 

Financial assets 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
Loans 

Other financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Financial assets measured at fair value through statement of Profit & Loss 
Investments 
Total 

Financial liabilities 
l<-inancial liabilitil .. '1i mea.•mred at amortised cost 
Borrowings 
Trade payables 
Other financial liobilitics 

As at March 31, 
2024 

0.70 

1,78,829.64 

4,062.79 
7,727.46 

0.40 

13,781.33 
2,04,402.32 

3,04,864.35 
1,750.16 

5,31, 762.83 
8,38,377.34 

As at March 31, 
2023 

5.93 

l,50,109.53 

2,325.38 
1,275.76 

0.40 

18,499.74 
1172,216.74 

3,03,802.86 
10,758.73 

5,14.729.54 
8!29!291.13 

As at March 31, As at March 31, 
2024 2023 

0.70 5.93 

1,78,829.64 1,50,109.53 

4,062.79 2,325.38 
7,727.46 1,275.76 

0.40 0.40 

13 781.33 18.499.74 
2,04,402.32 1172,216.74 

3,05,803.90 3,04,842.51 
1,750.16 10,758.73 

5,31.762.83 5 14.729.54 
8,39JJ6.89 820,330.78 

The management assessed thal cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, bank overdrafls and other current liabilities approximate their canying amounts 
largely due to the short-tenn maturities of these instruments. 

1be fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other 
than in a forced or liquidation sale. 

The Group is required 10 present the Statement of total assets at fair value and Statement of total returns at fair value as per SEBI Master Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-
2/P/CIR/2023/1 J 5 dated July 06, 2023 as a part of these Consolidated financial statements - Refer Statement of Net assets at fair value and Statement of Total Returns at fair 
value. 

Note 34 : Fair value hierarchy 
All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed arc categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as fo\1ows, bused on the lowest level input that is 
si!,'flificant to the fair value measurement as a whole. 

Level I: Quoted (unadjusted) price is active market for Identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that has a significant effect on the fair voluc measurement ore observed, either directly or indirectly 

Level 3: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input has a significant effect on the fair value meosuremenl is not based on observable market data. 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis: 

Investments in mutual fund 

Investments in mutual fund 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

13,781.33 

Asat 
March '31, 2023 

18,499.74 

R~. in Lakhs 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year using 

Level I Level 2 

13.781.33 

Rs. in Lakhs 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year using 

Level I Level 2 Level 3 

18,499.74 
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Note 35: Financial risk mana}!;ement objectives and policies 

The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems arc reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework. 
In performing its operating, investing and financing activities, the Group is exposed to the Credit risk, Liquidity risk and Currency risk. 

a. Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate be-cause of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of 
risk interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk. such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and 
borrowings, deposits and investments. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Fund is exposed to credit 
risk from its investing activities including investments, trade receivables, loans, deposits with banks and other financial instruments. As at March 31, 2024, and as at March 31, 
2023 the credit risk is considered low since substantial transactions of the Fund are with its subsidiaries. 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure to the 
risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

Interest rate sensitivity 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected. With all other vmiables held 
constant, the fund's profit before tax is affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows: 

Increase in basis poin1s 

• INR 
EflCCt on profit before tax 

• INR 

Decrease in basis points 

• INR 

Effect on profit before tax 

-INR 

Liquidity risk 

l<'or the year 
ended 

March 31, 2024 

50 

1,503.11 

50 

(1,503.11) 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
For the year 

ended 
March 311 2023 

50 

1,507.10 

50 

(1,507.10) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral oblib,ations without incurring unacceptable losses. TI1e Group's 
objective is to. a! all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. The Group closely monitors its liquidity position and deploys a 
robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing including debt and overdraft from banks at an optimised cost 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscountc<l payments: 

Rs. in Lakhs} 

As at March 31, 2024 Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 

Borrowings 31,479.27 1,77,358.69 2,45,022.17 4,53,860.13 

Other financial liabilities 77,011.67 l,21,034.93 3,33, 716.24 5,31,762.83 

Trade payables 1,750.16 1,750.16 

Total 1,I0,241.10 2,98,393.62 5,78,738,41 9,87,373.13 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2023 Less than I year J to 5 years > 5 years Total 

801Towings 31,861.22 1,68,758.53 3,45;!07.67 5,45,727.42 

Other financial liabilities 27,331.58 1,14,781.49 3,72,616.47 5,14,729.54 

Trade payables 10,758.73 I0,758.73 

Total 69,951.52 2,83,540.03 7,17,724.13 10,71,215.68 

At present. the Group does expcc!s to repay all liabilities at their contractual maturity. In order to meet such cash commitments, the operating activity is expeetcd to generate 
sufficient cash inflows. 
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Note 36 : Capital management 

Capital includes equity attributable to the unit holders to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital structure and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and 
maximise unitholder value. llie Group manages its capita! structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions or its business requirements. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 11nitl1oldcrs, return of capita! to shareholders or issue new units. No changes were made in 
the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended March 31, 2024 and March 3 l, 2023. 
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as loans and borro,..,1ngs less cash and cash 
equivalents. 

Borrowings (Note 14 & 18) 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 7) 

Net debt (A) 

Equity (Note 12 & 13) 

Total equity (8) 

Capital and net debt C = A + B 

Gearing ratio(%) (C / A) 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

3,05,803.90 

(4,062.79) 

3,01,741.11 

3,91,499.41 

3,91,499.41 

6,93,240.52 

43.53% 

(Rs. In Lakhs) 
Asat 

March 311 2023 
3,04,842.51 

(2,325.38) 

3,02,517.13 

4,00,633.69 

4,00,633.69 

7,03,150.82 

43.02% 

In order to achieve 1his overall objective, the Group's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would pennit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. 
There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing borrowings in the current year. 

Note 37 : Details of Project management fees and ln\'estment management fees 

Details of foes paid to project manager and investment manager as requin."<i pursuant to SEBI Master Circular SEBl/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CJR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023 are as 
under: 

l) Project management fees 

In accordance with the Project Implementation Agreements, the fees and remuneration payable by the Project SPVs to the Project Manager has been worked out and agreed upon 
for the duration of current financial year, between the Project Manager, Investment Manager and the respective Project SPY, on an ann's lenb'lh basis, after taking into account 
the extent of work to be done in respect of maintenance and other services to be provided by the Project Manag1."f to such Project SPY. 

Ii) Investment mana~emcnt fees 

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the lnvestmcnt Manager is entitled to an lnvestment Management fees to be calculated@ 1% per annum, exclusive ofGST, 
of the consolidated toll revenue (net of premium paid/ revenue shared with NIIAI) of the Fund at 1hc end of the reporting period subject to a floor of Rs. 1,000 lakhs and a cap of 
Rs. 2,500 lakhs. 

Note 38: Significant accounting judgement, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requin .. -s management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, 
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes 
that require a material adjustment to the canying amount of asse1s or liabilities affected in future years. 

Estimates and assumptions 

Estimates and underlying assumptions arc reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates arc recognized in the year in which the estimates arc revised and 
future periods are allCcted. 

The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available ,vhen the financial statements were prepared. Exisling circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions 
when they occur. 

Classification of unit holders' funds 

Under the provisions of the Inv!T Regulations, the Group is required to distribute to unit holders not less than ninety percent of the net distributable cash flows of the Group for 
each financial year. Accordingly, a portion of the unit ho!ders'funds contains a contractual obligation of the Fund to pay to its unit holders cash distributions. The unit holders· 
funds could therefore have been classified as compound financial instrument which contain both equity and liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial 
Instruments: Presentation. However, in accordance with SEBI Master Circular no. SEBI/HOIDDHS-PoD-2/P/CJR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023 issued under the SEBI lnvlT 
Regulations, the Unitholdt-rs funds have been classified as equity in order to comply with the mandatory requirements of Section Hof Chapter 3 to the SEBI Master Circular 
dated July 06, 2023 dealing with the minimum disclosures for key financial statements. In line with the above, the dividend payable to unit holders is reCOb'llised as liability when 
the same is approved by the Investment Manager. 

i) Major maintenance expenses/ Resurfacing expenses 

As per the Service Concession Agreements, the Group is obligated to carry out resurfacing of the roads under concession. Provision required for resurfacing expenses are 
measured at the present value of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. ll1e discount rate used to deteim.inc the present value 
is a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance cost, in the statement of profit and 
loss in accordance with Ind AS 37 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets". 
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ii) J."air value and disclosures 

SEBI Circulars issued under the lnvlT Regulations require disclosures relating to net assets at fair value and total returns at fair value (refer Statement ofne! assets at fair value 
and Statement of total returns at fair value). In estimating the fair value of road projects (which constitutes substantial portion of the total assets), the Group engages independent 
qualified c;,;temal valuers to perfonn the valuation. The management works closely with the valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to thr.: model. The 
management reports the valuation report and findings to !he Board oft he Investment Manager half yearly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the road projects. 
The inputs to the valuation models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a dc1,,ree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. 
Judgments include considerations of inputs such as Debt-equity ratio, WACC, Tax rates, Inflation rates, and uncertainties relating to COVJD-19 etc. 

iii) Taxes 
Current tax 

There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax dctennination is uncertain. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which the tax 
determination is made. The assessment of probability involves estimation of a number of factors including future taxable income. 

Deferred tax 

The subsidiary companies shall be claiming deduction under section 80-IA of the Income Tax Act, 1961. There arc significant timing differences that result in deferred tax assets/ 
liabilities and which shall be reversing during the said tax holiday period. Consequently, the Company has not recognized any deferred tax asset/liability on such non-taxable 
income. 

iv) Defined bt!nefit plans (gratuity benefits) 

A liability in respect of defined benefit plans is recognised in the balance sheet and is measured as the present value of the defined benefit ob!ii,>ation at the reporting date. The 
present value of the defined benefit obligation is based on expected future payments at tl1e reporting dale, calculated annually by independent actuaries. Consideration is given to 
expected future salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. 

,·) Amortization of Intangible assets 

The intangible assets which are recob>nized in the fom1 of Right to charge users of the infrastructure asset are amortized by taking proportionate of actual revenue received for the 
year over Total Projected Revenue from project to Cost of Intangible assets. The estimation of 1otal projection revenue requires significant assumption ab-Out expected growth 
rate and traffic projection for future. All assumptions are review1.>d at each reporting date. 

,·i) Impairment of intangible asset~ 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. The recoverable amounts for the intangible assets are based on value in use of the underlying projects. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The 
cash flows arc derived ITom budgets/ forecasts over the life oftl1e projects. 

Note 39: Revenue share/ Premium payment to NHAI 

(a) During the year ended March 31, 2024, the Group has paid/accrued Rs. 8,449.19 lakhs (March 31, 2023: Rs. 14,373.09 lakhs) as Revenue Share to National Highways 
Authority of India (''NHAI") out of its toll collection in accordance with the Concession Agreements entered with NHAI. Income from Operations in the financials for the above 
periods is net offtl1e above Revenue Share to NHAl. 

(b) Subsidiary companies i.e. IRBTC and MVR have been awarded contracts on a DBFOT basis. As per the tenns of the concession agreement, the t,,'Toup is obligated to pay 
NHAI as additional concession fee over the concession period. Accordingly, !he liability for the entire amount of concession fee payable has been created and the corresponding 
amount is shown as Toll Collection Rights under the head Intangible Assets. 

(c) Due to dispute on the deferred premium calculation of previous years between the Company ('the concessionaire") and the NHAI, the concessionaire has filed appeal with the 
Hon'ble High Court of Delhi for resolution against the NHA!'s demand of advance premium of Rs. 1,698 lakhs in agb>regate and interest on it. As per the interim order of the 
Division Bench of Hon'ble High Com1, withdrawals from Escrow Account are not pennittcd till the final order in the matter. ll1e Division Bench ofHon'ble High Court, while 
disposing off the petitions, had continued with the embargo on withdrawals from the Escrow Account. The Hon'ble High Court further referred the matter to Arbitration Tribunal 
for adjudication and interim relief, if any, to the Parties based on their applications. 
During the arbitration proceedings, the 1-Ion'ble Arbitral Tribunal, in its Interim Award, had removed the existing embargo on the operations of the Escrow Account and 
permitted the \\ithdrawals towards taxes, O&M payments and debt servicing by the Company aggregating to Rs. 19,300 lakhs and also allowed withdrawals for payment of 
undisputed premium/ revenue share to NHAI. Moreover, the Hon'blc Arbitral Tribunal permitted the operations of the escrow account to continue as per the wa!erfall mechanism 
pmvidcd in the Escrow a1,,rcemcnt. The matter is currently pending before the Arbitral Tribunal. 

Note 40 : Project acquisition 

Pursuant to the Share Purchase A1:,'Tecment dated October 13, 2022, the Trust has acquired the subsidiary company viz. VKI Expressway Limited ('Project SPV'). Accordingly, 
during the previous year ended March 31, 2023, the revenue and corresponding expenses in Project SPV has been included from October 13, 2022 to March 31, 2023 in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. For details, kindly refor note 43. 

Note 41 : Corporate Social Responsibility 

For the year ended March 31, 2024 
(a) Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year (Rs. in lakhs) 
(b) Amount spent during the year on: 

Particulars 

(i) Construction/acquisition of any asset 

In cash 

(ii) On purposes oilier than (i) above 113.70 

For the year ended March 31, 2023 
(a) Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year (Rs. in lakhs) 
(b) Amount spent during the year on: 

Particulars 

(i) Construction/acquisition of any asset 
(ii) On purposes other than (i) above 

In cash 

56.00 

Yet to ht! paid in 
cash 

Yet to be paid in 
cash 

II !.95 

Rs. in lukhs 

Total 

113.70 

55.94 

Rs. in lukhs 

Total 

56.00 
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Note 42 : Other Statutory information 
i) The Group have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year. 

ii) The Group does not hold henami propcrty and no proceedings under Bcnami transaction (Prohibition) Act 1988 have been initiated against the Group. 
iii) The Group do not have any transactions with companies snuck ofT. 

iv) 1l1e Group have not any such transaction which is not recorded in the hooks of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax 
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, searcli or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961. 

v) The Group have not received any fund from any pcrson(s) or entity(ics), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or 
otherwise) that ihe Group shall: 

{a) directly Of indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identifiL-'d in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party {Ultimate Beneficiaries) or 
(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 
vi) The Group have not advance or loaned or invested (either from borrowed fund or share premium or any other source or kind of fund) by the company to Of in any person(s) or 

entity{ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Grnup shall: • 
(a) dircc!ly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identifiL-'d in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Group {Ultimate Beneficiaries) or 
(b) provide any guarantee, SL'Curity or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 
vii) The Group did not have any Jong~1em1 contracts including derivative contract for wl1ich there were any makrial foreseeable losses. 
ix) The Group has not declared a wilful defaulter by any bank/ financial institution or any other lender during the year. 
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Note 43 : Statement of related party transactions : 

(i) Parties to the lnvlT 

(Only with whom there have been transactions during the year and /or there was balance outstanding at the year end) 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) (Sponsor & Project Manager) 

Modem Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) (Sponsor group) 

Ideal Road Builders Private Limited (IRBPL) (Sponsor group) 

JRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) (Investment Manager) 

IDBI Trustt.-eship Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 

(ii) Promoters of Sponsor & Project Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar HUF 

(iii) Directors of Sponsor & Project Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Dc1..11ali V. Mhaiskar 

Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan 

Mr. Sunil H. Talati 

Mr. Sandcep J. Shah 

Ms. Priti Savla 

Mr. Jose Angel Tamariz Martel Goncer 

Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal (w.e.f. 05.08.2022) 

Mr. Carlos Ricardo Ugarte Cruz Coke (till 05.08.2022) 

(iv) Directors of Subsidiaries of Sponsor (Sponsor Group) 
(Only with whom there have been transactions during the year and /or there was balance outstanding at the year end) 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka 
Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar 

Ms. Shilpa Todankar 

Mr. Abbay Phatak 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh 

(v) Promotor of Investment Manager 

IRB Infrastrncture Developers Limited (IRBlDL) 

(vi) Directors of Investment Manager 
Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon 

Mr. Rajindcr Pal Singh 

Mr. Sunil Tandon 

Mr. Nikesh Jain 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi (w.e.f. 31.03.2023) 

Mrs. Anusha Date (w,c.f.31.03.2023) 

(vii} Relative of directors of Investment Manager 
(Only with whom there have been transactions during the year and /or there was balance outstanding at the year end) 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi 



(viii) Directors of Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Yinod Kumar Menon 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 

Mr. Omprakash Singh 

Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar 

Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 

(ix) Relative of di.rectors of Subsidiaries company 
(Only with whom there have been transactions during the year and /or there was balance outstanding at the year end) 

Ms. Surabhi Banerjee 

(x) Pro motors of Trustee 

IDBI Bank Limited 

Lifo Insurance Corporation of India (LIC} 

General Insurance Corporation of India 

(xi) Directors of Trustee 

Mr. Pradecp Kumar Malhotra (w.e.f. December 14, 2022) 

Ms. Baljinder Kaur Manda I (w.e.f. January 17, 2023) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain 

Ms. Jayashree Vijay Ranade 

Mr. Jayakumar Subramonia Pillai (w.e.f. July 18, 2023) 

Mr. J. Samuel Joseph (till April I 8, 2023) 

Mrs. Padma Belai (till December 31, 2022) 

Mrs. Madhuri J. Kulkarni (till December 6, 2022) 

(xii) Post~employment benefit plans for the benefit of Employees 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Employees Group Gratuity Scheme (w.e.fFebruary I, 2023) 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited Employees Group Gratuity Scheme (w.e.f February I, 2023) 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited Employees Group Gratuity Scheme (w.e.f February I, 2023) 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Employees Group Gratuity Scheme (w.e.fFebruary I. 2023) 

MYR Infrastructure & Tollways Limited Employees Group Gratuity Scheme (w.e.f February I, 2023) 
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Note 43 : Statement of related party transactions: 

s,. 
Particulars Relation No. 

Related uartv transactions for the vear end 

I Project Manager Fees 

IRBIDL Project Manager 

2 Contract expenses 

IRBIDL Project Manager 

MRMPL Entities controlled by Sponsor 

3 
Investment Management fees paid 
(including indirect taxes) 

IRBFL Investment Manager 

4 Director sitting fees Director 

Mr.Vinodkumar Menon 

Mr.Sumit Banarjee 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 

Mrs. Kshama Vcngsarkar 

Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 

Mr. Omprakash Singh 

5 Trusteeship Fees 

ITSL Trustee 

6 Rent paid 

IRBPL Entities controlled by Sponsor 

7 Distribution in the form of interest 

IRBIDL Sponsor & Project Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor & Project 

Manager 

Mrs, Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor & Project 

Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Director of Sponsor & Project 
Manaoer 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 
Director of Investment 

Manaoer 

Mr. B LGupta 
Director of subsidiary 

comnanies 

Mr. Sumit Banerjt.,-c 
Director of subsidiary 

comnanies 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Year ended Year ended 
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

8,199.04 8,575.55 

8,199.04 8,575.55 

17.17 46,341.79 

. 41,784.26 

17.17 4,557.53 

1,180.00 1,180.00 

1,180.00 1,180.00 

25.48 18.14 

4.10 3.25 

2.30 2.00 

4.50 3.00 

1.83 1.52 

1.15 0.94 

5.80 4.70 

5.80 2.73 

29.50 29.50 

29.50 29.50 

1.69 1.50 

1.69 1.50 

7.314.93 5.787.54 

6,303.94 5,006.07 

832.32 660.96 

II 9.85 85.95 

0.68 0.54 

2.04 1.62 

0.68 0.54 

3.74 2.97 



(Rs in lakhs) 

Sr. 
Particulars Relation 

Year ended Year ended 

No. March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 
Relative of directors of 

Subsidiaries company 
2.04 1.62 

Relative of directors of 
Mrs. Nayana Gandhi Investment Manager & 2.04 1.62 

Subsidiaries comnanv 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

S'"""nsor (S.v-.nsor Groun) 
1.02 0.81 

Mr. Su<lhir Rao Hashing 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

Snnnsor (Snnnsor Groun) 
10.88 8.64 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

5..,,...nsor (Srv-.nsor Groun) 
0.68 0.54 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

S...,...nsor (Soonsor Groun) 
0.68 0.54 

Mr. Atyan Mhaiskar 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

Snonsor (Soonsor Groun) 
17.00 13.50 

Ms. Shilpa Todankar 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

Snonsor fS""'nsor Grouo) 
0.68 054 

Mr. Abbay Phatak 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 
Snonsor (Snnnsor Groun) 

1.36 I.OS 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

15.30 
S,...,.,_nsor (Snnnsor Groun\ 

-

8 
Distribution in the form of return of 967.53 3,482.72 
capital 

IRBIDL Sponsor & Project Manager 834.35 3,012.91 

Mr. Vircndra D. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor & Project 
Manager 

110.16 397.80 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor & Project 

Manager 
15.45 5Ll6 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Director of Sponsor & Project 
Manao-er 

0.09 0.33 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 
Director of Investment 
Manao-er 

0.27 0.98 

Mr. BL Gupta 
Director of subsidiary 

comnanies 
0.09 0.33 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 
Director of subsidiary 

comnanies 
0.50 1.79 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 
Relative of directors of 
Subsidiaries comnanv 

0.27 0.98 

Relative of directors of 
Mrs. Nayana Gandhi Investment Manager & 0.27 0.98 

Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.14 0.49 
Sponsor ( Sponsor Group} 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 
Directors ofSubsidiark-s of 

1.44 5.20 
Sponsor (Sponsor Group) 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Shanna 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.09 0.33 
Sponsor (Sponsor Group) 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.09 0.33 
Sponsor (Sponsor Group) 



(Rs in lakhs) 

Sr. 
Particulars Relation 

Year ended Year ended 
No. March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

2.25 8.13 
Snnnsor (Snonsor Grouo) 

Ms. Shilpa Todankar 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.09 0.33 
Snnnsor (Snnnsor Groun) 

Mr. Abhay Phatak 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.18 0.65 
Snnnsor (Snnnsor Grouo) 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

1.80 
Snnnsor (Snr-.nsor Grouo) 

. 

9 Distribution in the form of dividend 323,37 . 
IRBIDL Snnnsor & Proiect Manae.cr 278.12 . 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor & Project 

36.72 . 
Manaeer 

Mrs. Decpali V. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor & Projc..-ct 

5.70 . 
Manaeer 

M<. Vinodkumar Menon 
Director of Investment 

0.09 
Manaecr 

. 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Director of Sponsor & Project 

0.03 . 
Manaeer 

Mr.BL Gupta 
Director of subsidiary 

0.03 . 
comoanies 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 
Director of subsidiary 

0.17 . 
comoanies 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 
Relative of directors of 

0.09 
Subsidiaries comoanv 

. 

Relative of directors of 
Mrs. Nayana Gandhi Investment Manager & 0.09 . 

Subsidiaries comoanv 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.05 
Soonsor fSnnnsor Grouo) 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.48 
Snnnsor (Snnnsor Grouo) 

. 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.03 
SIV'\nsor (Snnnsor Group) 

. 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.03 
Snnnsor (Snnnsor Group} 

. 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.75 
Snr,nsor (Snnnsor Group) 

. 

Ms. Shilpa Todankar 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

O.oJ 
Soonsor (Snnnsor Group) 

. 

Mr. Abbay Phatak 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.06 
Snnnsor (Snnnsor Group) 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh 
Directors of Subsidiaries of 

0.90 
Snnnsor (Snnnsor Group) 

. 



(Rs in lakhs) ·• 

Sr. 
Particulars Relation 

Year ended Year ended 

No. March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

10 
Services (Funded Gratuity Plan) availed 139.36 
from 
LIC Pro motor of Trustee - 139.36 

JI Post~emnloyment benefit nlan fGratuitv) 3.44 -
nm Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited Employees 
Group Gratuity Scheme {w.e.f February I, Post-employment benefit plan 3.05 -
2023\ 
MYR Infrastructure & Tollways Limited 
Employees Group Gratuity Scheme {w.c.f Post-employment benefit plan 0.39 -
Februarv 1, 2023) 
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Note 43 :Statement of related party transactions : 

Sr. 
Particulars Ason 

No. Relation 
March 31, 2024 

Related nartv balances : 

I Trade Payables 3,263.73 

lRBFL Investment Manager 370.00 

IRB!DL Project Manager 897.22 

MRMPL Entities controlled by 
1,996.51 

Soonsor 

IRBPL Entities controlled by 
-Snonsor 

2 Retention money payable 834.67 

lRBIDL Project Manager 707.81 

MRMPL Entities controlled by 
126.86 

Soonsor 

3 Other Payables 42,003.54 

lRB!DL Project Manager 41,800.76 

MRMPL Entities controlled by 
202.78 

Sponsor 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Ason 
March 31, 2023 

12,259.14 

177.00 

10,061.07 

2,021.05 

0.02 

474.66 

342.24 

132.42 

202.64 

-

202.64 

Details in respect of related party transactions involving acquisition of InvlT assets as required by Para 4.6.6 
of chapter 4 of SEBI Master Circular No. SEBl/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023 as 
amended including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder (11 SEBI Circulars") are as follows: 

The Fund has not acquired any asset from related party during the year ended March 31, 2024. 

During the previous year ended March 31, 2023, pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2022, 
the Fund has acquired VKI Expressway Limited from lRB!DL. 

Summary of valuation report dated August 5, 2022 issued by the independent valuer under the SEBI (lnv!T) 
Regulations is as follows :-

Fair Enterprise value and equity value ofVKl Expressway Limited as on July 31, 2022 is as under:-

Rs. in lakhs 

Equity value 

Name of the SPY Fair enterprise (including 
value shareholder 

loan) 
VKI Expressway Limited ('VKI ') 1,32,540.00 37,670.00 

After considering the aforesaid Valuation Report submitted by the relevant independent intermediaries and pursuant 
to the negotiations between the Investment Manager and the Sponsor, VK 1 was acquired from the Sponsor. The 
aggregate purchase consideration agreed upon of Rs. 34,200 lakhs was utilised for acquisition of 100% of the equity 
share capital of VK I and for payment of the shareholder loan provided to VK 1 by the Sponsor. This aggregate 
consideration is at ~ 9% discount to the Equity Value (i.e., the value of the equity and the shareholder loan of the 
project). 

The project was acquired through external bon-owings of Rs. 18,800 lakhs and balance out of internal accruals. 

The following approach and assumptions have been considered for the valuation exercise:-
a. The Free Cash Flows to Firm under the Discounted Cash Flow Method has been used for the purpose of 
valuation of the above SPY. 

b. The Weighted Average Cost of Capital for the above SPY has been considered as the discount rate for the above 
SPV for the purpose of valuation. 



IRB lnvlT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Note 44 : Gratuity and other post employment benefit plans 
(a) Defined contribution plan 
The following amount recognized as an expense in Statement of profit and loss on account of provident fund and other funds. There are 
no other obligations other than the contribution payable to the respective authorities. 

Contribution in defined plan 

(b) Defined benefit plan 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2024 
91.70 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2023 
100.77 

The Group has a funded defined benefit gratuity plan with LIC. The gratuity plan is governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. 
Under the act, employee who has completed five years of service is entitled to specific benefit. The level of benefits provided depends on 
the member's length of service and salary at retirement age. Every employee who has completed five years or more of service gets a 
gratuity on departure at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year of service as per the provision of the Payment of 

Gratuity Act, 1972. 

The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss and the funded 
status and amounts recognised in the balance sheet for the Gratuity plan. 

Statement of profit and loss 
Net employee benefit expense recognised in the employee cost 
Current service cost 
Past service cost 
Expected Return on Plan Assets 
Interest cost on benefit obligation 
(Gain)/ losses on settlement 
Net benefit expense recognised in statement of profit and loss (A) (before tax) 

Amount recorded in Other comprehensive income (OCJ) 
Remeasurement during the year due to: 
Actuarial loss / (gain) arising from change in financial assumptions 
Actuarial loss/ (gain) arising from change in Demographic Assumptions 
Actuarial loss/ (gain) arising on account of experience changes 
Return on plan assets 
Amount recognised in OCI during the year (B) (before tax) 

Total charge recognised during the year in statement of profit and loss and OCI (A+B) 

Actual return on plan assets 
Interest Income Plan Asset 
Actuarial Gains/(Losses) on Plan Assets 
Actual Return on Plan Assets 

Reconciliation of net liability/ asset 
Opening defined benefit liability/ (assets) 
On transfer of employees 
Current service cost 
Interest cost on benefit obligation 
Past service cost 
Amount recognised in outside profit and loss statement 
Actual Benefits paid 
Closing net defined benefit liability/ (asset) 

Change in Fair Value of Plan Assels during the Period: 
Fair value of Plan Assets, Beginning of Period 
Interest Income Plan Asset 
Actual Enterprise's Contributions* 
Actual Benefits Paid* 
Actuarial Gains/(Losses) 
Fair Value of Plan Assets, End of Period 

Balance sheet 
Benefit liability / (asset) 
Defined benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 
Present value of unfunded obligations 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2024 

14.10 

( 10.36) 
12.43 

16.17 

6.28 
15.81 

(18.20) 
(0.35) 
3.54 

19.71 

10.36 
0.35 

10.71 

173.42 

14.10 
12.43 

3.90 
(3.02) 

200.82 

139.57 
10.36 
3.43 
(3.02) 
0.35 

150.69 

200.82 
150.69 
50.13 

(Rs. in u,khs) 
For the year 

ended 
March 31, 2023 

12.02 
4.19 

8.38 

24.59 

(7.81) 

37.42 
(0.21) 
29.39 

53.99 

0.21 
0.21 

260.48 
(135.93) 

12.02 
8.38 
4.19 

29.61 
(5.33) 

173.42 

144.69 
(5.33) 
0.21 

139.57 

173.42 
139.57 
33.85 



IRB lnvIT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Chan~es in the present value of the defined benefit obligation arc as follows: 
Opening defined benefit obligation 
Current service cost 
Past service cost 
On transfer of employees 
Interest on defined benefit obligation 
Remeasurement during the period due to : 
Actuarial loss/ (gain) arising from change in financial assumptions 
Actuarial loss I (gain) arising from change in Demographic Assumptions 
Actuarial loss/ (gain) arising on account of experience changes 
Benefits paid 
Closing defined benefit obligation 

Net liability is bifurcated as follows : 
Current 
Non-current 
Net liability 

Category of Assets 
Other (including assets under Schemes of Ins.) 
Total 

173.42 260.48 
14.10 12.02 

4.19 
(135.93) 

12.43 8.38 

6.28 (7.81) 
15.81 

(18.20) 37.42 
(3.02) (5.33) 

200.82 173.42 

50.13 33.85 
50.13 33.85 

100.00% 100.00% 
100.00% 100.00% 

The principal assumptions used in determining gratuity benefit obligation for the Group's plans are shown below: 

Discount rate 
Expected rate of return on plan assets (p.a.) 
Salary escalation 

Mortality pre-retirement 

A quantitative analysis for significant assumption is as shown below: 
Indian gratuity plan: 

Assumptions -Discount rate 
Sensitivity Level 
Impact of Increase in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 
Impact of Decrease in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 
Assumptions - Salary Escalation rate 
Sensitivity Level 
Impact on defined benefit obligation 
lmpacl of Increase in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 
Impact of Decrease in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2024 

7.20% 
7.20% 
I0.00% 

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2024 

0.50% 
188.54 
214.30 

0.50% 

213.88 
188.79 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2023 

7.45% 
7.45% 
l0.00% 

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortalily 

(2012-14) 

For the year 
ended 

March 312 2023 

0.50% 
165.57 
181.91 

0.50% 

181.67 
165.72 

The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other 

relevant factors, such as supply and demand in the employment market. 

The following payments arc expectt>d contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years 

Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting period) 
Between 2 and 5 years 
Between 6 and IO years 
Total expected payments 

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2024 
8.86 

42.37 
63.51 

114.74 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended 

March 31 1 2023 
13.21 
52.21 
75.64 

141.07 



IRB lnvlT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Note 45: Disclosure pursuant to Appendix~ A to Ind AS 11 ~ Service Concession Arrangements ('SCA') 

(A) Disclosures with regard to Toll Collection Rights (Intangible Assets) 

Start of concession 
End of concession 

period under 
Type of Length (in period under Name of Concessionaire conc1.>ssion Location 

Concession lane kms) concession 
agreement 

(Appointed date) agreement 

!RB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited December 30, 20 I 0 Puniab DBFOT 102.42 Kms December 30, 2030 
IRB Jainur Deoli Tollwav Limited June 14, 2010 Raiasthan DBFOT 146.30 Kms June 13, 2035 
M,VJUnfrastructure And Tollwavs Limite AU!!llSt 14, 2006 Tamilnadu BOT 68.625 Kms AU''"Sl 13, 2026 
!RB Tumkur Chitradur0 a Tollwav Limited June 4, 2011 Karnataka DBFOT 114 kms June 3, 2037 
IRB Taleuaon Amravati Tollwav Limited Sertember 30, 2010 Maharashtr.i BOT 166.725 Km. Mav 20, 2037 

Note: 

Period of 
End of concession 

concession since 
period as per 

the appointed 
Valuation report 

date 

Januarv 2, 2038 20 vears 
October 21, 2040 25 vears 
Januan1 12, 2027 20 vears 

Otxcmber 29, 2042 26 vears 
June 2, 2037 22 vears 

(l) The above BOT/ DBFOT projects shall have following rights/ obligations in accordance with the Concession Agreement entered into with the Respective 
Government Authorities:~ 
a. Rights to use the Specified assets 
b. Obligations to provide or rights to expect provision of services 
c. Obligations to deliver or rights to receive at the end ofthc Concession. 
(2) The actual concession period may vary based on terms of the respective concession agreements. 

(B) Disclosures with regard to Hybrid Annuity Project 

Name ofConccssionaire: 
Description of the arrangement: 

Significant tenns of the arrangement: 
Period of concession: 
Sta ti of concession period under concession agreement (Appointed date): 
Remuneration: 
Investment grant from concession granter: 
Investment return to grantor at end of concession: 
Investment and renewal obligations: 
Repricing dates: 
Basis upon which re-pricing or re-negotiation is dctennincd: 

Financial assets : 
a) Current (Rs. in lakhs) 
b) Non-current (Rs, in lakhs) 

Note: 
In HAM projects, revenue is received/ receivable as under; 

VKI Expressway Private Limited 

Eight lane 23.74 Km section of Expressway between Vadodara and Kim in Gujarat on 
a Hybrid Annuity Mode (HAM) basis 

15 years from COD 
January 18, 2019 
Annuity, interest and O&M 
Yes 
Yes 
No 
Half yearly for O&M 
Inflation price index as defined in Concession Agreement 

Rs. 13,190.04 lakhs 
Rs. 114,194.05 lakhs 

(i) 40% of the total bid project cost with adjustment relating to Price Index Multiple, shall be due and payable to the Group in 5~10 equal instalments during the 
construction period in accordance with the provisions ofthc SCA. 

(ii) The remaining bid project cost, with adjustment relating to Price Index Multiple, shall be due and payable in 30 bi-annual installments commencing from the 
180th day of COD in accordance with the provision of the SCA 

(iii) Interest shall be due and n.-ceivab\c on the reducing balance of Completion Cost al an interest rate equal to the applicable Bank Rate plus 3%. Such interest shall 
be due and receivable bi~annually along with each installment specified in of SCA. 



IRB InvJT f'und 
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Note 46 : Distribution made 

Dist1ibuted during the year as : 
Interest 
Dividend 

Return on capital 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year ended For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

39,474.00 
1,741.50 
5,224.50 

46,440.00 

31,347.00 

18,866.J 5 
50,213.15 

The above pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along with the distribution related to tl1e last quarter offY 2022-23 and does not include the distribution relating to the 
last quarter of FY 2023-24 which will be paid after March 31. 2024. 

Note 47: Income tax 

The major components of income tax. expense for the year ended March 3 I, 2024 and March 31, 2023 are: 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
For the year ended For the year ended 

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

Current income tax: 
Current income tax charge 1,123.44 473.35 

Deferred tax: 
MAT Credit entitlement/ reversal (37.51) 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss 1,123.44 435.84 

Reconciliation of tax expenses and the accounting of profit multiplied by Indian domestic tax rate for March 3 l, 2024 and March 31, 2023 are: 

Profit/(loss) before tax 
Tax rate 
Expected income tax at India's statutory rate 

Impact of exemption u/s l0(23FC) of the Income Tax Act, 1961 available to the Trust 
MAT liability on book profit 
Deferred tax (MAT credit reversal) 

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss 

Note 48: 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

38,432.70 
25.47% 

(9,788.81) 
9,788.81 
1,123.44 

1,123.44 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
For the year ended 

March 31, 2023 

37,393.86 
25.47% 

(9,524.22) 
9,524.22 

473.35 
37.51 

435.84 

The Code on Social Security, 2020 ('Code') relating to employee benefits during employment and post-employment benefits received Presidential assent in September 
2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette oflndia. However, the date on which the Code will come into effect has not been notified. The Group will assess the 
impact of the Code when it comes into effect and will record any related impact in the period the Code becomes effective. 

Note 49: Previous year comparatives 

Previous year's figures have been regrouped/reclassified, wherever necessary, to confinn to current year's classification. 
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Note 50 : Subsequent events 

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have approved 4111 Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit which comprises of Rs. 1.70 per unit as interest and Re. 0.30 per unit 
as dividend in their meeting held on April 30, 2024. 

As per our report of even date 
For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Finn's Reg no. 121750W/W100010 

Ranjt 
Partner 
Membership no : 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date : April 30, 2024 

Signature to Note 1 to SO 

For and on behalf of !RB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB Jm·IT Fund) 

?.~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Director & CFO 
DIN: 08089312 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: April 30, 2024 

Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company St.-crctary 
Mem. No: A32376 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To, 
The Unit holders of IRB lnvlT Fund 

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

Opinion 

229, ;',;;c1rmFm Pein\ 
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We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of IRB lnvlT Fund ("the 
Fund"), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024, the Statement of Profit and 
Loss including the Other Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' 
Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, the Statement of Net Assets 
at fair value as at March 31, 2024, the Statement of Total Returns at fair value, the Statement 
of Net Distributable Cash Flows ('NDCFs') for the year then ended, and notes to the 
standalone financial statements including a summary of material accounting policies and other 
explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as "the standalone financial statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the standalone financial statements give the information required by the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from 
time to time including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder in the manner so required 
and give a true and fair view in conformity with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) and/or any 
addendum thereto as defined in the Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rule, 2015 and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of 
the Fund as at March 31, 2024, its profit and total comprehensive income, movement of the 
unit holders' funds and its cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2024, its net assets at fair 
value as at March 31, 2024, its total returns at fair value and the net distributable cash flows 
for the year ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing (SAs) issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our 
responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the !CAI and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the !CAi's Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
standalone financial statements. 



Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the standalone financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the standalone financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For 
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that 
context. 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be 
communicated in our report. We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's 
responsibilities for the audit of the standalone financial statements section of our report, including 
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures 
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone 
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to 
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
standalone financial statements. 

Sr.No. Ke Audit Matter How our audit addressed the ke audit matter 

1 Assessing Impairment of investments and 
loans in subsidiary companies (note 3.09, 
4.1, 4.2 and 5.4) 

As at March 31, 2024, the carrying value of 
Fund's investment in subsidiaries amounted to 
Rs. 2,09,538.92 Lakhs. Further, the Fund has 
granted loans to its subsidiaries amounting to 
Rs. 4,61,475.79 Lakhs (Rs. 4,25,255.80 Lakhs). 

Management reviews regularly whether there 
are any indicators of impairment of such 
investments/ loans by reference to the 
requirements under Ind AS. Management 
performs its impairment assessment by 
comparing the carrying value of these 
investments/ loans made to their recoverable 
amount to determine whether impairment needs 
to be recognized. 

For impairment testing, value in use has been 
determined by forecasting and discounting 
future cash flows of subsidiary companies. 
Further, the value in use is highly sensitive to 
changes in critical variable used for forecasting 
the future cash flows including traffic projections 
for revenues and discounting rates. The 
determination of the recoverable amount from 
subsidiary companies involves significant 
judgment and accordingly, the evaluation of 
impairment of investments/loans in subsidiary 
companies has been determined as a key audit 
matter. 

Our audit procedures included the following: 

Assessed the appropriateness of the 
Fund's valuation methodology applied in 
determining the recoverable amount. In 
making this assessment, we also 
evaluated the objectivity, independence 
and competency of specialists involved in 
the process; 

Assessed the assumptions around the key 
drivers of the cash flow forecasts, discount 
rates, revenue projection based on the 
independent expert's traffic study reports, 
etc. by management and independent 
valuer, including considerations due to 
current economic and market conditions 
including effects of COVID-19 pandemic; 

Assessed the appropriateness of the 
weighted average cost of capital used in 
the determining recoverable amount by 
engaging valuation expert; 

Discussed/Evaluated potential changes in 
key drivers as compared to previous year/ 
actual performance with management in 
order to evaluate whether the inputs and 
assumptions used in the cash flow 
forecasts were suitable, including 
considerations due to current economic 
and market conditions including effects of 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

Assessed the 
headroom b 

value 
sensitivi 



2 Computation and disclosures as prescribed 
in the lnvlT regulations relating to 
Statement of Net Assets and Total Returns 
at Fair Value 

(as described in note 36 and in Statement of 
Net assets at fair value and Statement of total 
returns at fair value of the standalone financial 
statements) 

As per the provisions of lnvlT Regulations, the 
Fund is required to disclose a Statement of Net 
Assets at Fair Value and Statement of Total 
Returns at Fair Value which requires fair 
valuation of assets. For this purpose, fair value 
is determined by forecasting and discounting 
future cash flows. The inputs to the valuation 
models are taken from observable markets 
where possible, but where this is not feasible, a 
degree of judgement is required in establishing 
fair values. Judgements include considerations 
of inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, Inflation 
rates etc. 

Considering the importance of the disclosure 
required under the SEBI Regulations to the 
users of the standalone financial statements, 
significant management judgement involved in 
determining the fair value of the assets of the 
Company, the aforesaid computation and 
disclosure has been considered as a key audit 
matter. 

analysis of key assumptions used. 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy of the 
model. 

As regards loans granted to subsidiary 
companies, we have obtained and 
considered management evaluations of 
recoverability of loans granted to its 
subsidia com anies. 

Our audit procedures include the following­

Read the requirements of SEBI lnvlT 
regulations for disclosures relating to Statement 
of Net Assets at Fair Value and Statement of 
Total Returns at Fair Value. 

Assessed the appropriateness of independent 
valuer's and management's valuation 
methodology applied in determining the fair 
values. 

Tested controls implemented by management 
to determine inputs for fair valuation as well as 
assumptions used in the fair valuation. 

We involved valuation specialists to: 

a) Assess the valuation reports issued by the 
independent valuer engaged by the 
management and compare key property 
related data used as input with actual data. 

b) Assess the key assumptions included in the 
cash flow forecasts by management and 
independent valuer, including 
considerations due to current economic and 
market conditions including effects of 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

c) Discuss changes in key drivers as 
compared to actual performance with 
management in order to evaluate whether 
the inputs and assumptions used in the 
valuation models by management and 
independent valuer were reasonable, 
including considerations due to current 
economic and market conditions including 
effects of COVID-19 pandemic. 

Tested the arithmetical 
computation in the Statement 
and Total Returns at Fair Value 

accuracy of 
of Net Assets 

Reviewed and verified the disclosures 
standalone financial statements for com 
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4 

Related party transactions and disclosures 
(as described in note 22 of the standalone 
financial statements) 

The Fund has undertaken transactions with its 
related parties in the normal course of 
business. These include making new loans to 
SPVs, interest on such loans, fees for services 
provided by related parties to Fund etc. as 
disclosed in Note 22 of the standalone financial 
statements. 

We identified the accuracy and completeness 
of related party transactions and its disclosure 
as set out in respective notes to the standalone 
financial statements as a key audit matter due 
to the significance of transactions with related 
parties during the year ended March 31, 2024 
and regulatory compliance thereon. 

Classification of unit holders' funds as 
equity 
(as described in Note 36 of the standalone 
financial statements) 

The lnvlT is required to distribute to Unitholders 
not less than ninety percent of its net 
distributable cash flows for each financial year. 
Accordingly, a portion of the unitholders' funds 
contains a contractual obligation of the Trust to 
pay to its Unitholders cash distributions. The 
Unitholders' funds could therefore have been 
classified as a compound financial instrument 
which contains both equity and liability 
components in accordance with Ind AS 32 -
Financial Instruments: Presentation. However, 
in accordance with SEBI Master Circulars No. 
SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 
July 06, 2023 ("SEBI Circulars") issued under 
the lnvlT Regulations, the unitholders' funds 
have been classified as equity in order to 
comply with the mandatory requirements of 
Section H of Chapter 3 to the SEBI Circular 
dated July 06, 2023 dealing with the minimum 
disclosures for key financial statements. 
Considerin the ·ud ment re uired for 

with the relevant requirements of lnvlT 
Re ulations. 

Our audit procedures, included the following: 

- Obtained, read and assessed the Fund's 
policies, processes and procedures in respect of 
identifying related parties, evaluation of arm's 
length, obtaining necessary approvals, recording 
and disclosure of related party transactions, 
including compliance of transactions and 
disclosures in accordance with lnvlT regulations. 

- We tested, on a sample basis, related party 
transactions with the underlying contracts and 
other supporting documents for appropriate 
authorization and approval for such 
transactions. 

- We read minutes of Unit holders meeting, 
Board and its relevant committee meetings and 
minutes of meetings of those charged with 
governance of the Manager in connection with 
transactions with related parties affected during 
the year and Fund's assessment of related 
party transactions being in the ordinary course 
of business at arm's length and in accordance 
with the lnvlT regulations. 

- Assessed and tested the disclosures made in 
accordance with the requirements of Ind AS 
and lnvlT re ulations. 

Our audit procedures included, among others: 

- We obtained and read the requirements for 
classification of financial liability and equity 
under Ind AS 32 and evaluated the provisions 
of SEBI Circulars for classification/presentation 
of unit holders' funds in the financial statements 
of an Infrastructure Investment Trust. 

- We read and assessed the disclosures 
included in the standalone financial statements 
for compliance with the relevant requirements 
of lnvlT regulations 



classification of unit holders' funds as equity 
and liability, this is considered as a key audit 
matter. 

Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The management of \RB Infrastructure Private Limited ("Investment Manager") is responsible for 
the preparation of the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Management Discussion and Analysis, Investment Manager's Report including Annexures 
to Investment Manager's Report and Investment Manager's Information but does not include the 
standalone financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Annual report is expected to 
be made available to us after the date of auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether 
such other information is materially inconsistent with the standalone financial statements, or our 
knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

When we read the Annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we 
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Management's Responsibility for the Standalone Financial Statements 

The Management of !RB Infrastructure Private Limited ('Investment Manager'), is responsible for 
the preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view of the 
financial position as at March 31, 2024, financial performance including other comprehensive 
income, movement of the unit holders' funds and cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2024, 
its net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024, its total returns at fair value and the net 
distributable cash flows of the Fund for the year ended March 31, 2024, in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind 
AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended read with the Securities and Exchange Board 
of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time 
including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder (together referred to as the "\nv\T 
Regulations"). This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in 
accordance with the provisions lnv\T Regulations for safeguarding of the assets of the Fund and 
for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of 
appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Fund's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Investment Manager is also responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting 
process. 



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Standalone Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial statements that, 
individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably 
knowledgeable user of the financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative 
materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the 
results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the 
standalone financial statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 



From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Based on our audit and as required by lnvlT Regulations, we report that: 

a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit; 

b) The balance sheet, and statement of profit and loss including other comprehensive 
income dealt with by this report are in agreement with the books of account of the Fund; 
and 

c) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, to the extent not 
inconsistent with lnvlT Regulations. 

d) There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Protection 
and Education Fund by the Fund. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm']Es ~--g .• No. 121750W/W100010 ✓-c:~,~-:_ •• ,,-~ 

·, . . ~~i(J~:::~i~ • II~ ,o,~ 
(( 

.z· Ye,'\ 
v:i Ch2:1",··. \l-,;. 

Ram l'.lpta \'.t, Ac,00;;::: . . ;;:;_! 
Partner ~~ " ·;l:.f 
Membership No.: 102306 ¾I~ui;;~+ :;,f 
UDIN:-:2..4102?.06SKC. Cn AC+349 ~,,-;:1/' 
Place: Mumbai 
Dated: 30 April 2024 



IRB lnvlT Fund 
Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024 

I ASSETS 
(1) Non-current assets 

Financial assets 
i) Investments 
ii) Loans 

Total non-current assets 

(2) Current assets 

Financial assets 
i) Investments 

ii) Cash and cash equivalents 

Particulars 

iii) Bank balances other than (ii) above 
iv) Loans 

v) Other financial assets 
Current tax assets (net) 
Other current assets 

Total current assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

II EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 
Unit capital 

Other equity 
Total unit holders' equity 

{l) Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 

Total non- current liabilities 

(2) Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 
ii) Trade payables 

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 
b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 
small enterprises 

iii) Other financial liabilities 

Other current liabilities 
Total current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Summary of material accounting policies 

See accompanying notes to the standalone financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Registration Number: 1217SOW/W100010 

Rame rullu~ 

Partn~ 
Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date : April 30, 2024 

Note No. 

4 
4.1 
4.2 

5 
5.1 
5.2 
5.3 
5.4 
5.5 
6 
7 

8 

9 

10 

11.1 
11.2 

11.3 
12 

3 

As at 

March 31, 2024 

2,09,538.92 
4,22,306.55 
6,31,845.47 

12,560.27 
1,366.65 

518.16 
39,408.10 

20,583.96 
3.01 
0.29 

74,440.44 

7,06,285.91 

4,86,168.85 
11,104.70 

4,97,273.55 

1,86,797.43 
1,86,797.43 

21,739.17 

13.82 

384.22 

35.16 
42.56 

22,214.93 

2,09,012.36 

7,06,285.91 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

2,32,840.02 
3,91,492.76 
6,24,332.78 

15,313.92 

105.22 
516.86 

34,036.27 
18,688.59 

1.20 
0.28 

68,662.34 

6,92,995.12 

4,91,393.35 
23,300.20 

5,14,693.55 

1,72,514.52 
1,72,514.52 

5,519.00 

9.37 

189.95 

33.86 
34.88 

5,787.06 

1,78,301.58 

6,92,995,12 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

I Investment Manager of IRB lnvlT Fund) 

·-~~ 
(2~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Director & CFO 
DIN : 08089312 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : April 30 , 2024 

Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB lnvlT Fund 

Standalone Statement of profit and loss for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Income 

Revenue from operations 

Other income 

TOT ALINCOME 

Expenses 

Finance costs 

Investment Manager fees 

Annual listing fees 

Trustee fees 

Other expenses 

Particulars 

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries 

TOT AL EXPENSES 

Profit before tax 

Tax expenses 

Current tax 

Deferred tax 

TOT ALT AX EXPENSES 

Profit for the year (A) 

Other comprehensive Income 

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent year 

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent year 

Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) (B) 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax: (A+B) 

Earnings per unit (Amount in Rs.} 

Basic 

Diluted 

Summary of material accounting policies 

See accompanying notes to the standalone financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number: 121750W/W100010 

-~ Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : April 30, 2024 

Note No. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

3 

For the year ended 
March 31,2024 

62,332.25 

9,115.78 

71,448.03 

17,730.33 

1,180.00 

82.22 

29.50 

104.88 

23,301.10 

42,428.03 

29,020.00 

29,020.00 

29,020.00 

5.00 

5.00 

(Rs.in lakhs) 

For the year ended 
March 31,2023 

51,522.43 

6,180.20 

57,702.63 

11,624.44 

1,180.00 

79.29 

29.50 

152.56 

4,522.50 

17,588.29 

40,114.34 

40,114.34 

40,114.34 

6.91 

6.91 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

{Investment Manager of IRB lnvlT Fund) 

.,..k~ 
~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Director & CFO 

DIN : 08089312 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : April 30, 2024 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB lnvlT Fund 

Standalone Statement of cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2024 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Particulars 
For year ended For year ended 

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

A. Cash flow from operating activities 

Profit before tax 29,020.00 40,114.34 

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows: 

Finance costs 13,628.22 11,439.14 

Impairment of investment in subsidarles 23,301.10 4,522.50 

Change in Fair value on investments (347.65) (272.78) 

Day one gain on fair valuation of loan from subsidiaries (8,380.43) (5,384.57) 

Interest unwinding on loan 4,102.11 185.30 

Profit on sale of investments (357.59) (510.37) 

Interest income on Fixed deposits (30.07) (12.33) 

Transaction costs on loan given 34.39 32.93 

Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes 60,970.08 50,114.16 

Movement in working capital: 

Decrease/(increase) in others financial assets {1,895.36) 12,056.28 

Decrease/{increase) in other assets (0.01) 

lncrease/(decrease) in trade payables 198.72 (472.47) 

lncrease/(decrease) in other financial liabilities 1.30 (14.42) 

lncrease/(decrease) in other current liabilities 7.68 (0.51) 

cash generated from/(used in) operations 59,282.41 61,683.04 

Direct taxes paid (net of refunds) (1.81) 0.99 

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 59,280.60 61,684.03 

e. cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of units of mutual funds (1,21,449.32) (92,233.95) 

Proceeds on sales of units of mutual funds 1,24,908.21 99,214.02 

Investment ln subsidiary . (17,344.60) 

Long term loan given to subsidiaries (50,605.64) (45,947.80} 

Short term loan given to subsidiaries (32,154.94) (10,915.91} 

Repayment of long term loan given to subsidiaries 19,389.25 19,236.38 

Repayment of short loan given to subsidiaries 27,151.34 6,231.70 

Bank earmarked balance (1.30) (468.58} 

Interest received on fixed deposits 30.06 12.03 

Net cash flows from/(used In) investing activities (32,732.34) (42,216.71) 

C. Cash flow from financing activities 

Repayment of unit capital to the unit holders (5,224.50) (18,866.25) 

Distribution to unit holders (41,215.50} (31,347.00) 

Proceeds from long term borrowings 18,800.00 

Repayment of long term borrowings (5,521.08) (5,425.00) 

loan taken from subsidiary companies 40,201.31 28,692.00 

Finance cost paid (13,527.06) (11,532.38) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (25,286.83) (19,678.63) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 1,261.43 (211.31) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 105.22 316.53 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year {refer 5.2) 1,366.65 105.22 



IRB lnv!T Fund 

Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Components of cash and cash equivalents 

Cash on hand O.Q3 0.06 
Balances with scheduled banks 

• On Current Account 766.95 0.85 
• On Escrow Account 599.67 104.31 

Total Cash and cash equivalents (refer note 5.2} 1,366.65 105.22 

Summary of material accounting policies (Refer note no. 3) 

See accompanying notes to the standalone financial statements. 

Notes: 

1. All figures in bracket are outflow. 

2. Taxes paid are treated as arising from operating activities and are not bifurcated between investing and financing activities. 

3. Reconciliation between opening and closing balances for liabilities arising from financing activities. 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Particular Long term borrowing 

1- Apr - 2022 1,41,259.03 

Cash flow 

- Interest (11,532.38) 

- Net of proceeds and repayment of long term borrowings 42,067.01 

Accrual for the year 11,439.14 

Non cash movement 

- Day one gain on fair valuation of loan from subsidiaries netoff interest 
(5,199.28) 

unwinding on loan 

31 - Mar - 2023 1,78,033.52 

Cash flow 

- Interest (13,527.06) 

- Net of proceeds and repayment of long term borrowings 34,680.23 

Accrual for the year 13,628.22 

Non cash movement 

- Day one gain on fair valuation of loan from subsidiaries netoff interest 
(4,278.32) 

unwinding on loan 

31 - Mar• 2024 2,08,536.59 

4. Statement of Cash flows has been prepared under Indirect Method as per Ind AS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows" as notified under section 133 of the 
Companies Act, 2013. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number: 121750W/W100010 

Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : April 30, 2024 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRS lnvlT Fund) 

,/ ~, 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Director & CFO 

DIN : 08089312 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : April 30, 2024 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB lnvlT Fund 

Standalone Statement of changes in unit holders equity for the year ended March 31,2024 

a. Unit Capital 

Balance as at April 01, 2022 

Issued during the year 

less: Capital reduction during the year (Refer Note 28 )* 

Balance as at March 31, 2023 

Issued during the year 

less: Capital reduction during the year (Refer Note 28 )* 

Balance as at March 31, 2024 

b. Initial settlement amount 

Balance as at April 01, 2022 

Issued during the year 

Balance as at March 31, 2023 

Issued during the year 

Balance as at March 31, 2024 

c. Other Equity 

Balance as at April 01, 2022 

Profit/ (loss) for the year 

Interest distribution {Refer Note 28 ) * 

Dividend distribution (Refer Note 28 ) * 

Balance as at March 31, 2023 

Profit/ (loss) for the year 

Interest distribution (Refer Note 28) * 
Dividend distribution (Refer Note 28) * 

Balance as at March 31, 2024 

No. of units 

58,05,00,000 

58,05,00,000 

58,05,00,000 

Retained earnings 

14,532.86 

40,114.34 

(31,347.00) 

23,300.20 

29,020.00 

(39,474.00) 

(1,741.50) 

11,104.70 

Rs. in lakhs 

5,10,259.50 

(18,866.25) 

4,91,393.25 

(5,224.50) 

4,86,168.75 

Rs. in lakhs 

0.10 

0.10 

0.10 

Rs. in lakhs 

Total other equity 

14,532.86 

40,114.34 

(31,347.00) 

23,300.20 

29,020.00 

(39,474.00) 

(1,741.50) 

11,104.70 

* Pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along with the distribution related to the last quarter of FY 2022-23 and does 
not include the distribution relating to the last quarter of FY 2023-24 which will be paid after March 31, 2024. 

Summary of material accounting policies (refer note no.3) 

See accompanying notes to the standalone financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number: 121750W/W100010 

Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : April 30, 2024 

For and on behalf of IRS Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB lnvlT Fund) 

1,.,-'.✓ 

~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Di rector & CFO 

DIN : 08089312 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : April 30 , 2024 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No; A32376 



IRB lnvlT Fund 

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO SEBI CIRCULARS 

Disclosure pursuant to SEBI master circular no. SEBI/HO/ODHS~PoO~Z/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 6, 2023 

A. Statement of Net Asset at Fair Value 

{Rs in lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023 

Particulars Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 

A. Assets 7,06,285.91 7,79,754,28 6,92,995.12 7,61,065.53 

B. Liabilities (at book value) 2,09,012.36 2,09,012.36 1,78,301.58 1,78,301.58 

c. Net Assets (A-B) 4,97,273.55 5,70,741.92 5,14,693.55 5,82,763.95 

D. Number of units (in Lakhs) 5,805.00 5,805.00 5,805.00 5,805.00 

E. NAV (C/0) (Amount in Rs.) 85.66 98.32 88.66 100.39 

B. Statement of total returns at Fair Value 

(Rs in lakhs) 

Particulars For the year ended March 31, 2024 For the year ended March 31, 2023 

Total Comprehensive Income 
29,020.00 40,114.34 

(As per the Statement of Profit and loss) 

Add/{less): Other Changes in Fair Value not recognised in total 
73,468.38 68,070.40 comprehensive income 

Total Return 1,02,488.38 1,08,184.74 

Notes: 

Fair value of assets as at March 31, 2024 and as at March 31, 2023 and other changes in fair value for the year then ended as disclosed in the above tables are 
derived based on the fair valuation reports issued by the independent valuer appointed under the lnv!T Regulations. 

The book value of liabilities has been considered for computation of fair value liabilities. 

Summary of material accounting policies (Refer note no. 3) 

See accompanying notes to the standalone financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number: 121750W/W100010 

__ tr 
Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : April 30, 2024 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private limited 

(Investment Manager of !RB lnvlT Fund) 

1-, 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Director & CFO 

DIN : 08089312 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : April 30, 2024 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB lnvlT Fund 

Standalone Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) 

Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 Of Chapter 4 to the Master Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS•PoD• 
2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 as amended including any Guidelines and Circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Circulars"): 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Sr. No. Particulars 
For the year ended For the year ended 

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

1 
Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Interest (Refer note 1 & 

56,836.90 47,983.32 
2) 

2 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Dividend 3,600.00 . 

3 
Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above, including 

735.35 795.63 
but not llmited to interesVreturn on surplus cash invested by the Trust 

4 
Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards the repayment of the debt 

9,014.92 18,893.37 
issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust (Refer note 3 & 4) 

5 Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A} 70,187.17 67,672.32 

Less: 

6 
Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level, 

(15,024.83) (12,880.49) 
including but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager 

7 Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level . . 

8 Repayment of external debt (5,521.08) (5,425.00) 

9 Total cash outflows I retention at the Trust level (B) (20,545.91) (18,305.49) 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 49,641.26 49,366.83 

Note: 
I} During the previous year, the embargo on the Escrow bank account for ITCTL was uplifted as per the Interim order of the Hon 'hie Arbitral 
Tribunal. However, the withdrawals pertaining to past periods towards debt servicing of Rs. 11,193.00 lakhs (net of Rs. 4,402.39 lakhs considered 
in earlier period) has not been considered in the above Net Distributable Cash Flow. The said accruals are utilised towards acquisition of YKI 
projt.-ct 

2) Excludes interest due but not received of Rs.1,895.35 lakhs ( Previous year Rs.3,539.11 lakhs) for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

3) Netted- off with long-tem1 unsecured loan given to project SPV's. {Refer note 22) 

4) The Trust has considered distribution of Rs. 30.00 lakhs received from SPY before finalization and adoption of accounts of the Inv IT. 



IRB lnvlT Fund 

Summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory information for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Nature of Operations 

The IRB lnvlT Fund (the "Fund" I "Trust") is a trust constituted by "The Indenture of Trust" dated October 16, 2015 
registered under the Registration Act, 1908 and under the Securities Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment 
Trust) Regulations, 2014. The Fund is settled by the Sponsor, !RB Infrastructure Developers Limited ("!RB" or the 
"'Sponsor"), an infrastructure development company in India. The Trustee to the Fund is IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited 
(the "Trustee") and Investment manager for the Fund is IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (the "Investment Manager"). 

The Fund has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in India. All of the Fund's road 
projects are implemented and held through special purpose vehicles ("Project SPVs") 

Ownership interest % 
Sr, No. Project SPV Name 

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

l !RB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) 100% 100% 

2 !RB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) 100% 100% 

3 IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAIL) 100% 100% 

4 !RB Pathankot Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) 100% 100% 

5 !RB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (IT ATL) 100% 100% 

6 !RB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 100% 100% 

7 M,V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Limited (MITL) 100% 100% 

8 
VKl Expressway Limited (formerly known as VKl 

100% 100% 
Expressway Private Limited) (VKI) '' 

* Acquired vide Share Purchase agreement dated October 13, 2022 

# The company has been converted from private limited to public limited company w.e.f. 27.04.2023. 

The registered office of the Investment Manager is IRB Complex, Chandivali Fann, Chandivali village, Andheri- East, 
Mumbai-400072. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with resolution passed by the Board of Directors of the 
Investment manager on April 30, 2024. 

2 Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of IRB InvlT Fund have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards as defined 
in Rule 2(l)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, prescribed under Section 133 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 ("Ind AS") read with SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended and 
the circulars issued thereunder (11 lnvlT Regulations") and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the historical cost convention except for certain 
financial assets and liabilities (refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments) which have been measured at fair 
value. 

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('INR1
) which is the functional currency of the Fund and all values are 

rounded to the nearest lakhs, except when otherwise indicated. Wherever the amount represented 10' {zero) construes value 
less than Rupees five hundred. 



Change in accounting policies and disclosures 

The accounting policies adopted, and methods of computation followed are consistent with those of the previous financial 
year, except for items disclosed below: 

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Companies (Indian Accounting Standard) Amendment Rules 2023 dated 31 
March 2023 to amend the following Ind AS which are effective from 1 April 2023. 

Jnd AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 

An entity shall disclose material accounting policy information. Accounting policy information is material if, when 
considered together with other information included in an entity's financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to 
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial 
statements. 

Ind AS 8, Accounting policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors 

Definition of 'Change in Accounting Estimates' in account has been replaced by revised definition of' Accounting Estimate'. 
As per revised definition, accounting estimates are monetary amounts in the financial statements that are subject to 
measurement uncertainty. An entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. 
Developing accounting estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest available, reliable 
infom1ation. 

An entity may need to change an accounting estimate if changes occur in the circumstances on which the accounting estimate 
was based or as a result of new information, new developments or more experience. By its nature, a change in an accounting 
estimate does not relate to prior periods and is not the correction of an error. 

There were ce11ain amendments to standards and interpretations which are applicable for the first time for the year ended 31 
March 2024, but either the same are not relevant or do not have an impact on the Consolidated financial statements of the 
Trust. The Trust has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 

3 Summary of material accounting policies 

3.01 Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the results of operations during the reporting period end. Although these 
estimates are based upon management's best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could differ from these 
estimates. 

3.02 Current versus non*current classification 

The Fund presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current classification. 
An asset is treated as current when it is: 
- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in nonnal operating cycle 
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after 
the reporting period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 
- It is expected to be settled in nonnal operating cycle 
- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 



All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 
The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash 
equivalents. The Fund has identified twelve months as its operating cycle. 

3.03 Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can 
be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the transaction price of the 
consideration received or receivable, excluding the estimates of variable consideration that is allocated to that performance 
obligation, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties collected on behalf of the 
govemment 

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Interest income : 

Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the rates applicable. For all 
debt instruments measured either at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, interest income is 
recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). 

Dividends: 

Revenue is recognised when the Fund's right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when shareholders 
approve the dividend, 

3.04 Taxes 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities, The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date in the countries where the Fund operates and generates taxable income. 
Current income tax relating to items recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss is recognised outside the Statement 
of Profit and Loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the 
underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 
where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments In subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse In the 
foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and any 
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, except 

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss, 



The carrying amount of defetTed tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the defe1Ted tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re~assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is recognised outside statement of profit and loss 
(either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Goods and service tax paid on acquisition of assets or on incurring expenses 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service tax paid, except: 
When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax authority, in which case, the tax paid 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable. 

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net amount of tax recoverable from, or 
payable to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

3.05 Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other 
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an 
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to the extent 
regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs. 

3.06 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Fund has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Fund expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for 
example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement 
is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the Statement of Profit and Loss net of any 
reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as a finance cost. 

3.07 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Fund or a present obligation 
that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A 
contingent liability also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be 
measured reliably. The Fund does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements. 

A contingent assets is not recognised unless it becomes virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise. When 
an inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets are disclosed in the financial statements. 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. 



3.08 Financial instrument 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair value through 
Statement of Profit and Loss, directly attributable transaction cost to the acquisition of the financial asset. Purchases or sales 
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market 
place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in following categories; 
- at amortised cost 
- at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
- at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

Financial Assets at amortised cost 

A financial asset is measured at the amortised cost if both the following conditions are met: 
a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash flows, and 
b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
(SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

This category is the most relevant to the Fund. All the Loans and other receivables under financial assets (except Investments) 
are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

After initial measurement such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
(EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Statement of Profit and Loss/ Other comprehensive income 

All investments in scope of lnd AS 109 are measured at fair value. The Fund has investment in Debt oriented mutual fund 
which are held for trading, are classified as at FVTPL. The Fund makes such election on an instrument by instrument basis. 
The classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable. The gain / loss on sale of investments are recognised in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss. 



Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a the Fund of similar financial assets) is primarily 
derecognised (i.e. removed from the Fund's balance sheet) when: 
The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
The Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash 
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the Fund has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Fund has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it 
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership, When it has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Fund continues to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of the Fund's continuing involvement. In that case, the Fund also recognises an associated 
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that 
the Fund has retained, 

3.09 Impairment of assets 

Impairment of financial assets 

Expected credit losses are recognized for all financial assets subsequent to initial recognition other than financial assets in 
FVTPL category. 

For financial assets other than trade receivables, as per Ind AS l 09, the Fund recognizes 12 month expected credit losses for 
all originated or acquired financial assets if at the reporting date the credit risk of the financial asset has not increased 
significantly since its initial recognition. The expected credit losses are measured as lifetime expected credit losses if the 
credit risk on financial assets increases significantly since its initial recognition. 

The impairment losses and reversals are recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Fund assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Fund estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An 
asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. Recoverable amount is detennined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or Fund's assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate. 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs. 
The Fund's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts, financial 
guarantee contracts and derivative financial instruments. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 



Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading 
if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near tenn. This category also includes derivative financial 
instruments entered into by the Fund that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by Ind 
AS 109. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Loans and borrowings 

This is the category most relevant to the Fund. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EJR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are de-recognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss. 

De-recognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the standalone balance sheet if there is a 
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

3.10 Investment in subsidiaries 

Investments ( equity instruments as well as subordinate debt) in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated impainnent 
losses, if any. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the investment is assessed and written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between net disposal 
proceeds and carrying amounts are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

3.11 Fair value measurement 

The Fund measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet date, 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to 
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 
► In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
► In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Fund, 



The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market pa1ticipanfs ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in 
its highest and best use. 

The Fund uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole: 
► Level I - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
► Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable 
► Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Fund determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Fund's Management detennines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as derivative 
instruments and unquoted financial assets measured at fair value, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for 
distribution in discontinued operations. 

At each reporting date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to 
be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Fund's accounting policies. For this analysis, the Management verifies the major 
inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the infonnation in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant 
documents. 

The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to 
determine whether the change is reasonable. 

On an annual basis, the Management of Investment Manager presents the valuation results to the Audit Committee and the 
Fund's independent auditors. This includes a discussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations. 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Fund has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are given in the relevant notes. 

Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions (note 36 ) 

Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost) (note 23 and 24) 

Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy ( note 23 and 24 ) 

3.12 Contributed Equity 

Units are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the issue of units are directly recorded in equity, net of tax. 

3.13 Distribution to unit holders 

The Fund recognises a liability to make cash distributions to unit holders when the distribution is authorised and a legal 
obligation has been created. As per the lnvlT Regulations, a distribution is authorised when it is approved by the Board of 
Directors of the Investment Manager. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity. 



3.14 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and shorMerm deposits, as defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Fund's cash management. 

3.15 Earnings Per Unit (EPU) 

Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unit holders by the weighted 
average number of units outstanding during the year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year are 
adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units. 

3.16 New pronouncements issued but not effective 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs (';MCA") notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the year ended March 31, 2024, MCA has not notified 
any new standards or amendments to the existing standards applicable to the Company 



IRB lnvlT Fund 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Note 4 : Financial assets (Non-current) 
4.1 Investments 
A) Investments at cost 

Particulars 

Investments in equity instruments of subsidiaries {unquoted) 

510,842,000 (March 31,2023 - 510,842,000) equity shares of !RB Surat Dahisar Tollway 

limited 

131,750,000 (March 31, 2023 - 131,750,000) equity shares of IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway 

Limited (Il 

198,120,003 (March 31, 2023 - 198,120,003) equity shares of 1DAA Infrastructure Limited 

98,600,000 (March 31, 2023 - 98,600,000) equity shares of IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll 

Road Limited (i) 

49,250,000 (March 31, 2023 - 49,250,000) equity shares IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway 

limited 
155,500,002 (March 31, 2023 - 155,500,002) equity shares IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway 

limited 
6,910,170 (March 31, 2023 - 6,910,170) equity shares M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways 

limited 

12,25,00,000 (March 31, 2023 - 12,25,00,000) equity shares VKl Expressway Limited !3l 

Investments in subsidiaries (unquoted) 

B} Investments at cost 
Investments in sub debt of subsidiaries (unquoted) interest free 
!RB Jaipur Oeoli Tollway Limited 
IRS Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road limited 
IRS Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited 
IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited 
Subordinated debt to related parties 

Less : Provision for impairment loss ( C) 

Total non-current investments (A+ B + C) 

(1) 67,192,500 equity shares have been pledged with banks for availing term loan. 

(2) 50,286,000 equity shares have been pledged with banks for availing term loan. 

{Rs.in lakhs) 

As at As at 
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

53,232.48 53,232.48 

13,175.00 13,175.00 

19,812.00 19,812.00 

9,909.00 9,909.00 

4,925.00 4,925.00 

15,550.00 15,550.00 

10,902.00 10,902.00 

17,344.60 17,344.60 

1,44,850.08 1,44,850.08 

39,525.00 39,525.00 
29,581.00 29,581.00 
14,775.00 14,775.00 
15,550.00 15,550.00 
99,431.00 99,431.00 

(34,742.16) (11,441.06) 

2,09,538.92 2,32,840.02 

(3) 62,475,000 equity shares have been pledged with banks for availing term loan for subsidiary company, VKl Expressway Limit1 

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 

Aggregate provision for impairment 

4.2 Loans 
(Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Loans to related parties ( Refer note 22) 
• Interest bearing 
Less: Current maturities of loan to related parties 
Total-(A) 

(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Loans to related parties ( Refer note 22) 
• Interest bearing 
Total· (B) 

Add : Unamortised transaction cost { C) 

Total (A+B+C) 

2,44,281.08 

34,742.16 

3,03,278.35 
(13,505.39) 

2,89,772.96 

1,32,294.73 
1,32,294.73 

238.86 

4,22,306.55 

2,44,281.08 

11,441.06 

3,16,415.51 
(13,137.16) 

3,03,278.35 

87,941.18 
87,941.18 

273.23 

3,91,492.76 

The loan is repayable in unstructured yearly instalment as per the repayment schedule specified in loan agreement and interest 

rate is charged @ 13% per annum. 



IRS lnvlT Fund 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Note S : Financial assets (current) 
5.1 Investments 

Particulars 

Investments at fair value through Profit & Loss 
Investments in mutual fund {quoted) 
581 liquid Fund 

March 31. 2024 • 94,495.892@ 3,779.2823 (March 31, 2023 - Nil) 

501 Overnight Direct Growth Fund 

March 31, 2024 - 90,420.257 Units@ Rs.3,895.7783 (March 31, 2023 - 268,294.368 Units@ 
Rs.3,649.2457) 

Aditya Birla Sun life Saving Fund * 

March 31, 2024 • 26,624.181 Units @ Rs. 506.1988 (March 31, 2023 - 24,339.564 Units @ 
Rs. 470.2589) 

SBI Magnum Low Duration Fund Direct Fund * 
March 31, 2024 ¥ 161,691.84 units @ Rs. 3,297.4205 (March 31, 2023 ~ 176,462.900 units @ 

Rs. 3,065.0878) 

'[(Mutual fund held for D5RA Rs.S,466.43 lakhs I March 31, 2023 :Rs.5,523.20 lakhs)) 

Total 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 
Aggregate market value of quoted Investments 

5.2 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash on hand 
Balances with banks; 
• In current accounts 
• ln escrow account* 
Total 

* Escrow account as hypothecated against secured loan. 

5.3 Other bank balances 
Debt service reserve account with banks /earmarked balance 
Original maturity more than 12 months 
Balances with Banks in : 
Unpaid distribution accounts 
Total 

5.4 Loans 

(Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Current maturities of long term loans to related parties 
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Loans to related parties ( Refer note 22) 
Total 

5.5 Other financial assets 

(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Interest accrued on fixed deposits 
Interest receivable from related parties 
Total 

Note 6: Current tax assets (net} 
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Advance income tax (net of provision for tax Rs. Nil (March 31, 2023; Rs. Nil)) 
Total 

Note 7 : Other current assets 

(Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated) 
Prepaid expenses 

(Rs.in lakhs) 

As at As at 
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

3,571.27 

3,522.57 

134.77 

5,331.66 

12,560.27 

12,560.27 
12,560.27 

0.03 

766.95 
599.67 

1,366.65 

483.00 

35.16 
518.16 

13,505.39 

25,902.71 
39,408.10 

0.32 
20,583.64 
20,583.96 

3.01 
3.01 

0.29 
0.29 

9,790.72 

114.46 

5,408.74 

15,313.92 

15,313.92 
15,313.92 

0.06 

0.85 
104.31 
105.22 

483.00 

33.86 
516.86 

13,137.16 

20,899.11 
34,036.27 

0.31 
18,688.28 
18,688.59 

1.20 
1.20 

0.28 
0.28 



IRB lnvlT Fund 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Note 8 ; Equity 

I. Unit capital 

Particulars 

a. Issued, subscribed and fully paid up unit capital 

580,500,000 (March 31, 2023 - 580,500,000] 

b. Initial settlement amount 

At the end of the year 

c. Terms / rights attached to units 

Rights of unit holders 

Asat 

March 31, 2024 

4,86,168.75 

0.10 

4,86,168.85 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

A, at 

March 31, 2023 

4,91,393.25 

0.10 

4,91,393.35 

Subject to the provisions of the Jnv!T Regulations, the Indenture of Fund, and applicable rules, regulations and guidelines, the rights of the unit holders 
include: 

a) right to receive income or distributions with respect to the units held; 

b) right to attend the annual general meeting and other meetings of the unit holders of the Fund; 

c) right to vote upon any matters/ resolutions proposed in relation to the Fund; 

d) right to receive periodic information having a bearing on the operations or performance of the Fund in accordance with the lnv!T Regulations; and 

e) right to apply to the Fund to take up certain issues at meetings for unit holders approvat 

In accordance with the lnv!T Regulations, no unit holders shall enjoy superior voting or any other rights over any other unit holders, and there shall not be 

multiple classes of units. There shall be only one denomination of units. Notwithstanding the above, subordinate units may be issued only to the Sponsor and 
its Associates, where such subordinate units shall carry only inferior voting or any other rights compared to the other units. 

Limitation to the liability of the unit holders 

The liability of each unit holders towards the payment of any amount (that may arise in relation to the Fund including any taxes, duties, fines, levies, liabilities, 

costs or expenses) shall be limited only to the extent of the capital contribution of such unit holders and after such capital contribution shall have been paid in 

full by the unit holders, the unit holders shall not be obligated to make any further payments. The unit holders(s) shall not have any personal liability or 
obligation with respect to the Fund. 

II. Reconciliation of the number of units outstanding and the amount of unit capital· 

At the beginning of the year 

l
lssued during the year 

Less: Capital reduction during the year (Refer note 28) 

At the end of the year 

Details of Sponsor units • 

!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

Details of unit holding more than 5% units • 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

Government Of Singapore 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Trustee Private Limited 

A/C Aditya Birla Sun Life Equlty Hybrid '95 Fund 

Note :9 Other Equity 

Particulars 

Retained earnings 

At the beginning of the year 

Profit/ (loss) for the year 

Interest distribution (Refer Note 28) 

Dividend distribution (Refer Note 28) 

Total Other Equity 

As at March 31,2024 

No. of units Amount Rs. in lakhs 

58,05,00,000 4,91,393.25 

, 

5,224.50 

58,0S,00,000 4,86,168.75 

As at March 31,2024 

No. of units I %holding 

9,27,05,000 7 15.97% 

As at March 31,2024 

No. of units ¾holding 

9,27,05,000 15.97% 

4,30,27,500 7.41% 

3,11,17,089 5.36% 

As at March 31,2023 

No. of units Amount Rs. In lakhs 

58,05,00,000 5,10,259.50 

18,866.25 

S8,05,00,000 4,91,393.25 

As at March 31,2023 

No. of units I %holdlng 

9,21,05,ooo I 15.97% 

As at March 31,2023 

No. of units 

9,27,05,000 

4,39,77,500 

3, 71,00,000 

A,at 

March 31, 2024 

23,300.20 

29,020.00 

(39,474.00) 

(1,741.50) 

11,104.70 

%holding 

15.97% 

7.58% 

6.40% 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 

March 31, 2023 

14,532.86 

40,114.34 

(31,347.00) 

23,300.20 
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Particulars 

Note 10: Non-current financial liabilities 

Borrowings 
Secured 
Term loans 
Indian rupee loan from banks 
less: Current maturities 

Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 
Less: Current maturities 

Less : Unamortised transaction cost (Secured borrowings) 

Unsecured 
Loans to related parties ( Refer note 22) 
- interest free 
Less: Current maturities of loan from related parties 

Total 
Secured Term loans 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at As at 
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

1,31,353.37 
(5,425.00) 

1,25,928.37 

18,706.00 
(94.00) 

18,612.00 

939.55 

59,415.71 
(16,219.10) 

1,86, 797 .43 

1,36,780.45 
(5,425.00) 

1,311355.45 

18,800.00 
(94.00) 

18,706.00 

1,039.65 

23,492.72 

1,72,514.S2 

i) Secured by pari passu on escrow account and on receivable of fund arising out of principal and interest payment of the loans by 
Fund to subsidiaries. 

ii) Pledge of shares held of 51% of share holding in the total paid-up equity share capital of IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited and 
IRS Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited 

iii) Interest rates on Indian rupee loan link with MCLR carries weighted average rate of 8.8% ( Previous year: 7.7%). The Indian 
rupee loan from banks & financial institutions is repayable in unstructured quarterly instalment as per the repayment schedule 
specified in loan agreement with the Lenders. 

iv) There have been no breaches in the financial covenants with respect to borrowings. 

v) Exclusive charge on the DSRA accounts created for respective facility. 

Unsecured loans from related parties 

The unsecured interest free loans taken from related parties is repayable within next two years from Balance Sheet date. 
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Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 

Note 11: Current financial liabilities 
11.1 Borrowing 
Secured loan 

Particulars 

Current maturities of long-term borrowings 
- Indian rupee loan from banks 

Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 
Unsecured loan 
Current maturities on long-term borrowings 

- From related parties 
Interest accrued and due on borrowings 
Total 

11.2 Trade Payables 

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises ( Refer note 20 a) 

b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises * 
Total 
* For related party balances, kindly refer note 22 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 90 day terms. 

11.3 Other financial liabilities 
Unpaid distribution 
Total 

Note 12 : Other current liabilities 
Statutory dues payable 
Total 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at As at 
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

5,425.00 
94.00 

16,219.10 
1.07 

21,739.17 

13.82 

384.22 

398.04 

35.16 
35.16 

42.56 
42.56 

5,425.00 
94.00 

5,519.00 

9.37 

189.95 

199.32 

33.86 
33.86 

34.88 
34.88 
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Note 13 : Revenue from operations 
Operating income 
Interest income 
Dividend income 
Total 

Note 14 : Other income 
Interest income on 

Particulars 

Interest income on bank deposits 
Interest income on income tax refund 

Profit on sale of investments 

Day one gain on fair valuation of loan from subsidiaries (Refer note 
Change in fair value on investments 
Total 

Note 15 : Finance costs 
Interest expense 

- Term loan from bank/ financial institutions 
Other borrowing cost 
Interest unwinding on loan 

Other finance costs ( including Unamortised transaction cost) 
Total 

Note 16 : Other expenses 
Legal and professional fees 

Payment to auditor (refer note below) 
Miscellaneous expenses 

Total 

Payment to auditor (including GST) 

As auditors: 

- Statutory audit fees 
- Limited review fees 

- Tax audit fees 

In other capacity: 

- Other services (certification fees) 

Reimbursement of expenses 

Total 

30) 

For the year ended 

March 31,2024 

58,732.25 
3,600.00 

62,332.25 

30.07 
0.04 

357.59 

8,380.43 
347.65 

9,115.78 

13,520.35 

4,102.11 

107.87 
17,730.33 

80.42 
23.13 
1.33 

104.88 

12.74 
6.37 
2.12 

1.06 
0.84 

23.13 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

For the year ended 
March 31,2023 

51,522.43 

51,522.43 

12.33 

0.15 
510.37 

5,384.57 

272.78 
6,180.20 

11,332.33 

185.30 
106.81 

11,624.44 

134.38 
15.22 

2.96 
152.56 

8.50 
4.25 
1.42 

0.35 
0.70 

15.22 
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Note 17: Earnings per unit (EPU) 

The following reflects the income and unit data used in the basic and diluted EPU computations: 

Profit attributable to unit holders of the Fund for basic & diluted earnings 

Weighted average number of unit for basic & diluted EPU 

Basic earning per unit (Amount in Rs.) 

Diluted earning per unit (Amount in Rs.) 

Note 18: Capital and other commitments 

There are no capital and other commitments as at March 31, 2024 (March 31,2023 : Rs. NIL). 

Note 19 :Contingent liabilities 

There are no contingent liabilities as at March 31, 2024 (March 31,2023 : Rs. NIL). 

Note 20 : Trade Payables 

a) Details of dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

29,020.00 

58,05,00,000.00 

5.00 

5.00 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

Asal 
March 31, 2023 

40,114.34 

58,05,00,000.00 

6.91 

6.91 

The following details regarding Micro and small Enterprises has been determined to the extent such parties has been identified on the basis of information available with the 
Fund. 

Particulars 

Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the period end 

Interest due thereon 

Amount of interest paid by the Trust in terms of section 16 of the MS MED, along with the amount of the payment made 
to the supplier beyond the appointed day during the accounting period. 

Amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (whlch have been paid but beyond the 
appointed day during the period) but without adding the interest specified under the MSMED, 2006 

Amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting period 

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even In the succeeding years, until such date when the 
interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible 
expenditure under the MSMED Act, 2006 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

13.82 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

Asat 
March 31, 2023 

9.37 

MSME ageing schedule as at (Rs.in lakhs) 

Particulars 

Undisputed Dues 

Unbilled amount 

Less than 1 year 

1-2 Years 

2-3 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

There are no disputed dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

"'" March 31, 2024 

13.82 

13.82 

Asat 
March 31, 2023 

9.37 

9.37 
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b) Ageing of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at 

Particulars 

Undisputed Dues 

Unbilled amount 

Less than 1 year 

1-2 Years 

2-3 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total dues to creditors other than micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

There are no disputed dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises, 

Note 21; Operating segment 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

13.70 

370.52 

384.22 

(Rs.in lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

12.95 

177.00 

189.95 

The Fund is engaged in to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in India which in the context of Ind AS 108 - Operating Segments is considered as 

the only segment. The Fund's activities are restricted within India and hence, no separate geographical segment disclosure ls considered necessary. 
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Note 22 : Related party transaction 

(vi) 

(i) Subsidiaries/ SPVs 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAlL) 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) 

!RB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) 

!RB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) 

!RB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) 

VKI Expressway Limited (VKI) (w.e.f. October 13, 2022) 

(ii) Parties to the InvlT 

(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period/ year and /or there was balance outstanding at the period/ year end) 

!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) (Sponsor & Project Manager) 

IRB lnfrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) (Investment Manager) 

IDB! Trusteeship Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 

(iii) Promoters of Sponsor & Project Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

Vircndra D. Mhaiskar HUF 

(iv) Directors of Sponsor & Project Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

Mr. C'handrashekhar S. Kaptan 

Mr. Sunil H. Talati 

Mr. Sand<..'"Cp J. Shah 

Ms. Priti Savla 

Mr. Jose Angel Tamariz Martel Goncer 

Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal (w.c.f. August 05 ,2022) 

Mr. Carlos Ricardo Ugarte Cruz Coke (till August 05 ,2022) 

(v) Directors of Subsidiaries of Sponsor (Sponsor Group) 

(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period/ year and /or there was balance outstanding at the period/ year end) 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Shanna 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar 

Ms. Shilpa Todankar 

Mr. Abhay Phatak 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh ( w .e. f. May 31,2023) 

Promoters of Investment manager 

!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 
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(vii) Directors of Investment Manager 

Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon 

Mr. Rajindcr Pal Singh 

Mr. Sunil Tandon 

Mr. Nikesh Jain 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi (w.e.[ March 31, 2023) 

Mrs. Anusha Date (w.e.f. March 31, 2023) 

(viii) Relative of directors of Investment Manager & Subsidiaries company 

(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period I year and /or there was balance outstanding at the period/ year end) 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi 

(ix) Directors of Subsidiaries company /SPV's 

Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 

Mr. Omprakash Singh 

Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar 

Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 

(x) Relative of directors of Subsidiaries company/ SPV's 

(Only with whom there have been transactions during the period/ year and /or there was balance outstanding at the period/ year end) 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 

(xi) Promotors of Trustee 

IDBI Bank Limited 

Life Insurance Corporation of India 

General Insurance Corporation of India 

(xii) Directors of Trustee 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra (w.c.f. December 14, 2022) 

Ms. Baljinder Kaur Manda! (w.e.f. January 17, 2023) 

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain 

Ms. Jayashree Vijay Ranadc 

Mr. Jayakumar Subramonia Pillai (w.e.t: July 18, 2023) 

Mr. J. Samuel Joseph (till April 18, 2023) 

Mrs. Padma Betai (till December 31, 2022) 

Mrs. Madhuri J. Kulkarni (till December 6, 2022) 
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Related party transaction during the year 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation 
Year ended Year ended 

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

1 Repayment of secured loan (Long term) 13,137.16 10,021,38 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (IJDTL) Subsidiary 4,160.51 3,762.07 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 5,063.95 2,948.51 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway limited (ITATL) Subsidiary 1,088.61 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited {MffL) Subsidiary 2,824.09 3,310.80 

2 Unsecured loan given (Long term) 50,605.64 45,947.80 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (!JDTL) Subsidiary 14,453.00 5,938.00 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 32,128.75 6,113.00 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) Subsidiary 500.00 4,089.00 

!RB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 3,523.89 12,89S.00 

VK1 Expressway limited (VKl) Subsidiary 16,912.80 

3 Repayment of unsecured loan (Long term) 6,252.09 9,215.00 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 6,252.09 9,215.00 

4 Unsecured loans given (Short term) 32,154.94 10,915.91 

IRB Jaipur Oeoli Tollway limited (UDTL) Subsidiary 9,793.99 57.00 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toi! Road Limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 10,917.46 1,959.20 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) Subsidiary 4,338.52 4,023.21 

IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 3,402.20 3,655.00 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited (MITL) Subsidiary 2,242.00 1,221.50 

VKl Expressway Limited (VKl) Subsidiary 1,460.77 

5 Repayment of unsecured loan given (Short term) 27,151.34 6,231.70 

IRS Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (IJDTL) Subsidiary 707.00 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 3,858.66 

IRS Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (!TATL) Subsidiary 4,023.21 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (!TCTL) Subsidiary 920.20 3,000.00 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 16,181.50 3,231.70 

VK1 Expressway limited (VKl) Subsidiary 1,460.77 . 

6 Unsecured loan taken (long term) 40,201.31 28,692.00 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) Subsidiary 40,201.31 11,204.00 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAIL) Subsidiary 17,488.00 

7 Interest lncome 58,766,62 51,555.36 

IRS Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited {IJDTL) Subsidiary 14,760.86 12,540.45 

IRS Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (lPATRL) Subsidiary 17,454.18 13,942.30 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (!TATL) Subsidiary 6,680.20 6,069.65 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 15,303.52 13,240.59 

M.V.R. lnfrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 2,355.44 4,860.09 

VKl Expressway Limited (VKl) Subsidiary 2,212.42 902.28 

8 Dividend income 3,600.00 . 
M.V.R, Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 3,600.00 
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Related party transaction during the year 

Sr. No. Partkulars Relation 
Year ended Year ended 

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

9 Other income• Interest unwinding• loan 8,380.43 5,384.58 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISOTL) Subsidiary 8,380.43 2,588.49 
IDAA Infrastructure Umited {IOAAll) Subsidiary 2,796.09 

10 Finance cost • Interest unwinding on loan 4,102.11 185.30 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTL) Subsidiary 2,747.30 12.93 
IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IOAAIL) Subsidiary 1,354.81 172.37 

11 Investment Management fees (including indirect taxes) 1,180.00 1,180.00 

IRB Infrastructure Private limited (IRBFL) 
Investment 

1,180.00 1,180.00 
Manager 

12 Distribution In the form of interest 7,314,93 5,787.54 

IRB Infrastructure Developers limited (IRBlDL) 
Sponsor & Project 

6,303.94 5,006.07 
Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor & 

832.32 660.96 
Project Manager 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Director of Sponsor & 

119.85 85.95 
Project Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Director of Sponsor & 

0.68 0.54 
Project Manager 

Dlrector of Investment 
Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon Manager & 2.04 1.62 

Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Bajrang La! Gupta 
Director of 

068 0.54 Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 
Director of 

Subsidiaries company 
3.74 2.97 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 
Relative of directors of 
Subsidiaries company 

2.04 1.62 

Relative of directors of 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi 
Investment Manager 

2.04 1.62 
& Subsidiaries 

company 

Directors of 

Mr. Dhanan/ay K. Joshi 
Subsidiaries of 

1.02 0.81 Sponsor (Sponsor 
Group) 

Directors of 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing 
Subsidiaries of 

10.88 8.64 
Sponsor (Sponsor 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Rajpau! S. Sharma 
Subsidiaries of 

Sponsor (Sponsor 
0.68 0.54 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka 
Subsidiaries of 

0.68 0.54 
Sponsor (Sponsor 

Group\ 
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Related party transaction during the year 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation 
Year ended Year ended 

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

Directors of 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar 
Subsidiaries of 

Sponsor (Sponsor 
17.00 13.50 

Group) 
Directors of 

Ms. Shi!pa Todankar Subsidiaries of 
0.68 0.54 Sponsor {Sponsor 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr, Abhay Phatak Subsidiaries of 
Sponsor (Sponsor 

1.36 1.08 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh 
Subsidiaries of 

15.30 
Sponsor (Sponsor 

Group) 

13 Distribution in form of retum of capital 967.53 3,482.72 

!RB Infrastructure Developers Limited {IRBIDL) 
Sponsor & Project 

834.35 3,012.91 
Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor & 
110.16 397,80 

Project Manager 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor & 
15,45 51.16 Project Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Director of Sponsor & 

0.09 0.33 Project Manager 

Director of Investment 
Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon Manager & 0.27 0.98 

Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 
Director of 

Subsidiaries company 
0.09 0.33 

Mr. Sum it Banerjee Director of 
Subsidiaries company 0.50 1.79 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee 
Relative of directors of 
Subsidiaries company 

0.27 0.98 

Relative of directors of 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi 
Investment Manager 

0.27 0.98 & Subsidiaries 
company 

Directors of 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 
Subsidiaries of 

0,14 0.49 Sponsor (Sponsor 
Group) 

Directors of 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 
Subsidiaries of 

Sponsor (Sponsor 
1.44 5.20 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Subsidiaries of 
Sponsor {Sponsor 

0.09 0,33 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka 
Subsidiaries of 

Sponsor (Sponsor 
0.09 0.33 

Group) 
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Related party transaction during the year 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation 
Vear ended Vear ended 

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

Directors of 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar Subsidiaries of 
Sponsor (Sponsor 

2.25 8.13 

Group) 
Directors of 

Ms. Shilpa Todankar Subsidiaries of 
Sponsor {Sponsor 

0.09 0.33 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Abhay Phatak Subsidiaries of 
Sponsor (Sponsor 

0.18 0.6S 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh Subsidiaries of 
Sponsor (Sponsor LBO 

Group) 

14 Distribution in form of dividend 323.37 

IRB Infrastructure Developers limited (IRB!DL) 
Sponsor & Project 

278.12 
Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor & 
36.72 Project Manager 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor & 
5.70 

Project Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati Director of Sponsor & 
0.03 

Project Manager 

Director of Investment 
Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon Manager & 0.09 

Subsidiaries company 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 
Director of 

Subsidiaries company 0.03 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee Director of 
Subsidiaries company 

0.17 

Mrs. Surabhi Banerjee Relative of directors of 
Subsidiaries company 

0.09 

Relative of directors of 

Mrs. Nayana Gandhi Investment Manager 
0,09 

& Subsidiaries 
company 

0lredorsof 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 
Subsidiaries of 

Sponsor (Sponsor 0.05 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hashing Subsidiaries of 
Sponsor (Sponsor 

0.48 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Subsidiaries of 
Sponsor {Sponsor 

0.03 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Amitabh Murarka 
Subsidiaries of 

0.03 
Sponsor (Sponsor 

Group) 
Dlrectors of 

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar Subsidiaries of 
0.75 

Sponsor (Sponsor 
Group) 
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Related party transaction during the year 

Sr. No. Particulars 
Year ended Vear ended 

Relation 
March 31, 2024 March 3_1, 2.023 

Directors of 

Ms. Shl!pa Todankar 
Subsidiaries of 

0.03 
Sponsor (Sponsor 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Abhay Phatak 
Subsidiaries of 

0,06 
Sponsor {Sponsor 

Group) 
Directors of 

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh 
Subsidiaries of 

0.90 
Sponsor (Sponsor 

Group) 

15 Trustee fee 29.50 

IDBI Trusteeship Services limited (ITSL) Trustee 29.50 

• During the year ended March 31, 2023, pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2022, the Fund has acqulred VK1 Expressway 
limited (VKl) from IRBIDL 

Summary of valuation report dated August 5, 2022 lssued by the independent valuer under the SEBI {lnv!T) Regulations is as follows:­

Fair Enterprise value and equity value of VKl Expressway limited (VKl) as on July 31, 2022 is as under:-

(Rs In lakhs} 

Equity value 
Name of the SPV Fair enterprise value (including shareholder 

loan) 

VK1 Expressway limited (VK1) 1,32,540.00 37,670.00 

29.50 

29.50 

After considering the aforesaid Valuation Report submitted by the relevant independent valuer and pursuant to the negotiations between the Investment 

Manager and the Sponsor, VKl Expressway limited (VKl) was acquired from the Sponsor. The aggregate purchase consideration agreed upon of Rs. 34,200 
lakhs was utilised for acquisition of 100% of the equity share capital of VK1 Expressway Limited (VK1) and for payment of the shareholder loan provided to 

VKl Expressway Limited {VKl) by the Sponsor. This aggregate consideration is at .. 9% discount to the Equity Value (i.e., the value of the equity and the 
shareholder loan of the project). 

The project was acquired through external borrowings of Rs. 18,800 !akhs and balance out of internal accruals. 

• The following approach and assumptlons have been considered for the valuation exercise:-

a. 

b. 

The Free Cash Flows to Firm under the Discounted Cash Flow Method has been used for the purpose of valuation of the above SPV. 

The Weighted Average Cost of capital for the above SPV has been consldered as the discount rate for the above SPV for the purpose of 
valuation. 
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Related party outstanding balances 

Sr. No. Particulars 

1 Equity Investment 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

IRS Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTL) 

IRS Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited {IDAAIL) 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (lPATRL) 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway limited (ITATL) 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited (MITL) 

VKl Expressway Limited (VKl) 

Subordinated debt 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) 

lRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road limited (IPATRL) 

lRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited {ITCTL) 

Secured loan receivable (Long term) 

lRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (UDTL) 

JRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road limited (IPATRL) 

!RB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) 

lRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited {ITCTL) 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited (MITL) 

Unsecured loan receivable (Long term) 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited {tJDTL) 

IRB PathankotAmritsarToll Road limited (IPATRL) 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTL) 

M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited (MITL) 

VKl Expressway limited (VKl) 

Unsecured loan receivable (Short term} 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (UDTL) 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) 

!RB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 

M.V.R, Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) 

Interest recievable 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited {IPATRL) 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTL) 

Unsecured loan payable (Long term) 

lRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited {ISDTL) 

IDAA Infrastructure limited (IDAAIL) 

Trade payables 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (!RBFL) 

Relation 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

Investment Manager 

Asat 

March 31, 2024 

1,44,850.08 

53,232.48 

13,175.00 

19,812.00 

9,909.00 

4,925.00 

15,550.00 

10,902.00 

17,344.60 

99,431.00 

39,525.00 

29,581.00 

14,775.00 

15,550.00 

3,03,278.35 

83,553.12 

84,589.43 

36,065.23 

93,712.76 

5,357.81 

1,32,294.73 

27,298.71 

53,731.79 

10,594.47 

23,756.96 

16,912.80 

25,902.71 

9,143.99 

9,018.00 

4,338.52 

3,402.20 

20,583.64 

3,557.84 

17,025.80 

59,415.71 

43,196.61 

16,219.10 

370.00 

370.00 

( Rs in lakhs) 

As at 

March 31, 2023 

1,44,850.08 

53,232.48 

13,175.00 

19,812.00 

9,909.00 

4,925.00 

15,550.00 

10,902.00 

17,344.60 

99,431.00 

39,525.00 

29,581.00 

14,775.00 

15,550.00 

3,16,415.51 

87,713.63 

89,653.37 

37,153.84 

93,712.76 

8,181.91 

87,941.18 

12,845.71 

21,603.04 

10,094.47 

20,233.07 

6,252.09 

16,912.80 

20,899.11 

57.00 

1,959.20 

4,023.21 

920.20 

13,939.50 

18,688.28 

18,688.28 

23,492.72 

8,628.44 

14,864.28 

177.00 

177.00 
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Note 23 : Fair Values 

Financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying values of financials instruments of the Fund are reasonable and approximations of fair values. 

The accounting classification of each category of financial instruments, their carrylng amounts and the categories of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, are set out 
below: 

Financial assets 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

loans 

Other financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Other Sank balances 

Financial assets measured at fair value through statement of Profit & Loss 

Investments in mutual funds 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilitles measured at amortised cost 

Trade payables 

Borrowings 

Other financial liabilities 

Carrying amount 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

4,61,714,65 

20,583.96 

1,366.65 

518.16 

12,560.27 

398.04 

2,08,536.59 

35.16 

Asat 
March 31, 2023 

4,25,529.03 

18,68859 

105.22 

516.86 

15,313.92 

199.32 

1,78,033.52 

33.86 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Fair Value 

Asat 
March 31, 2024 

4,61,475.79 

20,583.96 

1,366.65 

518.16 

12,560.27 

398.04 

2,09,476.15 

35.16 

Asal 
March 31, 2023 

4,25,25S.80 

18,688.59 

105.22 

516.86 

15,313.92 

199.32 

1,79,073.17 

33.86 

The management assessed that the fair value of loans, other financial assets, cash and cash equivalents, other bank balance,trade payables, borrrowings and other current 
llabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these Instruments. 

The fair value of the financfal assets and liabillties is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than 
in a forced or liquidation sale. 

The Fund is required to present the Statement of total assets at fair value and Statement of total returns at fair value as per SEBI Master Circular SESI/HO/OOHS-PoD-

2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023 as a part of these Consolidated financial statements - Refer Statement of Net assets at fair value and Statement ofTotal Returns at fair value. 

Note 24: Fair Value Hierarchy 

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole. 

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) price is active market for identical assets or liabilities 

level 2: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement are observed, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input has a significant effect on the fair value measurement !snot based on observable market data. 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2024 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year 
As at using 

March 31, 2024 ---------"'-"'---------
level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Assets 

Investments tn mutual funds(Quoted) 12,560.27 12,560<27 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2023 : 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year 
As at using 

March 31, 2023 -----------'---------
Level 1 level 2 

Assets 

Investments in mutual funds(Quoted) 15,313.92 15,313.92 

There has been no transfer between Levell , Level 2 & Level 3 during the year. 
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Note 25 : Disclosure Pursuant To Ind As 36 "Impairment Of Assets" 

In respect of the surrendered projects, the recoverable amounts has been computed by the Management based on a review of the financial position of the said subsidiaries. For the 
investments in IOAA and IRBSO, provision for impairment aggregating to Rs. 1,311.62 lakhs (Previous Year: Rs. 4,522.50 Lakhs) has been recognised in the statement of profit and 
loss for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

Based on a review of the future discounted cash flows of the subsidiaries, the recoverable amount is higher than the carrying amount of the investments except for the investments 

in IRBPA and accordingly, provision for impairment aggregating to Rs. 21,989.48 lakhs (Previous Year: Rs. Nil ) recognised In the statement of profit and loss for the year ended 
March 31, 2024. 

Note 26: Financial risk management objectives and polldes 

The fund's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the fund, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the fund's activities. 

The Board of Directors of Investment Manager have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the fund's risk management framework. 

In performing its operating, investing and financing activities, the fund is exposed to the Credit risk, Liquidity risk and Market risk. 

a. Market Risk 

Market rlsk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, 
deposits and intestments. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Fund is exposed to credit risk 

from !ts investing activities including loans to subsidiaries, deposits with banks and other financial instruments. As at March 31, 2024, the credit risk is considered low since 
substantial transactions of the Fund are with its subsidiaries. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The fund's exposure to the risk 
of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the fund's tong-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

Interest rate sensitivity 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in Interest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected, after the excluding the credit 
exposure for which interest rate swap has been taken and hence the interest rate is fixed. With all other variables held constant, the Fund's profit before tax is affected through the 
Impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows: 

Increase in basis points 

-INR 

Effect on profit before tax 

-INR 

Decrease in basis points 

·INR 

Effect on profit before tax 

-INR 

b. Liquidity risk 

For the year 

ended 
March 31,2024 

so 

739.98 

50 

(739.98) 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

For the year 

ended 
March 31,2023 

50 

769.66 

50 

(769.66) 

liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses. The Fund's objective is 
to, at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. 

The Fund closely monitors its liquidity position and deploys a robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing including debt and overdraft from banks 
at an optimised cost. 

The liquidity risk is managed on the basis of expected maturity dates of the financial liabilities. The average credit period taken to settle trade payables is about 30 to 90 days. The 
other payables are with short-term duratlons. The carrying amounts are assumed to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. The following table analyses financial liabilities by 
remaining contractual maturities: 
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The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Fund's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments: 

{Rs. in lakhs) 

March 31, 2024 Less than l year l to 5 years > 5 years Total 

Borrowings 36,198.32 1,14,921.68 1,66,551.75 3,17,671.75 

Other financial liabilities 35.16 35.16 

Trade payables 398.04 398.04 

Total 36,631.52 1,14,921,68 1,66,551.75 3,18,104.95 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

March 31, 2023 Less than 1 year l to 5 years > 5 years Total 

Borrowings 18,914.13 94,591.50 1,80,316.43 2,93,822.06 

other financial liabilities 33.86 33.86 

Trade payables 199.32 199.32 

Total 19,147.31 94,591.50 1,80,316.43 2,94,055.24 

At present, the fund does expects to repay al! liabilities at their contractual maturity. ln order to meet such cash commitments, the operating activity is expected to generate 
sufficient cash inflows. 

Note 27 : Capital management 

Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital structure and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and 
maximise shareholder value. The Trust manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions or its business requirements. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Fund may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in 
the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023. 

The Fund monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as loans and borrowings less cash and cash 
equivalents. 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

A>at A>at 
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

Borrowings 2,09,476.15 1,79,073.17 

less: cash and cash equivalents (1,366.65) (105.22) 

Net debt {A) 2,08,109.50 1,78,967.95 

Total equity (B) 4,97,273.55 5,14,693.55 

Capital and net debt C = A+ B 7,05,383.05 6,93,661.50 

Gearing ratio(%) (C / A) 29.50% 25.80% 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the fund's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing 

loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. 
There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any Interest-bearing borrowings in the current period. 

Note 28 : Dlstribution made 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

For the year For the year 
ended ended 

March 31,2024 March 31,2023 

Distributed during the year as : 

Interest 39,474.00 31,347,00 

Return on capital 5,224.50 18,866.25 

Dividend 1,741.50 

Total 46,440.00 50,213.25 

The above pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along with the distribution related to the last quarter of FY 2022-23 and does not include the distribution 
relating to the last quarter of FY 2023~24 which wilt be paid after March 31, 2024. 

Note 29 : Project acquisition 

Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated October 13, 2022, the Fund has acquired the subsidiary company viz. VKl Expressway Limited ('Project SPV') for an aggregate 
purchase consideration of Rs. 34,200.00 !akhs towards 100% of the equity share capital of Project SPV and repayment of the shareholder loan to Project SPV. For details refer note 
no.22 

Note 30 : Note on Day one fair valuation Impact 

The Trust is in receipt of borrowings from subsidiary companies which are accounted for at fair value. T 

Previous year Rs.5,384.57 lakhs ) has been included as part of other Income and the subsequent unwind 
Profit & loss account. 

fair valuation amounting to Rs. 8,380.43 !akhs ( 
tion would be charged to the Statement of 
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Note 31 :loans or advances to specified persons 

{Rs. In lakhs) 

As at M<1rch 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023 
Types of borrower 

Promoters 

Directors 

KMPs 

Related Parties 

Total aggregate loans 

• represents loan or advance !n the nature of loan 

~ represents percentage to the total Loans and Advances in the nature of loan 

Nt320thfl oe ' " nanc1a n • II fo r rma 10n * ra os 

Particulars 

Current Ratio 

Debt - Equity Ratio 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 

Return on Equity (ROE): 

Inventory Turnover Ratio 

Trade receivables turnover ratio (no. of days) 

Trade payables turnover ratio (no. of days) 

Net profit ratio 

Net capieal turnover ratio 

Return on capital employed (ROCE) 

Return on investment (ROI) 

Note: 

a) current ratio (in times) : Current Assets / Current liabilities 

b) Debt- Equity ratio: Total Debt divided by Equity 

Amount 
outstanding• 

4,61,475.79 

4,61,475.80 

note reference 

' 
b 

' 
d 

' 
f 

' h 

i 

%ofTotal" 

100% 

100% 

For the year ended 
March 31,2024 

JJS 

0.42 

5.91 

6.00% 

Not applicable 

Not applicable 

4.68 days 

46.56% 

1.19 

6.62% 

6.11% 

Amount 
outstanding• 

4,25,255.80 

4,25,255.80 

For the year ended 
March 31,2023 

11.86 

0.35 

10.67 

8.00% 

Not applicable 

Not applicable 

3.31 days 

77.86% 

0.82 

7.47% 

5.33% 

% of Total" 

100"/4 

100% 

c) Debt Seri,ice Coverage Ratio (DSCR] (no. of times) : Net Profit before interest add other non cash adjustment, divided by Interest expense {net of interest cost on unwinding {long term 
unsecured loans) and amortisation of transaction cost) together with repayments of long term debt during the period 

d) ROE : Net Profits after taxes / Average Shareholder's Equity 

e) Trade payables turnover ratio" Net Credit Purchases/ Average Trade Payables 

!) Net profit margin (in%) : profit after tax/ Revenue from operation 

g) Net capital turnover ratlo (in times)"' Net sales/ Working Capital 

h) ROCE : Earning before interest and taxes / Capital Employed (Capita! Employed = Net Worth+ Total Debt+ Deferred TaK Liability) 

i) Return on investment (ROI)= Income generated from invested fund/ Average invested funds in treasury investment 

Note 33 Other Statutory Information 

i) The Trust have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year. 

Ii) The Trust does not hold benami property and no proc;eedings under Benami transaction (Prohibition) Act 1988 have been lnitiated against the trust. 

iii) The Trust do not have any transactions with companies struck off. 

lv) The Trust have not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the 
Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961. 

v) The Trust have not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), lncludlng foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded In wrlting or otherwise) that the Trust 
shall: 

(a) directly or lndlrectly lend or invest in other persons or entitles identified in any m<1nner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (U!tJmate Beneficiaries) or 

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

vi) The Trust have not advance or loaned or invested (either from borrowed fund or share premlum or any other source or kind of fund) by the company to or in any person{s) or entity(ies), 
including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Trust shall: 

(a) directly or indlrect!y !end or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or 

(b) provide any guarantee. security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

vii) The Trust did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contract for which there were any material foreseeable losses. 

viii) The Trust has not declared a wilful defaulter by any bank/ financial Institution or any other lender during the year. 
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Note 34 : Investment Manager Fees 

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is entitled to an Investment Management fees to be calculated @ 1% per annum, exclusive of GST, 
of the consolidated toll revenue (net of premium paid/ revenue shared with NHAI) of the Fund at the end of the reporting period subject to a floor of Rs. 1000.00 lakhs and a cap of 
Rs. 2500.00 lakhs, 

Note 35 Interest receivables from a Subsidiary company 

Due to dispute on the deferred premium calculation of previous years between IRBTC ('the Subsidiary company' or 'concessionaire') and the NHAI, the concessionaire had filed 

appeal with the Hon'ble High Court of Delhi for resolution against the NHAl's demand of advance premium of Rs. 1698.00 lakhs in aggregate and interest on it. As per the interim 
order of the Division Bench of Hon'ble High Court, withdrawals from Escrow Account were not permitted till the final order in the matter. The Division Bench of Hon'ble High Court, 
while disposing off the petitions, had continued with the embargo on withdrawals from the Escrow Account. The Hon'ble High Court further referred the matter to Arbitration 
Tribunal for adjudication and interim relief, if any, to the Parties based on their applications. 

During the arbitration proceedings, the Hon'b!e Arbitral Tribunal, in its Interim Award, had removed the existing embargo on the operations of the Escrow Account and permitted 
the wlthdrawals towards taxes, O&M payments and debt servicing by the Company aggregating to Rs. 19300.00 Jakhs and also allowed withdrawals for payment of undisputed 

premium/ revenue share to NHAI. Moreover, the Hon'ble Arbitral Tribunal permitted the operations of the escrow account to continue as per the waterfall mechanism provided in 
the Escrow agreement. The matter is currently pending before the Arbitral Tribunal. 

As on March 31, 2024 the outstanding interest receivable is Rs. 17,025.80 lakhs ( As on March 31,2023 : Rs. 18,688.28 lakhs) which is expected to be recovered considering the 
overall performance and financial position of IRSTC. 

Note 36 : Significant accounting Judgement, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Fund's financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, 
assets and liabilities and the accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in out comes 
that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 

Judgement 

In the process of applying the Fund's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. 

Classlfication of unit holders Funds 

Under the provisions of the lnvlT Regulations, Fund is required to distribute to Unit holders not less than ninety percent of the net distributable cash flows of Fund for each financial 

year- Accordingly, a portion of the unit holders' Funds contains a contractual obligation of the Fund to pay to its Unit holders cash distributions. The Unit holder's Funds could 
therefore have been classified as compound financial instrument which contain both equity and liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32-Financial Instruments: 
Presentation. 

However, in accordance with SEBI Master Circular no. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/llS dated July 06, 2023 issued under the SEB! JnvlT Regulations, the Unitholders funds 
have been classified as equity in order to comply with the mandatory requirements of Section H of Chapter 3 to the SEBI Master Circular dated July 06, 2023 dealing with the 
minimum disclosures for key financial statements. In line with the above, the dividend payable to unit holders is recognised as liability when the same Is approved by the Investment 
Manager. 

Estimates and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities or fair value disclosures within the next financial year, are described below. The Fund based its assumptions and estimates on parameters 
available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or 
circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Fund. Such charges are reflected in the assumptions when they occur 

Fair valuation and disclosures 

SEBI Circulars issued under the !nvlT Regulations required is diclosures relating to net assets at fair value and total returns at fair value. In estimating the fair value of investments in 
subsidiaries (which constitute substantial portion of the net assets), the Fund engages independent qualified external valuers to perform the valuation. The management works 

closely with the valuers to establlsh the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The management reports the valuation report and findings to the Board of the 
Investment Manager half yearly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the road projects. The inputs to the valuation models are taken from observable markets 
where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, 
Inflation rates etc. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the fair value. (refer note 23 for details). 

Impairment of investments and loans in subsidiaries 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value 
in use. The recoverable amounts for the investments in subsidiaries are based on value in use of the underlying projects. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF mode!. The 
cash flows are derived from budgets/ forecasts over the life of the projects. 

Note 37 : Taxes 

In accordance with section 10 {23FC) of the Income Tax Act, the income of business Fund in the form of interest & dividend received or receivable from Project SPV is exempt from 
tax. Accordingly, the Fund is not required to provide any current tax liability. Further, deferred tax as ~::JJ"!:1/'!~!!/!. sis not being created since there is no virtual 
certainty of reversal of the same in the near future, 
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Note 38 : Subsequent events 

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have approved 4th Distribution of Rs. 2.00 per unit which comprises of Rs.1. 70 per unit as interest and Re, 0.30 per unit as 
dividend in their meeing hold on April 30, 2024. 

Note 39 : Previous year comparatives 

Previous year's figures have been regrouped / reclassified, wherever necessary to conform to the current year's presentation. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

121750W/W100010 

Partner 

Membership No,: 102306 

Place: Mumbal 
Date : April 30, 2024 

Signature to Note 1 to 39 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB lnvlT Fund) 

✓ 

~ 
Director & CFO 

DIN: 08089312 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : April 30, 2024 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



ma Infrastructure Pri11ate Limited 
8;:llance sheet as at March 31, 2024 

I ASSETS 
{l) Non"urrent assetJ. 

Property, plant imd equipment 
Deferred ta a~sels (net) 

(ZJ Current assets 
Financial asseu 

Trade receiVables 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Loans 

Current tax assets (net) 
Other current assets 

Total assets 
IJ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 
Equity share capita! 
Other equity 
Re1a!ned earnings 

(1) Non-cummt llabllltles 
Provision1 

(Zi Current !lablllties 
FinancCal llabUitles 

Note 
No, 

4 

s 

' 7 

' ' 10 

l!A 

118 

12 

Trade payables 13 
a) total outs!<Jndlng dues of micro enterprises and small enterprlses 
bl total outstanding dues of treditors other than mie:ro enterprites and 
small enterprises 
Other financial liabilities 14 

Other current 1iabillties 15 
Provisions 16 

Totil1 llabiUtles 

Total Equity and Uabl!)lfos 
summary materlal e,counting polic.11:is 

.... 
March 31, 2024 

0.41 
0.63 
1.04 

3,7,00 
2.56 

552.52 
0.01 
0.04 

592.13 

S93,17 

100.00 

481.68 
581.68 

0.65 
o.Gs 

0.07 

2.14 

2.83 
5.28 
0.52 

10,84 

11.49 

593.17 

{Rs. In mi!lioM) 

""' ~JCh 31, 2023 

0.66 
0.59 

17.70 
3.95 

529.02 
2.16 
0,02. 

ss2.as 

S54.10 

100.00 

446.50 
546.50 

0.65 
o.GS 

0.05 

0.52 

1.78 
,uo 
0.50 
6.95 

7.60 

554.10 

The .:iecompanying summary of materfal .:iccounting policies and other explanatory Information are .i! an integr.ll part of the financial ~tatcment~. 

As per our report of e11en date 
For Gokha!e & Sa the 
Chartered Accountants 
ICA! Firm Regi tration Number: 1 

Partner 
Membership Ntimber: 148652 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : Aprll 30, 2024 

For and on behalf of the Bo.ird of Dlredors of 
IRS Infrastructure Private Limlled 
CIN: U28920MH1997PTC112626 

Vlnodkumar Menon 
Chief Exe,ut!ve Officer and 
Whole nme Director 
DIN: 03075345 

Swapna Veng:urlekor 

Company Secretary 
Membership No.:A32376 

Place: Mumbai 
Date : April 30, 2024 

Rl$habh Gandlll 
Director and 
Chief F!nancla! Officer 
DIN: 08089312 
Membership No.:142.334 



IR6 1r1frastru1;:tttre Private Llmlted 
St$t~ment of Profit and ton fot the year ls!l'Uitd Mim:h 31, 2024 

1m:ome 
Revenue from opm.Jtions 
Otheflneome 

TOTAL JNCOME 

Eicpunse;. 
Site and other direct ei.:penset 
Employee benefit$ e:xperu:e 
D.:prcciatlon expenses 

01her expense:5 
lOtAt EXPENSES-
Profit before tax 

TueKpeme.s 
cuuent tax ilndudlng 11djustment cf earll11r yean) 
Deferred lait 
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
Profit for the period 

Other comprtthem;ive Income 
Item that w!II not to be reela,s!fled to profit or lots In 

subsequent p;l'rlods 
Re-measurement galns/ {IO$Ses) Ort def'mcr.t benefit 
pf;m~ \net of taxes) 

Net other eomprehenshte- !neomc not to be reclussltled 
to pr<'.lfit ar loss Ill 5ub!iequent periods 

Other comprehensive: lncoma for the period (net cf tt:i) 
Tor;ll compmh:enthte lricome for the year\ net of tax) 

filmlngs per ll4luitv ih:m1 (of Rs. 100 11,11;:hf 
!Iasit: 
D'./u~d 

Nott 
No, 

" 1S 

l9 
w 
21 
22 

" 

For dm year 1md<!d 

March :u~ 202-4 

100.00 
0.42 

100.42 

1.25 
4S...l1 

0,25 

S.17 
S2.04 
4U8. 

0.16 

!0.161 
~0.16}-
3S.18 

35,34 
35,34 

Fortheyear~riQed 

M;irth 11, 2023 

100,00 
0,87 

100.87 

3:9.68 
0,,0 

u.s, 
51,51 

0.55 
0.48 

0,23 

0.23 
0,23 

48.$5 

4lt33 
48.,33 

The an:ampanying summary of maHniill accounting policles and other exp1am;tory lnform.ttlor. atf! as an inte&tal part cf 

the flnanclal statements. 

For GokN!e & hthe 

Partnet 
Mernber~hlp Number: 148652: 

Pl~Ct': M;,,mb,11 

O.ite 1 April 30, 20J.4 

For and on behalf of the Soard of Oiret:too of 
!RB tnfr.u:troctu«} Private limited 
CtN: t,l;?8it20MIJ19\)7PTC11262$ 

V 
Vlnodkumi;r Menon 

WhO!~ rw,e Olrector 
DIN:03075345 

swapna Venguriekar 
Company Secretary 
Membersh!p No-.:Al2316 

Place: M.imbal 
Cate! Apr!! 30, 2024 

fltlsh.i:bhG.indhi 

Chfd fltiat1Cfal Officer 

DIN: 00089312 
Membership No,:142334 
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Press Release: 
 

IRB InvIT to distribute Rs. 116 Crs at Rs. 2.00 per unit for Q4FY24; 
Aggregate distribution for FY24 is Rs. 464 Crs, at Rs. 8.00 per unit 

 

• Cumulative Distribution since IPO crosses 65% to Rs.3,852 Crs 

• Q4 Toll Revenue grows 12.5% Y-o-Y 

• FY24 Toll Revenue growth is 10% Y-o-Y 

• Maiden distribution of dividend for FY24 is Rs.0.60 per unit 

• Electronic Toll Collection is now ~ 96%  

Mumbai, April 30, 2024: IRB InvIT Fund, India’s first listed Infrastructure Investment Trust, has declared the 

Distribution of Rs. 116 Crs translating into a payout of Rs. 2.00 per unit for Q4FY24. The per unit distribution for 

Q4FY24 includes Rs. 1.70 per unit as an Interest component and Rs. 0.30 per unit as Dividend.  
 

With this, the cumulative distribution for entire FY24 is Rs. 464 Crs, which is Rs. 8.00 per unit, which includes 

Rs.6.80 per unit as an interest component,  Rs.0.60 per unit as the return of capital and balance Rs.0.60 per unit 

as the Dividend.  
 

Till date, since the Trust’s IPO way back in year 2017, its cumulative distribution has reached Rs. 3,852 Crs, i.e., 

65% of the aggregate fund raised.  
 

The Board of IRB Infrastructure Pvt. Ltd., an Investment Manager to the IRB InvIT Fund, today announced the 

financial results of IRB InvIT Fund for the last quarter and entire FY24.  
 

While commenting on the occasion, the Spokesperson, IRB Infrastructure Pvt. Ltd. said, “Toll collection growth 

during the quarter under review and overall FY24 was good, despite some disturbance of short span was 

witnessed on one of the assets”. He added, “We expect to continue with this momentum in FY25”. 
 

The Trust has set May 07, 2024, as a record date for distribution and the same will be paid to the unit holders on 

or before  May 14, 2024.    
 

Highlights of the Trust’s Performance: 
 

Period  Q4 FY24 

(Rs. in Crs) 

Q4 FY23 

(Rs. in Crs) 

FY24 

(Rs. in Crs) 

FY23 

(Rs. in Crs) 

Gross Income 276 256 1,086 1,039 

EBITDA 234 203 886 828 

Distribution  116 116 464 467 

 

About IRB InvIT Fund: 
 

IRB InvIT Fund is the Trust settled by its Sponsor, IRB Infrastructure Developers Ltd and is registered under the 

SEBI’s Infrastructure Investment Trust Regulations 2014.  

mailto:info@irbinvit.co.in
http://www.irbinvit.co.in/
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The Trust, set up to own, operate and maintain portfolio of highway concessions, is managing 6 operational 

highway assets at present, which include five BOT assets and one HAM asset, with an aggregate value (net assets) 

of Rs. 8,000 Crores spread across the states of Maharashtra, Gujarat, Rajasthan, Karnataka, Tamil Nadu, and 

Punjab.  
 

The Weighted Average life of Assets under InvIT Portfolio is around 15 years.  
 

For further details, please write to: info@irbfl.co.in  OR kiwishka@conceptpr.in  

 

Disclaimer:  
Except for the historical information contained herein, statements in this communication and any subsequent discussions, 
which include words or phrases such as ‘will’, ‘aim’, ‘will likely result’, ‘would’, ‘believe’, ‘may’, ‘expect’, ‘will continue’, 
‘anticipate’, estimate’, ‘intend’, ‘plan’, ‘contemplate’, ‘seek to’, ‘future’, ‘objective’, ‘goal’, ‘likely’, ‘project’, ‘on-course’, ‘should’, 
‘potential’, ‘pipeline’, ‘guidance’, ‘will pursue’ ‘trend line’ and similar expressions or variations of such expressions may 
constitute ‘forward-looking statements’.  
 

The forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those suggested by the forward-looking statements.  
 

These risks and uncertainties include but are not limited to IRB Infrastructure Private Limited on behalf of IRB InvIT Fund and 
its SPVs ability to successfully implement its strategy, its growth and expansion plans, obtain regulatory approvals, provisioning 
policies, technological changes, investment and business income, cash flow projections, exposure to market risks as well as 
other risks. In addition, the consummation of the transactions described herein is subject to various conditions precedent. 
 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited on behalf of IRB InvIT Fund and its SPVs does not undertake any obligation to update 
forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date thereof.  
 

These materials are not a prospectus, a statement in lieu of a prospectus, an offering circular, an invitation or an advertisement 
or an offer document under SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, or any other applicable 
law in India. 

 

mailto:info@irbinvit.co.in
http://www.irbinvit.co.in/
mailto:info@irbfl.co.in
mailto:kiwishka@conceptpr.in
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